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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The historical trends and results reported in this annual report on Form 10-K should not be considered an indication of future performance. Further, statements contained in this annual report on Form 10-K that are not statements of historical fact, including those that refer to plans, assumptions and expectations for future periods, are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, each as amended. Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain, such as statements about the consummation of the proposed Merger (as defined under "Item 1. Business - Entry into Merger Agreement") and the anticipated benefits thereof. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements that can be identified by the use of words such as 'expects,' 'projects,' 'anticipates,' 'assumes,' 'forecasts,' 'plans,' 'believes,' 'intends,' 'estimates,' 'pursues,' 'scheduled,' 'continues,' 'outlook,' 'may,' 'will,' 'can,' 'should' and variations of such words and similar expressions. Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements we make regarding the Company's plans, assumptions, expectations, beliefs and objectives with respect to the proposed Merger; store openings and closings; store productivity; the renovation of the Company's New York Flagship store, including the timing and cost thereof, and the temporary relocation of its retail operations to 6 East 57th Street; product introductions; sales; sales growth; sales trends; store traffic; the Company's strategy and initiatives and the pace of execution thereon; the amount and timing of investment spending; the Company's objectives to compete in the global luxury market and to improve financial performance; retail prices; gross margin; operating margin; expenses; interest expense and financing costs; effective income tax rate; the nature, amount or scope of charges resulting from recent revisions to the U.S. tax code; net earnings and net earnings per share; share count; inventories; capital expenditures; cash flow; liquidity; currency translation; macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions; growth opportunities; litigation outcomes and recovery related thereto; amounts recovered under Company insurance policies; contributions to Company pension plans; and certain ongoing or planned real estate, product, marketing, retail, customer experience, manufacturing, supply chain, information systems development, upgrades and replacement, and other operational initiatives and strategic priorities.

These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future results and are based upon the current views, assumptions and plans of management, and speak only as of the date on which they are made and are subject to a number of factors, risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control. You should not place undue reliance on such statements. Actual results could therefore differ materially from the planned, assumed or expected results expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements. While we cannot predict all of the factors that could form the basis of such differences, key factors, risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: the recent outbreak of the novel coronavirus, and changes in financial, business, travel and tourism, political, public health and other conditions, circumstances, requirements and practices resulting therefrom; global macroeconomic and geopolitical developments; changes in interest and foreign currency rates; changes in taxation policies and regulations (including changes effected by the recent revisions to the U.S. tax code) or changes in the guidance related to, or interpretation of, such policies and regulations; shifting tourism trends; regional instability; violence (including terrorist activities); political activities or events (including the potential for rapid and unexpected changes in government, economic and political policies, the imposition of additional duties, tariffs, taxes and other charges or other barriers to trade, including as a result of changes in diplomatic and trade relations or agreements with other countries); weather conditions that may affect local and tourist consumer spending; changes in consumer confidence, preferences and shopping patterns, as well as our ability to accurately predict and timely respond to such changes; shifts in the Company's product and geographic sales mix; variations in the cost and availability of diamonds, gemstones and precious metals; adverse publicity regarding the Company and its products, the Company's third-party vendors or the diamond or jewelry industry more generally; any non-compliance by third-party vendors and suppliers with the Company's sourcing and quality standards, codes of conduct, or contractual requirements as well as applicable laws and regulations; changes in our competitive landscape; disruptions impacting the Company's business and operations; failure to successfully implement or make changes to the Company's information systems; changes in the cost and timing estimates associated with the renovation of the Company's New York Flagship store; delays caused by third parties involved in the aforementioned renovation; any casualty, damage or destruction to the Company's New York Flagship store or 6 East 57th Street location; the Company's ability to successfully control costs and execute on, and achieve the expected benefits from, the operational initiatives and strategic priorities referenced above; conditions to the completion of the proposed Merger may not be satisfied or the regulatory approvals required for the proposed Merger may not be obtained, in each case, on the terms expected or on the anticipated schedule which contemplates closing of the acquisition in the middle of 2020; the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstance that could give rise to the termination of the Merger Agreement (as defined under "Item 1. Business – Entry into Merger Agreement") or affect the ability of the parties to recognize the benefits
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of the proposed Merger; the effect of the announcement or pendency of the proposed Merger on the Company's business relationships, operating results and business generally; risks that the proposed Merger disrupts the Company's current plans and operations and potential difficulties in the Company's employee retention as a result of the proposed Merger; potential litigation that may be instituted against the Company or its directors or officers related to the proposed Merger or the Merger Agreement and any adverse outcome of any such litigation; the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and other charges related to the proposed Merger, including in the event of any unexpected delays; other risks to consummation of the proposed Merger, including the risk that the proposed Merger will not be consummated within the expected time period, or at all, which may affect the Company's business and the price of the common stock of the Registrant; and any adverse effects on the Company by other general industry, economic, business and/or competitive factors. Consequences of material differences in results as compared with those anticipated in the forward-looking statements could include, among other things, business disruption, operational problems, financial loss, legal liability to third parties and similar risks. Developments relating to these and other factors may also warrant changes to the Company's operating and strategic plans, including with respect to store openings, closings and renovations, capital expenditures, information systems development, inventory management, and continuing execution on, or timing of, the aforementioned initiatives and priorities. Such consequences and changes could also cause actual results to differ materially from the expected results expressed in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements.

Additional information about potential risks and uncertainties that could affect the Company's business and financial results is included under "Item 1A. Risk Factors" and "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2020, the definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A that the Company filed on January 6, 2020, and in the Company's other filings made with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") from time to time, which are available via the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. Readers of this Annual Report on Form 10-K should consider the risks, uncertainties and factors outlined above and in this Form 10-K in evaluating, and are cautioned not to place undue reliance on, the forward-looking statements contained herein. The Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances, except as required by applicable law or regulation.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

GENERAL HISTORY AND NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Tiffany & Co. (the "Registrant") is a holding company that operates through Tiffany and Company ("Tiffany") and the Registrant's other subsidiary companies (collectively, the "Company"). Charles Lewis Tiffany founded Tiffany's business in 1837. He incorporated Tiffany in New York in 1868. The Registrant acquired Tiffany in 1984 and completed the initial public offering of the Registrant's Common Stock in 1987. The Registrant, through its subsidiaries, sells jewelry and other items that it manufactures or has made by others to its specifications.

All references to years relate to fiscal years that end on January 31 of the following calendar year.

ENTRY INTO MERGER AGREEMENT

On November 24, 2019, the Registrant entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") by and among the Registrant, LVMH Moët Hennessy – Louis Vuitton SE, a societas Europaea (European company) organized under the laws of France ("Parent"), Breakfast Holdings Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Holding"), and Breakfast Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Holding ("Merger Sub"). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will be merged with and into the Registrant (the "Merger"), with the Registrant continuing as the surviving company in the Merger and a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Parent.

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger (the "Effective Time"), each share of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than shares of Common Stock owned by the Registrant, Parent or any of their respective wholly owned subsidiaries, and shares of Common Stock owned by stockholders of the Registrant who have properly demanded and not withdrawn a demand for appraisal rights under Delaware law) will be converted into the right to receive $135.00 in cash, without interest and less any required tax withholding.

The consummation of the proposed Merger is subject to various conditions, including, among others, customary conditions relating to (a) the adoption of the Merger Agreement by holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Registrant's Common Stock entitled to vote on such matter at the meeting of stockholders of the Registrant (the "Special Meeting") held to vote on the adoption of the Merger Agreement and (b) the expiration or earlier termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 (as amended, and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, collectively, the "HSR Act"). As previously announced, on February 3, 2020, the waiting period under the HSR Act in connection with the proposed Merger expired, and on February 4, 2020, the Company held the Special Meeting, at which the holders of shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding as of the close of business on the record date for the Special Meeting considered and voted to approve (i) the adoption of the Merger Agreement and (ii) by non-binding, advisory vote, certain compensation arrangements for the Company's named executive officers in connection with the proposed Merger. The proposed Merger remains subject to satisfaction or waiver of the remaining customary closing conditions, including, among others, (A) certain non-U.S. regulatory approvals, (B) clearance by the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States ("CFIUS"), (C) the absence of a law or order in effect that enjoins, prevents or otherwise prohibits the consummation of the proposed Merger or any other transactions contemplated under the Merger Agreement issued by a governmental entity; (D) the absence of any legal proceeding seeking to enjoin, prevent or otherwise prohibit the consummation of the proposed Merger or any other transactions contemplated under the Merger Agreement instituted by a governmental entity of competent jurisdiction; and (E) the absence of a Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the Merger Agreement). The obligation of each party to consummate the proposed Merger is also conditioned on the accuracy of the other party's representations and warranties (subject to certain materiality exceptions) and the other party's compliance, in all material respects, with its covenants and agreements under the Merger Agreement.

The Merger Agreement provides for certain customary termination rights of the Registrant and Parent, including the right of either party to terminate the Merger Agreement if the Merger is not completed on or before August 24, 2020 (the "Outside Date"), provided that the Outside Date may be extended up to an additional 90 days by either party if all conditions are satisfied other than the receipt of regulatory approvals and CFIUS clearance or absence of legal
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restraints. The Merger Agreement also provides that the Registrant will be required to pay Parent a termination fee of $575.0 million in certain circumstances.

For additional information related to the Merger Agreement, please refer to the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (the "Definitive Proxy Statement") filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on January 6, 2020.

MAINTENANCE OF THE TIFFANY & CO. BRAND

The TIFFANY & CO. brand (the "Brand") is the single most important asset of Tiffany and, indirectly, of the Company. The strength of the Brand goes beyond trademark rights (see "TRADEMARKS" below) and is derived from consumer perceptions of the Brand. Management monitors the strength of the Brand through focus groups and survey research.

Management believes that consumers associate the Brand with high-quality gemstone jewelry, particularly diamond jewelry; sophisticated style and romance; excellent customer service; an elegant store and online environment; upscale store locations; "classic" product positioning; and distinctive and high-quality packaging materials (most significantly, the TIFFANY & CO. blue box). Tiffany's business plan includes expenses to maintain the strength of the Brand, such as the following:

· Maintaining its position within the high-end of the jewelry market requires Tiffany to invest significantly in diamond and gemstone inventory, as well as platinum and gold, which carry a lower overall gross margin; it also causes some consumers to view Tiffany as beyond their price range;

· To provide excellent service, stores must be well staffed with knowledgeable professionals;

· Elegant stores in the best "high street" and luxury mall locations are more expensive and difficult to secure and maintain, but reinforce the Brand's luxury connotations through association with other luxury brands;

· While the "classic" positioning of much of Tiffany's product line supports the Brand and requires sufficient display space in its stores, management's strategic priorities also include the accelerated introduction of new design collections primarily in jewelry, but also in non-jewelry products, which could result in a necessary reallocation of product display space;

· Tiffany's packaging supports consumer expectations with respect to the Brand but is expensive; and

· A significant amount of marketing across print, digital and social media, as well as public relations events are required to both reinforce the Brand's association with luxury, sophistication, style and romance, as well as to market specific products.

All of the foregoing require that management make tradeoffs between business initiatives that might generate incremental sales and earnings and Brand maintenance objectives. This is a dynamic process. To the extent that management deems that product, marketing or distribution initiatives will unduly and negatively affect the strength of the Brand, such initiatives have been and will be curtailed or modified appropriately. At the same time, Brand maintenance suppositions are regularly questioned by management to determine if any tradeoff between sales and earnings is truly worth the positive effect on the Brand. At times, management has determined, and may in the future determine, that the strength of the Brand warranted, or that it will permit, more aggressive and profitable product, marketing or distribution initiatives.

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

The Company has four reportable segments: (i) Americas, (ii) Asia-Pacific, (iii) Japan and (iv) Europe. All non-reportable segments are

included within Other. The Company transacts business within certain of its segments through the following channels: (i) retail, (ii) Internet,

(iii) catalog, (iv) business-to-business (products drawn from the retail product line and items specially developed for the business market) and

(v) wholesale distribution (merchandise sold to independent distributors for resale). The Company's segment information for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 is reported in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note Q. Segment Information."
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Americas

Sales in the Americas represented 43% of worldwide net sales in 2019, while sales in the United States ("U.S.") represented 86% of net sales in the Americas. Sales are transacted through the following channels: retail (in the U.S., Canada and Latin America), Internet and catalog (in the U.S. and Canada), business-to-business (in the U.S.) and wholesale distribution (in Latin America and the Caribbean).

Retail sales in the Americas are transacted in 124 Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores in (number of stores at January 31, 2020 included in parentheses): the U.S. (94), Canada (13), Mexico (10), Brazil (6) and Chile (1). Included within these totals are 14 Company-operated stores located within various department stores in Canada and Mexico. Included in the U.S. retail stores is the New York Flagship store, which represented less than 10% of worldwide net sales in 2019.

Asia-Pacific

Sales in Asia-Pacific represented 28% of worldwide net sales in 2019, while sales in Greater China represented approximately 60% of net sales in Asia-Pacific. Sales are transacted through the following channels: retail, Internet (in Australia and China), business-to-business (in China) and wholesale distribution.

Retail sales in Asia-Pacific are transacted in 91 Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores in (number of stores at January 31, 2020 included in parentheses): China (34), Korea (15), Australia (11), Hong Kong (10), Taiwan (7), Singapore (5), Macau (4), Malaysia (2), Thailand (2) and New Zealand (1). Included within these totals are 35 Company-operated stores located within various department stores.

Japan

Sales in Japan represented 15% of worldwide net sales in 2019. Sales are transacted through the following channels: retail, Internet, business-to-business and wholesale distribution.

Retail sales in Japan are transacted in 58 Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores. Included within this total are 53 stores located within department stores, generating approximately 75% of net sales in Japan. There are four large department store groups in Japan. The Company operates TIFFANY & CO. stores in locations controlled by these groups as follows (number of locations at January 31, 2020 included in parentheses): Isetan Mitsukoshi Ltd. (14), Takashimaya Co., Ltd. (9), J. Front Retailing Co., Ltd. (Daimaru and Matsuzakaya department stores) (8) and Seven & i Holding Co., Ltd. (Sogo and Seibu department stores) (4). The Company also operates 18 stores in other department stores.

Europe

Sales in Europe represented 11% of worldwide net sales in 2019, while sales in the United Kingdom ("U.K.") represented approximately 40% of net sales in Europe. Sales are transacted through the following channels: retail, Internet and wholesale distribution.

Retail sales in Europe are transacted in 48 Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores in (number of stores at January 31, 2020 included in parentheses): the U.K. (12), Italy (9), Germany (7), France (5), Spain (3), Switzerland (3), the Netherlands (2), Russia (2), Austria (1), Belgium (1), the Czech Republic (1), Denmark (1) and Ireland (1). Included within these totals are 11 Company-operated stores located within various department stores. The Company currently operates e-commerce enabled websites within the following countries: U.K., Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands and Spain.

Other

Other consists of all non-reportable segments, including: (i) retail sales transacted in five Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores in the United Arab Emirates ("U.A.E.") and wholesale distribution in the Emerging Markets region; (ii) wholesale sales of diamonds (see "PRODUCT SUPPLY CHAIN – Supply of Diamonds" below); and (iii) licensing agreements.
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Licensing Agreements. The Company receives earnings from a licensing agreement with Luxottica Group S.p.A., for the development, production and distribution of TIFFANY & CO. brand eyewear, and from a licensing agreement with Coty Inc., for the development, production and distribution of TIFFANY & CO. brand fragrance products. The earnings received from these licensing agreements represented less than 1% of worldwide net sales in 2019.

Retail Distribution Base

Management regularly evaluates opportunities to optimize its retail store base. This includes evaluating potential markets for new TIFFANY & CO. stores, as well as the renovation, relocation, or closure of existing stores. Considerations include the characteristics of the markets to be served, consumer demand and the proximity of other luxury brands and existing TIFFANY & CO. locations. Management recognizes that over-saturation of any market could diminish the distinctive appeal of the Brand, but believes that there are a number of opportunities remaining in new and existing markets that will meet the requirements for a TIFFANY & CO. location in the future.

The following chart details the number of TIFFANY & CO. retail locations operated by the Company since 2015:

	
	
	Americas
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Canada &
	
	
	
	Emerging
	

	Year:
	U.S.
	Latin America
	Asia-Pacific
	Japan
	Europe
	Markets
	Total

	2015
	95
	29
	81
	56
	41
	5
	307

	2016
	95
	30
	85
	55
	43
	5
	313

	2017
	94
	30
	87
	54
	46
	4
	315

	2018
	93
	31
	90
	55
	47
	5
	321

	2019
	94
	30
	91
	58
	48
	5
	326



E-Commerce, Catalog and Phone Orders

The Company currently operates e-commerce enabled websites in 14 countries, as well as informational websites in several additional countries. To a lesser extent, sales are also generated through catalogs that the Company distributes in certain countries as well as orders placed via telephone in certain markets. Sales transacted on those websites, through catalogs or via telephone accounted for 7% of worldwide net sales in 2019, 2018 and 2017. Management believes that its websites serve an important marketing role in building brand awareness and attracting customers to the Company's stores. In addition, the Company offers a select assortment of its products through third party websites.

Products

The Company's principal product category is jewelry, which represented 92%, 92% and 91% of worldwide net sales in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Company offers an extensive selection of TIFFANY & CO. brand jewelry at a wide range of prices. Designs are developed by employees, suppliers, independent designers and independent "named" designers (see "MATERIAL DESIGNER LICENSE" below).

The Company also sells watches, home and accessories products and fragrances, which represented, in total, 6%, 7% and 7% of worldwide net sales in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The remainder of worldwide net sales was attributable to wholesale sales of diamonds and earnings from third-party licensing agreements.
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	Sales by Reportable Segment of TIFFANY & CO. Jewelry by Category
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	% of total

	
	
	% of total
	% of total
	% of total
	% of total
	Reportable

	
	
	Americas
	Asia-Pacific
	Japan
	Europe
	Segment

	2019
	
	Sales
	Sales
	Sales
	Sales
	Sales

	Jewelry collections a
	55%
	63%
	38%
	60%
	55%

	Engagement jewelry b
	21%
	29%
	38%
	24%
	26%

	Designer jewelry c
	14%
	6%
	17%
	12%
	12%

	2018
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Jewelry collections a
	53%
	61%
	37%
	60%
	54%

	Engagement jewelry b
	21%
	31%
	37%
	23%
	26%

	Designer jewelry c
	14%
	7%
	18%
	12%
	12%

	2017
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Jewelry collections a
	53%
	59%
	30%
	60%
	52%

	Engagement jewelry b
	22%
	31%
	39%
	25%
	27%

	Designer jewelry c
	14%
	8%
	22%
	12%
	13%



a) This category includes jewelry in a wide range of prices within the Company's high jewelry and named jewelry collections such as Tiffany Paper Flowers®, Tiffany Victoria®, Tiffany Soleste®, Tiffany Keys, Tiffany T, Tiffany HardWear and Return to Tiffany®, among others. Jewelry in this category is primarily crafted using precious metals (platinum, gold or sterling silver) and may contain diamonds and/or other gemstones.

b) This category includes engagement rings and wedding bands. Most jewelry in this category contains diamonds and is constructed of platinum and/or gold.

c) This category includes only jewelry that is attributed to one of the Company's "named" designers: Elsa Peretti (see "MATERIAL DESIGNER LICENSE" below), Paloma Picasso and Jean Schlumberger. Jewelry in this category is primarily crafted using precious metals (platinum, gold or sterling silver) and may contain diamonds and/or other gemstones.

ADVERTISING, MARKETING, PUBLIC AND MEDIA RELATIONS

The Company's strategy is to invest in marketing and public relations programs designed to build awareness of the Brand, its heritage and its products, as well as to enhance the Brand's relevance and association among consumers with quality and luxury. The Company regularly advertises in newspapers and magazines, as well as through digital and social media. Public and media relations activities are also significant to the Company's business. The Company engages in a program of media activities and marketing events to maintain consumer awareness of the Brand and TIFFANY & CO. products. It also publishes its well-known Blue Book to showcase its high-end jewelry. In 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company spent $378.8 million, $394.1 million and $314.9 million, representing 8.6%, 8.9% and 7.6% of worldwide net sales in those respective years, on advertising, marketing and public and media relations, which include costs for media, production, catalogs, Internet, visual merchandising (in-store and window displays), marketing events and other related items.

In addition, management believes that the Brand is enhanced by philanthropic efforts, including charitable sponsorships and monetary and merchandise donations. The Company also periodically makes donations to The Tiffany & Co. Foundation, a private foundation established to support nonprofit organizations. The philanthropic efforts of this Foundation are primarily focused on environmental conservation.
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TRADEMARKS

The designations TIFFANY ® and TIFFANY & CO.® are the principal trademarks of Tiffany, and also serve as tradenames. Tiffany has obtained and is the proprietor of trademark registrations for TIFFANY and TIFFANY & CO., as well as the TIFFANY BLUE BOX ®, the TIFFANY BLUE BOX design, TIFFANY BLUE ® and the color Tiffany Blue for a variety of product categories and services in the U.S. and in other countries.

Tiffany maintains a program to protect its trademarks and institutes legal action where necessary to prevent others either from registering or using marks which are considered to create a likelihood of confusion with the Company or its products.

Tiffany has been generally successful in such actions and management considers that the Company's worldwide rights in its principal trademarks, TIFFANY and TIFFANY & CO., are strong. However, use of the designation TIFFANY by third parties on related or unrelated goods or services, frequently transient in nature, may not come to the attention of Tiffany or may not rise to a level of concern warranting legal action.

Tiffany actively pursues those who produce or sell counterfeit TIFFANY & CO. goods through civil action and cooperation with criminal law enforcement agencies. However, counterfeit TIFFANY & CO. goods remain available in many markets because it is not possible or cost-effective to eradicate the problem. The cost of enforcement is expected to continue to rise. In recent years, there has been an increase in the availability of counterfeit goods, predominantly silver jewelry, on the Internet and in various markets by street vendors and small retailers. Tiffany pursues infringers through leads generated internally and through a network of investigators, legal counsel, law enforcement and customs authorities worldwide. The Company responds to such infringing activity by taking various actions, including sending cease and desist letters, cooperating with law enforcement in criminal prosecutions, initiating civil proceedings and participating in joint actions and anti-counterfeiting programs with other like-minded third party rights holders.

Despite the general fame of the TIFFANY and TIFFANY & CO. name and mark for the Company's products and services, Tiffany is not the sole person entitled to use the name TIFFANY in every category of use in every country of the world; for example, in some countries, third parties have registered the name TIFFANY in connection with certain product categories (including, in the U.S., the category of bedding and, in certain foreign countries, the categories of food, cosmetics, clothing, paper goods and tobacco products) under circumstances where Tiffany's rights were not sufficiently clear under local law, and/or where management concluded that Tiffany's foreseeable business interests did not warrant the expense of legal action.

MATERIAL DESIGNER LICENSE

Since 1974, Tiffany has been the sole licensee for the intellectual property rights necessary to make and sell jewelry and other products designed by Elsa Peretti and bearing her trademarks. The designs of Ms. Peretti accounted for 7%, 8% and 9% of the Company's worldwide net sales in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Tiffany is party to an Amended and Restated Agreement (the "Peretti Agreement") with Ms. Peretti, which largely reflects the long-standing rights and marketing and royalty obligations of the parties. Pursuant to the Peretti Agreement, Ms. Peretti grants Tiffany an exclusive license, in all of the countries in which Peretti-designed jewelry and products are currently sold, to make, have made, advertise and sell these items. Ms. Peretti continues to retain ownership of the copyrights for her designs and her trademarks and remains entitled to exercise approval and consultation rights with respect to important aspects of the promotion, display, manufacture and merchandising of the products made in accordance with her designs. Under and in accordance with the terms set forth in the Peretti Agreement, Tiffany is required to display the licensed products in stores, to devote a portion of its advertising budget to the promotion of the licensed products, to pay royalties to Ms. Peretti for the licensed products sold, to maintain total on-hand and on-order inventory of non-jewelry licensed products (such as tabletop products) at approximately $8.0 million and to take certain actions to protect Ms. Peretti's intellectual property, including to maintain trademark registrations reasonably necessary to sell the licensed products in the markets in which the licensed products are sold by Tiffany.

The Peretti Agreement has a term that expires in 2032 and is binding upon Ms. Peretti, her heirs, estate, trustees and permitted assignees. During the term of the Peretti Agreement, Ms. Peretti may not sell, lease or otherwise dispose of her copyrights and trademarks unless the acquiring party expressly agrees with Tiffany to be bound by the
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provisions of the Peretti Agreement. The Peretti Agreement is terminable by Ms. Peretti in the event of a material breach by Tiffany (subject to a cure period) or upon a change of control of Tiffany or the Company. It is terminable by Tiffany only in the event of a material breach by Ms. Peretti or following an attempt by Ms. Peretti to revoke the exclusive license (subject, in each case, to a cure period).

PRODUCT SUPPLY CHAIN

The Company's strategic priorities include maintaining substantial control over its product supply chain through internal jewelry manufacturing and direct diamond sourcing. The Company manufactures jewelry in New York, Rhode Island and Kentucky, polishes and performs certain assembly work on jewelry in the Dominican Republic and crafts silver hollowware in Rhode Island. In total, these internal manufacturing facilities produce approximately 60% of the jewelry sold by the Company. The balance, and almost all non-jewelry items, is purchased from third parties. The Company may increase the percentage of internally-manufactured jewelry in the future, but management does not expect that the Company will ever manufacture all of its needs. Factors considered by management in its decision to use third-party manufacturers include access to or mastery of various product-making skills and technology, support for alternative capacity, product cost and the cost of capital investments. To supply its internal manufacturing facilities, the Company processes, cuts and polishes rough diamonds at its facilities outside the U.S. and sources precious metals, rough diamonds, polished diamonds and other gemstones, as well as certain fabricated components, from third parties.

Supply of Diamonds. The Company regularly purchases parcels of rough diamonds for polishing and further processing. The vast majority of diamonds acquired by the Company originate from Botswana, Canada, Namibia, Russia and South Africa. The Company has diamond processing operations in Belgium, Botswana, Cambodia, Mauritius and Vietnam that prepare and/or cut and polish rough diamonds for its use. The Company conducts operations in Botswana through a subsidiary in which local third parties own minority, non-controlling interests, allowing the Company to access rough diamond allocations reserved for local manufacturers. The Company maintains a relationship and has an arrangement with these local third parties; however, if circumstances warrant, the Company could seek to replace its existing local partners or operate without local partners.

The Company secures supplies of rough diamonds primarily through arrangements with diamond producers and, to a lesser extent, on the secondary market. Most of this supply comes from arrangements in which the Company accesses rough diamonds that are offered for sale (including as a sightholder), although with no contractual purchase obligation for such rough diamonds. A smaller portion of rough diamond purchases is made through agreements in which the Company is required to purchase a minimum volume of rough diamonds (anticipated to be approximately $30.0 million in 2020). All such supply arrangements are generally at the market price prevailing at the time of purchase.

As a result of the manner in which rough diamonds are typically assorted for sale, it is occasionally necessary for the Company to knowingly purchase, as part of a larger assortment, rough diamonds that do not meet the Company's quality standards or assortment needs. The Company seeks to recover its costs related to these diamonds by selling such diamonds to third parties (generally other diamond polishers), which has the effect of modestly reducing the Company's overall gross margins. Any such sales are included in the Other non-reportable segment.

In recent years, an average of approximately 75% (by volume) of the polished diamonds used in the Company's jewelry that are 0.18 carats and larger and individually registered ("individually registered diamonds") has been produced from rough diamonds that the Company has purchased. The balance of the Company's needs for individually registered diamonds is purchased from polishers or polished-diamond dealers generally through purchase orders for fixed quantities. The Company's relationships with polishers and polished-diamond dealers may be terminated at any time by either party, but such a termination would not discharge either party's obligations under unfulfilled purchase orders accepted prior to the termination. It is the Company's intention to continue to supply the substantial majority of its needs for individually registered diamonds, as well as a majority of its needs for melee diamonds of less than 0.18 carats used in the Company's jewelry, by purchasing rough diamonds.

Conflict Diamonds. Media attention has been drawn to the issue of "conflict" diamonds. This term is used to refer to diamonds extracted from war-torn geographic regions and sold by rebel forces to fund insurrection. Allegations have also been made that trading in such diamonds supports terrorist activities. Management believes that it is not possible in most purchasing scenarios to distinguish diamonds produced in conflict regions from diamonds produced in other regions once they have been polished. Therefore, concerned participants in the diamond trade, including the
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Company and nongovernment organizations, seek to exclude "conflict" diamonds, which represent a small fraction of the world's supply, from legitimate trade through an international system of certification and legislation known as the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme. All rough diamonds the Company buys, crossing an international border, must be accompanied by a Kimberley Process certificate and all trades of rough and polished diamonds must conform to a system of warranties that references the aforesaid scheme. It is not expected that such efforts will substantially affect the supply of diamonds. In addition, concerns over human rights abuses in Zimbabwe, Angola and the Democratic Republic of the Congo underscore that the aforementioned system has not deterred the production of diamonds in state-sanctioned mines under poor working conditions. The Company has informed its vendors that it does not intend to purchase Zimbabwean, Angolan or Congolese-produced diamonds. Accordingly, the Company has implemented the Diamond Source Warranty Protocol, which requires vendors to provide a warranty, and a qualified independent audit certificate, that loose polished diamonds were not obtained from Zimbabwean, Angolan or Congolese mines. As part of its diamond source initiative, the Company also requires its vendors to affirmatively state the region or country of origin of any polished diamonds sold to the Company that are 0.18 carats and larger and individually registered.

Worldwide Availability and Price of Diamonds. The availability and price of diamonds are dependent on a number of factors, including global consumer demand, the political situation in diamond-producing countries, the opening of new mines, the continuance of the prevailing supply and marketing arrangements for rough diamonds and levels of industry liquidity. In recent years, there has been substantial volatility in the prices of both rough and polished diamonds. Prices for rough diamonds do not necessarily reflect current demand for polished diamonds.

In addition, the supply and prices of rough and polished diamonds in the principal world markets have been and continue to be influenced by the Diamond Trading Company ("DTC"), an affiliate of the De Beers Group. Although the DTC's historical ability to control worldwide production has diminished due to its lower share of worldwide production and changing policies in diamond-producing countries, the DTC continues to supply a meaningful portion of the world market for rough, gem-quality diamonds and continues to impact diamond supply through its marketing and advertising initiatives. A significant portion of the diamonds that the Company purchased in 2019 had their source with the DTC.

Sustained interruption in the supply of diamonds, an overabundance of supply or a substantial change in the marketing arrangements described above could adversely affect the Company and the retail jewelry industry as a whole. Changes in the marketing and advertising spending of the DTC and its direct purchasers could affect consumer demand for diamonds.

The Company purchases conflict-free rough and polished diamonds, in highly graded color and clarity ranges. Management does not foresee a shortage of diamonds in these quality ranges in the short term but believes that, unless new mines are developed, rising demand will eventually create such a shortage and lead to higher prices.

Synthetic and Treated Diamonds. Synthetic diamonds (diamonds manufactured but not naturally occurring) and treated diamonds (naturally occurring diamonds subject to treatment processes, such as irradiation) are produced in growing quantities. Although significant questions remain as to the ability of producers to generate synthetic and/or treated diamonds economically within a full range of sizes and natural diamond colors, and as to consumer acceptance of these diamonds, such diamonds are becoming a larger factor in the market. Should synthetic and/or treated diamonds be offered in significant quantities, the supply of and prices for natural diamonds may be affected. The Company does not produce and does not intend to purchase or sell such diamonds.

Purchases of Precious Metals and Other Polished Gemstones. Precious metals and other polished gemstones used in making jewelry are purchased from a variety of sources for use in the Company's internal manufacturing operations and/or for use by third-party manufacturers contracted to supply Tiffany merchandise. The silver, gold and platinum sourced directly by the Company principally come from two sources:

(i) in-ground, large-scale deposits of metals, primarily in the U.S., that meet the Company's standards for responsible mining and (ii) metals from recycled sources. While the Company may supply precious metals to a manufacturer, it cannot determine, in all circumstances, whether the finished goods provided by such manufacturer were actually produced with Company-supplied precious metals.

The Company generally enters into purchase orders for fixed quantities with precious metals and other polished gemstone vendors. Purchases are generally made at prevailing market prices, which have, with respect to precious metals, experienced substantial volatility in recent years. These relationships may be terminated at any time by
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either party; such termination would not discharge either party's obligations under unfulfilled purchase orders accepted prior to the termination. The Company believes that there are numerous alternative sources for other polished gemstones and precious metals and that the loss of any single supplier would not have a material adverse effect on its operations.

Finished Jewelry. Finished jewelry is purchased from approximately 50 manufacturers. However, the Company does not enter into long-term supply arrangements with its finished goods vendors. The Company does enter into merchandise vendor agreements with nearly all of its finished goods vendors. The merchandise vendor agreements establish non-price terms by which the Company may purchase and by which vendors may sell finished goods to the Company. These terms include payment terms, shipping procedures, product quality requirements, merchandise specifications and vendor social responsibility requirements. The Company generally enters into purchase orders for fixed quantities of merchandise with its vendors. These relationships may be terminated at any time by either party; such termination would not discharge either party's obligations under unfulfilled purchase orders accepted prior to termination. The Company actively seeks alternative sources for its best-selling jewelry items to mitigate any potential disruptions in supply. However, due to the craftsmanship involved in a small number of designs, the Company may have difficulty finding readily available alternative suppliers for those jewelry designs in the short term.

Watches. The Company sells TIFFANY & CO. brand watches, which are designed, produced, marketed and distributed through certain of the Company's subsidiaries. The Company has relationships with approximately 30 component and subassembly vendors to manufacture watches. The terms of the Company's contractual relationships with these vendors are substantially similar to those described under "Finished Jewelry" above. Sales of these TIFFANY & CO. brand watches represented approximately 1% of worldwide net sales in 2019, 2018 and 2017.

COMPETITION

The global jewelry industry is competitively fragmented. The Company encounters significant competition in all product categories. Some competitors specialize in just one area in which the Company is active. Many competitors have established worldwide, national or local reputations for style, quality, expertise and customer service similar to the Company and compete on the basis of that reputation. Certain other jewelers and retailers compete primarily through advertised price promotion. The Company competes on the basis of the Brand's reputation for high-quality products, customer service and distinctive merchandise and does not engage in price promotional advertising.

Competition for engagement jewelry sales is particularly and increasingly intense. The Company's retail prices for diamond jewelry reflect the rarity of the stones it offers and the rigid parameters it exercises with respect to the cut, clarity and other diamond quality factors which increase the beauty of the diamonds, but which also increase the Company's cost. The Company competes in this market by emphasizing quality.

SEASONALITY

As a jeweler and specialty retailer, the Company's business is seasonal in nature, with the fourth quarter typically representing approximately one-third of annual net sales and a higher percentage of annual net earnings. Management expects such seasonality to continue.

EMPLOYEES

As of January 31, 2020, the Company employed an aggregate of approximately 14,100 full-time and part-time persons. Of those employees, approximately 5,500 are employed in the United States.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Company files annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy and information statements and amendments to reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a), 14 and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Copies of these reports and statements may be obtained, free of charge, on the Company's website at https://investor.tiffany.com/financial-information.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

As is the case for any retailer, the Company's success in achieving its objectives and expectations is dependent upon general economic conditions, competitive conditions and consumer attitudes. However, certain factors are specific to the Company and/or the markets in which it operates. The following "risk factors" are specific to the Company; these risk factors affect the likelihood that the Company will achieve the objectives and expectations communicated by management. The risk factors described below are not the only ones faced by the Company and additional risks and uncertainties not presently known or that are currently deemed immaterial also may impair the Company's business operations. Management's strategies are subject to the risks described herein and may be subject to other risks that have not yet been identified.

(i) The announcement and pendency of the proposed Merger may adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Uncertainty about the effect of the proposed Merger on the Company's employees, customers, and other parties may have an adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations regardless of whether the proposed Merger is completed. These risks to the Company's business include, among others, the following, all of which may be exacerbated by a delay in the completion of the proposed Merger: (i) the impairment of the Company's ability to attract, retain, and motivate its employees; (ii) the diversion of significant management time and attention from ongoing business operations towards the completion of the proposed Merger; (iii) difficulties maintaining relationships with customers, suppliers and other business partners; (iv) delays or deferments of certain business decisions by the Company's customers, suppliers and other business partners; (v) the inability to pursue alternative business opportunities or make appropriate changes to the Company's business because the Merger Agreement requires the Company to, subject to certain exceptions, including as required by a Governmental Entity or by applicable Law (in each case as defined in the Merger Agreement), conduct its business in the ordinary course of business and to not engage in certain kinds of transactions prior to the completion of the proposed Merger without the prior written consent of Parent (such consent not to be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed), even if such actions could prove beneficial; (vi) litigation relating to the proposed Merger and the costs related thereto; and (vii) the incurrence of significant costs, expenses and fees for professional services and other transaction costs in connection with the proposed Merger.

(ii) Failure to consummate the proposed Merger within the expected time frame or at all may have a material adverse impact on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

There can be no assurance that the proposed Merger will be consummated. The consummation of the proposed Merger is subject to various conditions, including, among others, customary conditions relating to (i) the receipt of certain non-U.S. regulatory approvals; (ii) clearance by the CFIUS; (iii) the absence of a law or order in effect that enjoins, prevents or otherwise prohibits the consummation of the proposed Merger or any other transactions contemplated under the Merger Agreement issued by a governmental entity; (iv) the absence of any legal proceeding seeking to enjoin, prevent or otherwise prohibit the consummation of the proposed Merger or any other transactions contemplated under the Merger Agreement instituted by a governmental entity of competent jurisdiction; and (v) the absence of a Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the Merger Agreement). There can be no assurance that these and other conditions to closing will be satisfied in a timely manner or at all.

In connection with the proposed Merger, the Registrant and its directors were named as defendants in four lawsuits brought by purported stockholders challenging the proposed Merger and seeking various forms of injunctive relief and money damages. While the plaintiffs of these lawsuits have voluntarily dismissed their claims, the Registrant may be subject to additional future litigation challenging the proposed Merger. If any future plaintiffs are successful in obtaining an injunction prohibiting the consummation of the proposed Merger, then such injunction may prevent the Merger from becoming effective within the expected time frame or at all, either of which could have a material adverse impact on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Merger Agreement also provides that the Merger Agreement may be terminated by the Company or Parent under certain circumstances, and in certain specified circumstances upon termination of the Merger Agreement, the Company will be required to pay Parent a termination fee of $575.0 million. Depending on the circumstances requiring the Company to make this payment, doing so may materially adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.
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There can be no assurance that an adequate remedy will be available to the Company in the event of a breach of the Merger Agreement by Parent or its affiliates or that the Company will, wholly or partially, recover for any damages incurred by it in connection with the proposed Merger. A failed transaction may result in negative publicity and a negative impression of the Company among its customers or in the investment community or business community generally. Further, any disruptions to the Company's business resulting from the announcement and pendency of the proposed Merger, including any adverse changes in the Company's relationships with its customers, partners, suppliers and employees, may continue or accelerate in the event of a failed transaction. In addition, if the proposed Merger is not completed, and there are no other parties willing and able to acquire the Company at a price of $135.00 per share or higher, on terms acceptable to the Company, the share price of the Company's Common Stock will likely decline to the extent that the current market price of the Company's Common Stock reflects an assumption that the proposed Merger will be completed. Also, the Company has incurred, and will continue to incur, significant costs, expenses, and fees for professional services and other transaction costs in connection with the proposed Merger, for which it will have received little or no benefit if the proposed Merger is not completed. Many of these fees and costs will be payable by the Company if the proposed Merger is not completed and may relate to activities that the Company would not have undertaken other than to complete the proposed Merger.

(iii) The recent outbreak of the novel coronavirus has had a significant effect on the Company's sales results to date in fiscal 2020, and could have a significant negative impact on the Company's business, revenues, financial condition and results of operations in that year.

An outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, was identified in Wuhan, China in December 2019 and was subsequently recognized as a pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 11, 2020. This coronavirus outbreak has severely restricted the level of economic activity around the world. In response to this coronavirus outbreak, the governments of many countries, states, cities and other geographic regions have taken preventative or protective actions, such as imposing restrictions on travel and business operations and advising or requiring individuals to limit or forego their time outside of their homes. Temporary closures of businesses have been ordered and numerous other businesses have temporarily closed voluntarily. Further, individuals' ability to travel has been curtailed through mandated travel restrictions and may be further limited through additional voluntary or mandated closures of travel-related businesses. These actions have expanded significantly in the past several weeks and are expected to continue to expand in scope, type and impact. For example, on March 15, 2020, following an unscheduled meeting of the Federal Open Market Committee, the United States Federal Reserve reduced the target range for the federal funds rate to 0 to 0.25 percent, down from a range of 1 to 1.25 percent, in connection with the coronavirus's impact on the United States' economy.

In recent weeks, this coronavirus outbreak and the related preventative and protective actions have impacted the Company's business globally, including through store closures, reductions in operating hours and/or decreased store traffic. For example, from January 24 through March 19, 2020, management estimates that this coronavirus outbreak contributed to the loss of approximately 30 out of 54 retail trading days (accounting for the effect of individual store closures as well as reductions in store operating hours) across all of the Company's stores in the Chinese Mainland. In addition, as of March 19, 2020, the Company has temporarily closed all of its stores in the United States and Canada, and has temporarily closed nearly all of its stores across Europe and the United Kingdom. The Company has also experienced significantly reduced customer traffic from January 24 through March 19 in its stores that have been open during such period, which management believes has resulted in part from a reduction in tourism as well as restrictions on travel and limitations affecting individuals' ability to spend time in public areas. All of the foregoing developments have had a significant effect on the Company's sales results to date in its fiscal year ending January 31, 2021 ("fiscal 2020") and are expected to continue to have a significant effect on its financial results. These developments and effects are expected to continue and may also significantly affect the Company's business in other geographic areas where this coronavirus has spread and may continue to spread.

The Company's business is particularly sensitive to reductions in discretionary consumer spending. The Company cannot predict the degree to, or the time period over, which its business will be affected by this coronavirus outbreak. For example, this coronavirus outbreak could continue to impede global economic activity, leading to a further decline in discretionary spending by local customers and tourists, and resulting in additional significant effects on the Company's business, revenues, financial condition and results of operations. There are numerous uncertainties associated with this coronavirus outbreak, including the number of individuals who will become infected, whether a vaccine or cure that mitigates the effect of the virus will be synthesized, and, if so, when such vaccine or cure will be ready to be used, the extent of the protective and preventative measures that have been put in place by both governmental entities and other businesses and those that may be put in place in the future,
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whether the virus's impact will be seasonal and numerous other uncertainties. The Company intends to continue to execute on its strategic plans and operational initiatives during the coronavirus outbreak. However, the aforementioned uncertainties may result in delays or modifications to these plans and initiatives.

This coronavirus outbreak has also impacted, and may continue to impact, the Company's office locations, manufacturing and servicing facilities and distribution centers, as well as those of its third party vendors, including through the effects of facility closures, reductions in operating hours, staggered shifts and other social distancing efforts, labor shortages, decreased productivity and unavailability of raw materials or components. For example, the Company has experienced reduced capacity in its manufacturing and servicing facilities in New York as a result of state-imposed temporary occupancy restrictions, as well as a government-mandated temporary closure of its diamond processing operation in Mauritius. This coronavirus outbreak may also impact distribution and logistics providers' ability to operate or increase their operating costs. These supply chain effects may negatively affect the Company's ability to meet consumer demand and may increase the Company's costs of production and distribution.

For the reasons set forth above and other reasons that may come to light if this coronavirus outbreak and any associated protective or preventative measures expand, as of the date hereof, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the impact to the Company's business, revenues, financial condition or results of operations; however, such impact could be significantly negative.

(iv) Challenging global economic conditions and related low levels of consumer confidence over a prolonged period of time could adversely affect the Company's sales and earnings.

As a retailer of goods which are discretionary purchases, the Company's sales results are particularly sensitive to changes in economic conditions and consumer confidence. Consumer confidence is affected by general business conditions; domestic and international political uncertainties and/or developments; changes in the market value of equity securities and real estate; inflation; interest rates and the availability of consumer credit; tax rates; and expectations of future economic conditions and employment prospects.

Consumer spending for discretionary goods generally declines during times of falling consumer confidence, which negatively affects the Company's sales and earnings.

Certain competitors may react to such conditions by reducing retail prices and promoting such reductions; such reductions and/or inventory liquidations can have a short-term adverse effect on the Company's sales, especially given the Company's policy of not engaging in price promotional activity.

The Company has invested in and operates a significant number of stores in Greater China and anticipates continuing to do so. Any slowdown in the Chinese economy could have a negative impact on the sales and profitability of stores in Greater China as well as stores in other markets that serve Chinese tourists.

Uncertainty surrounding the current global economic environment makes it more difficult for the Company to forecast operating results. The Company's forecasts employ the use of estimates and assumptions. Actual results could differ from forecasts, and those differences could be material.

(v) Sales may decline or remain flat in the Company's fourth fiscal quarter, which includes the Holiday selling season.

The Company's business is seasonal in nature, with the fourth quarter typically representing approximately one-third of annual net sales and a higher percentage of annual net earnings. Poor sales results during the fourth quarter would have an adverse effect on annual earnings and inventories in the short term.

(vi) The Company conducts operations globally, the risks of which could increase its costs, reduce its profits or disrupt its business.

The Company operates globally and generates a majority of its worldwide net sales outside the United States. It also has both U.S. and foreign manufacturing operations, and relies on certain U.S. and foreign third-party vendors and suppliers. As a result, the Company is subject to the risks of doing business globally, including:

· the laws, regulations and policies of governments relating to investments, loans and operations, the costs or desirability of complying with local practices and customs and the impact of various anti-corruption and other laws affecting the activities of U.S. companies abroad;
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· uncertainties from changes in U.S. or foreign taxation policies;

· compliance by third party vendors and suppliers with the Company's sourcing and quality standards, codes of conduct, or contractual requirements as well as applicable laws and regulations;

· import and export licensing requirements and regulations, as well as unforeseen changes in regulatory requirements;

· political or economic instability in foreign countries, including the potential for rapid and unexpected changes in government, economic and political policies, such as the U.K.'s recent exit from the European Union ("E.U."), as discussed below;

· political or civil unrest, including protests and other civil disruption, such as the ongoing business disruption in Hong Kong;

· acts of terrorism or the threat of international boycotts or U.S. anti-boycott legislation as a result of, for example, changes in government policies of foreign countries in response to actions taken by the U.S. government;

· the imposition of additional duties, tariffs, taxes and other charges or other barriers to trade, including as a result of changes in diplomatic and trade relations or agreements with other countries;

· challenges inherent in oversight of foreign operations, systems and controls;

· potential negative consequences from foreign governments' currency management practices;

· uncertainties as to enforcement of certain contract and other rights; and

· inventory risk exposures.

Changes in these regulatory, political, economic, or monetary policies and other factors could require the Company to significantly modify its current business practices and may adversely affect its future financial results. For example, the Company could be adversely impacted by U.S. trade policies, legislation, treaties and tariffs, including trade policies and tariffs affecting China and, the E.U., as well as retaliatory tariffs by such countries. Such tariffs and, if enacted, any further legislation or actions taken by the U.S. government that restrict trade, such as additional tariffs or trade barriers, and other protectionist or retaliatory measures taken by governments in Europe, Asia and elsewhere, could have a negative effect on the Company's ability to sell products in those markets.

Additionally, in June 2016, voters in the U.K. approved an advisory referendum to withdraw from the E.U., commonly referred to as "Brexit." On January 31, 2020, the U.K. officially terminated its membership in the E.U. pursuant to the terms of a withdrawal agreement concluded between the U.K. and E.U. Among other terms, the withdrawal agreement provides for a transition period through December 31, 2020, during which the U.K.'s existing trade relationship with the E.U. will remain in place and the U.K. will continue to follow the E.U.'s rules. Negotiations during the transition period to determine the U.K.'s future relationship with the E.U., including the terms of a future trade deal, are expected to be complex and it is not clear at this time what, if any, agreements will be reached by the current December 31, 2020 transition period deadline. Changes related to Brexit could significantly disrupt the free movement of goods, services, and people between the U.K. and the E.U., and result in potential higher costs of conducting business in Europe. Brexit could also lead to legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulations in the U.K. and the E.U. The Company may incur additional costs and expenses as it adapts to these potentially divergent regulatory frameworks, and may face additional complexity with regard to immigration and travel rights for its employees located in the U.K. and the E.U. There may also be similar referendums or votes in other European countries in which the Company does business. The U.K.'s withdrawal from the E.U. and the uncertainty surrounding the terms of this withdrawal, as well as the impact of any similar circumstances that may arise elsewhere in Europe, could increase the Company's costs and adversely impact consumer and investor confidence.

While these factors, and the effect thereof, are difficult to predict, any one or more of them could lower the Company's revenues, increase its costs, reduce its earnings or disrupt its business.
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(vii) Revisions to the U.S. tax code, including changes in the guidance related to, or interpretation and application of, such revisions could materially affect the Company's tax obligations, provision for income taxes and effective tax rate.

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. enacted comprehensive tax legislation, commonly referred to as the 2017 U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "2017 Tax Act"), which significantly affected U.S. tax law by changing how the U.S. imposes income tax on U.S. taxpayers. In particular, these changes impact the U.S. taxation of earnings in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates, the measurement of its deferred tax assets and liabilities and the tax impact in the event the Company were to repatriate the earnings of its non-U.S. subsidiaries to the U.S. The provisions of the 2017 Tax Act may be subject to further interpretation by the U.S. Treasury Department and the Internal Revenue Service, which have broad authority to issue regulations and interpretative guidance that may significantly impact how the Company will apply such provisions. Further regulatory or accounting guidance regarding the 2017 Tax Act could materially affect the Company's future financial results.

(viii) A strengthening of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies would negatively affect the Company's sales and profitability.

The Company operates retail stores in more than 20 markets outside of the U.S. and, as a result, is exposed to market risk from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, including, among others, the Japanese Yen, Euro, British Pound and Chinese Yuan. In 2019, sales in countries outside of the U.S. in aggregate represented a substantial portion of the Company's net sales and earnings from operations. A strengthening of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies would require the Company to raise its retail prices in various locations outside of the U.S. in order to maintain its worldwide relative pricing structure, or reduce its profit margins. Consumers in those markets may not accept significant price increases on the Company's goods; thus, there is a risk that a strengthening of the U.S. dollar would result in reduced sales and profitability. In addition, a weakening of any foreign currency relative to other currencies may negatively affect spending by foreign tourists in the various regions where the Company operates retail stores which would adversely affect its net sales and profitability.

The reported results of operations of the Company's international subsidiaries are exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations as the financial results of the applicable subsidiaries are translated from the local currency into U.S. dollars during the process of financial statement consolidation. If the U.S. dollar strengthens against foreign currencies, the translation of these foreign currency-denominated transactions would decrease consolidated net sales and profitability. See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for a discussion of such impacts.

(ix) Political activities, regional instability and/or conflict, public health crises or similar events could disrupt tourist travel and local consumer spending.

Regional and global conflicts or crises, such as military actions, terrorist activities and natural disasters, geopolitical or regulatory developments (and any related protests), public health crises and other similar events and conditions in the various regions and cities where the Company operates retail stores may negatively affect spending by both foreign tourists and local consumers. The Company's retail stores, many of which are located in major metropolitan areas globally, may in fact have close proximity to the locations of such events – for example, the Company's operations in Hong Kong have experienced significant business disruptions since the beginning of the protests in that market in 2019. The occurrence of the types of events or conditions described above, or the related effect of security measures implemented to address the possibility of such occurrences, could affect consumer traffic and/or spending in one or more of the Company's locations, which could adversely affect the Company's sales and earnings.

(x) Changes in the Company's product or geographic sales mix could affect the Company's profitability.

The Company sells an extensive selection of jewelry and other merchandise at a wide range of retail price points that yield different gross profit margins. Additionally, the Company's geographic regions achieve different operating profit margins due to a variety of factors including product mix, store size and occupancy costs, labor costs, retail pricing and fixed versus variable expenses. The increasing availability of, and ease of access to, retail price information across markets, primarily through the Internet, may affect consumers' decisions regarding in which geographies to shop. If the Company's sales mix were to shift toward products or geographic regions that are significantly different than the Company's plans, it could have an effect, either positively or negatively, on its expected profitability.
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(xi) Metrics the Company may report that are based on customer data it collects are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and inaccuracies in that data or the resulting metrics could lead to decisions that adversely impact the Company's business.

The Company regularly reviews customer sales and similar data to evaluate retail sales trends, measure its performance and make strategic decisions. The Company reviews its sales data attributed to local customers, which the Company defines as sales to customers who identify themselves as being residents of the same country as the retail store in which the applicable sale was completed, and sales attributed to foreign tourists, which the Company defines as sales to customers who identify themselves as being residents of a different country than the country of the retail store in which the applicable sale was completed, to evaluate growth and other sales trends within the Company's global customer base. These metrics are calculated using internal Company data that reflects residency information self-reported by its customers at the time of sale, or, for customers who do not self-report, that is based on certain pre-established default assumptions. While the Company believes this to be a reasonable method for collecting the applicable data, there are inherent challenges in collecting such data and measuring these aspects of its sales performance across its global customer population. For example, the default assumptions referred to above could result in a significant understatement or overstatement of sales attributed to local customers or foreign tourists. In addition, the collected data has not been validated by an independent third party, and the resulting metrics may differ from similar estimates published by third parties or from similarly titled metrics of other retailers.

Errors or inaccuracies in the Company's data or metrics could result in incomplete or inaccurate internal analyses, which may compromise the validity and reliability of conclusions the Company draws from such analyses and may further result in ineffective decision-making. For instance, such inaccuracies could result in an overstatement of sales to foreign tourists, which could lead the Company to allocate sales and marketing resources in a manner that would not result in optimal retail sales performance. If these metrics or the underlying data are used to inform management's strategies or initiatives, but reflect material errors or inaccuracies, the Company's business may be negatively affected.

(xii) Increases in costs of diamonds, other gemstones and precious metals or reduced supply availability may adversely affect the Company's ability to produce and sell products at desired profit margins.

Most of the Company's jewelry offerings are made with diamonds, other gemstones and/or precious metals. A significant increase in the costs or change in the supply of these commodities could adversely affect the Company's business, which is vulnerable to the risks inherent in the trade for such commodities. A substantial increase or decrease in the cost or supply of precious metals, high-quality rough and polished diamonds (within the quality grades, colors and sizes that customers demand) and/or other gemstones could affect, negatively or positively, customer demand, sales and gross profit margins. Additionally, should synthetic diamonds (diamonds manufactured but not naturally occurring) and/or treated diamonds (naturally occurring diamonds subject to treatment processes, such as irradiation) be offered in significant quantities and gain consumer acceptance, the supply of, demand for and prices for natural diamonds may be affected.

(xiii) The Company may be unable to secure and retain sufficient space for its retail stores in prime locations, and maintaining the Company's brand image and desirability to consumers requires significant investment in store construction, maintenance and periodic renovation.

The Company, positioned as a luxury goods retailer, has established its retail presence in choice store locations. Management regularly evaluates opportunities to optimize its retail store base, including potential markets for new TIFFANY & CO. stores, as well as the renovation and relocation of its existing stores. Maintaining the Company's brand image and desirability to consumers requires that stores be constructed and maintained in a manner consistent with that brand image. This requires significant capital investment, including for periodic renovations of existing stores. Renovations of existing stores may also result in temporary disruptions to an individual store's business. If the Company cannot secure and retain store locations on suitable terms in prime and desired luxury shopping locations, or if its investments to construct and/or renovate existing stores do not generate sufficient incremental sales and/or profitability or significantly disrupt sales and/or profitability during renovations, the Company's sales and/or earnings performance could be jeopardized.

For example, in 2018, the Company announced its plans to undertake a complete renovation of the New York Flagship store. The New York Flagship store closed in January 2020, at which time the Company began its complete renovation and temporarily moved its operations to the "Tiffany Flagship Next Door" at 6 East 57th Street. This
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renovation is expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2021. The full renovation project will require significant capital investment and may result in business and/or consumer traffic disruptions. Significant delays or cost overruns are also possible during the construction period, which could significantly increase the cost of this renovation project and adversely impact the Company's future financial results. There can be no assurance that the results of this renovation project will appeal to the Company's customers or will increase the Company's sales or profitability.

(xiv) The value of the TIFFANY & CO. and TIFFANY trademarks could decline due to third-party use and infringement.

The TIFFANY & CO. and TIFFANY trademarks are assets that are essential to the competitiveness and success of the Company's business, and the Company takes appropriate action to protect them. The Company actively pursues those who produce or sell counterfeit TIFFANY & CO. goods through civil action and cooperation with criminal law enforcement agencies. However, use of the designation TIFFANY by third parties on related goods or services and the Company's failure or inability to protect against such use could adversely affect and dilute the value of the

TIFFANY & CO. brand.

Notwithstanding the general success of the Company's enforcement actions, such actions have not stopped the imitation and counterfeiting of the Company's merchandise or the infringement of the trademark, and counterfeit TIFFANY & CO. goods remain available in most markets. In recent years, there has been an increase in the availability of counterfeit goods, predominantly silver jewelry, on the Internet and in various markets by street vendors and small retailers. The continued sale of counterfeit merchandise or merchandise that infringes the Company's trademarks could have an adverse effect on the TIFFANY & CO. brand by undermining the Company's reputation for quality goods and making such goods appear less desirable to consumers of luxury goods. Damage to the TIFFANY & CO. brand could result in lost sales and earnings.

(xv) The Company's business is dependent upon the distinctive appeal of the TIFFANY & CO. brand.

The TIFFANY & CO. brand's association with quality and luxury is integral to the success of the Company's business. The Company's expansion plans for retail, e-commerce and other direct selling operations and merchandise development, production and management support the appeal of the TIFFANY & CO. brand. Consequently, poor maintenance, promotion and positioning of the TIFFANY & CO. brand, as well as market over-saturation, may adversely affect the business by diminishing the distinctive appeal of the TIFFANY & CO. brand and tarnishing its image. This could result in lower sales and earnings.

In addition, adverse publicity regarding TIFFANY & CO. and its products, as well as adverse publicity in respect of, or resulting from, the Company's third-party vendors or the diamond or jewelry industries more generally, could adversely affect the Company's business. For example, the Company sources from third-party vendors certain products that, from time to time, may not, or may contain raw materials that do not, meet the Company's sourcing and quality standards as well as applicable requirements and regulations. In such instances, although the Company may have recourse against such third-party vendors, the Company may self-report to the relevant regulatory agencies, recall affected products and/or pay potential fines.

Any of the above could harm the TIFFANY & CO. brand and reputation, cause a loss of consumer confidence in the TIFFANY & CO. brand, its products and the industry, and/or negatively affect the Company's results of operations.

The considerable expansion in the use of social media in recent years has compounded the potential scope of any negative publicity.

(xvi) Any material disruption of, or a failure to successfully implement or make changes to, information systems could negatively impact the Company's business.

The Company is increasingly dependent on its information systems to operate its business, including in designing, manufacturing, marketing and distributing its products, as well as processing transactions, managing inventory and accounting for and reporting its results. Given the complexity of the Company's global business, it is critical that the Company maintain the uninterrupted operation of its information systems. Despite the Company's preventative efforts, its information systems may be vulnerable to damage, disruption or shutdown due to power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, computer viruses, systems failures, security breaches or natural
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disasters. Damage, disruption or shutdown of the Company's information systems may require a significant investment to repair or replace them, and the Company could suffer interruptions in its operations in the interim.

In addition, in the ordinary course of business, the Company regularly evaluates and makes changes and upgrades to its information systems. The Company is in the process of executing its multi-year effort to evaluate and, where appropriate, to upgrade and/or replace certain of its information systems, including systems for global customer relationship management, order management and inventory management. These system changes and upgrades can require significant capital investments and dedication of resources. While the Company follows a disciplined methodology when evaluating and making such changes, there can be no assurances that the Company will successfully implement such changes, that such changes will be implemented without delays, that such changes will occur without disruptions to its operations or that the new or upgraded systems will achieve the desired business objectives.

Any damage, disruption or shutdown of the Company's information systems, or the failure to successfully implement new or upgraded systems, such as those referenced above, could have a direct material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, could undermine the Company's ability to execute on its strategic and operational initiatives, and could also affect the Company's reputation, its ability to compete effectively, its relationship with customers and the TIFFANY & CO. brand, which could result in reduced sales and profitability.

(xvii) New and existing data privacy laws and/or a significant data security breach of the Company's information systems could increase the Company's operational costs, subject the Company to claims and otherwise adversely affect its business.

The protection of customer, employee and Company information is important to the Company, and its customers and employees expect that their personal data will be adequately protected. In addition, the regulatory environment surrounding information security and data privacy is becoming increasingly demanding, with evolving requirements in respect of personal data use and processing, including significant penalties for non-compliance, in the various jurisdictions in which the Company does business. For example, the E.U. General Data Protection Regulation that came into force in 2018, as well as the California Consumer Privacy Act that came into force on January 1, 2020, have caused, and will continue to cause, the Company to incur additional compliance costs related thereto. Although the Company has developed and implemented systems, policies, procedures and internal controls that are designed to protect personal data and Company information, prevent data loss and other security breaches, and otherwise identify, assess and analyze cybersecurity risks, such measures cannot provide absolute security. For example, the Company faces a complex and evolving threat landscape in which cybercriminals, nation-states and "hacktivists" employ a complex array of techniques designed to access personal data and other information, including the use of stolen access credentials, malware, ransomware, phishing, structured query language ("SQL") injection attacks and distributed denial-of-service attacks, which may penetrate the Company's systems despite its extensive and evolving protective information security measures. Further, the Company relies on its software and hardware providers to issue timely patches for known vulnerabilities; however, the failure of software and hardware companies to release or to timely release effective patching and the Company's reliance on patches or inability to patch software and hardware vulnerabilities, could expose it to increased risk of attack, data loss and data breach. The Company has experienced, and expects to continue to experience, attempts from cybercriminals and other third parties to gain unauthorized access to its information technology and other information systems. Although these attempts have not had a material impact on the Company to date, in the future the Company could experience attacks that could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations.

Additionally, the Company's implementation of new information technology or information systems and/or increased use and reliance on web-based hosted (i.e., cloud computing) applications and systems for the storage, processing and transmission of information, including customer and employee personal data, could expose the Company, its employees and its customers to a risk of loss or misuse of such information. The Company's efforts to protect personal data and Company information may also be adversely impacted by data security or privacy breaches that occur at its third-party vendors. While the Company's contractual arrangements with such third-party vendors provide for the protection of personal data and Company information, the Company cannot control these vendors or their systems and cannot guarantee that a data security or privacy breach of their systems will not occur in the future.

A significant violation of applicable privacy laws or the occurrence of a cybersecurity incident resulting in breach of personal data or Company information could result in the temporary suspension of some or all of the Company's operating and/or information systems, damage the Company's reputation, its relationships with customers, vendors

TIFFANY & CO.

K-20

[bookmark: page22]Table of Contents

and service providers and the TIFFANY & CO. brand and could result in lost data, lost sales, sizable fines, increased insurance premiums, substantial breach-notification and other remediation costs and lawsuits as well as adversely affect results of operations. The Company may also incur additional costs in the future related to the implementation of additional security measures to protect against new or enhanced data security and privacy threats, to comply with state, federal and international laws that may be enacted to address personal data processing risks and data security threats or to investigate or address potential or actual data security or privacy breaches.

(xviii) The loss or a prolonged disruption in the operation of the Company's centralized distribution centers could adversely affect its business and operations.

The Company maintains two separate distribution centers in close proximity to one another in New Jersey. Both are dedicated to warehousing merchandise; one handles worldwide store replenishment and the other processes direct-to-customer orders. Although the Company believes that it has appropriate contingency plans, unforeseen disruptions impacting one or both locations for a prolonged period of time may result in delays in the delivery of merchandise to stores or in fulfilling customer orders.

(xix) The loss or a prolonged disruption in the operation of the Company's internal manufacturing facilities could adversely affect its business and operations.

The Company's internal manufacturing facilities produce approximately 60% of the jewelry sold by the Company. Any prolonged disruption to their operations would require the Company to seek alternate sources of production and could have a negative effect on inventory availability and sales until such sources are established.

(xx) If the Company is unable to effectively anticipate and respond to changes in consumer preferences and shopping patterns, or introduce new products or programs that appeal to new or existing customers, the Company's sales and profitability could be adversely affected.

The Company's continued success depends on its ability to anticipate and respond in a timely and cost-effective manner to changes in consumer preferences for jewelry and other luxury goods, attitudes towards the global jewelry industry as a whole, as well as the manner and locations in which consumers purchase such goods. The Company recognizes that consumer tastes cannot be predicted with certainty and are subject to change, which is compounded by the expanding use of digital and social media by consumers and the speed by which information and opinions are shared. The Company's product development strategy is to introduce new design collections, primarily jewelry, and/or expand certain existing collections annually. If the Company is unable to anticipate and respond in a timely and cost-effective manner to changes in consumer preferences and shopping patterns, including the development of an engaging omnichannel experience for its customers, the Company's sales and profitability could be adversely affected.

In addition, approximately 75% of the Company's stores are located within luxury department stores and shopping malls and benefit from the ability of those locations to generate consumer traffic. A substantial decline in department store and/or mall traffic may negatively impact the Company's ability to maintain or increase its sales in existing stores, as well as its ability to open new stores.

(xxi) Environmental and climate changes could affect the Company's business.

The Company operates retail stores in more than 20 markets and has both domestic and foreign manufacturing operations that are susceptible to the risks associated with climate change. Such risks include those related to the physical impacts of climate change, such as more frequent and severe weather events and/or long term shifts in climate patterns, and risks related to the transition to a lower-carbon economy, such as reputational, market and/or regulatory risks. Climate change and climate events could result in social, cultural and economic disruptions in these areas, including supply chain disruptions, the disruption of local infrastructure and transportation systems that could limit the ability of the Company's employees and/or its customers to access the Company's stores or manufacturing locations, damage to such stores or locations or reductions in material availability and quality. These events could also compound adverse economic conditions and impact consumer confidence and discretionary spending. Despite the fact that the Company is pursuing numerous initiatives to reduce its environmental footprint, including efforts related to energy efficiency, renewable energy use and carbon offsets, there remains the risk that insufficient global cooperation could lead to increased negative impacts from climate change. While the Company has an ongoing
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program for reviewing its vulnerability to the impacts of severe weather events and other risks associated with climate change, these events could nonetheless negatively affect the Company's business and operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None


Item 2. Properties.

The Company leases its various store premises (other than the New York Flagship store, which is owned by the Company) under arrangements that generally range from 3 to 10 years. The following table provides information on the number of locations and square footage of Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores as of January 31, 2020:

	
	
	Total Gross Retail
	Gross Retail Square
	Average Gross Retail

	
	Total Stores
	Square Footage
	Footage Range
	Square Footage

	Americas*:
	
	
	
	

	New York Flagship
	1
	45,500
	45,500
	45,500

	Other stores
	123
	690,000
	1,100-17,600
	5,600

	Asia-Pacific
	91
	282,400
	700-13,400
	3,100

	Japan:
	
	
	
	

	Tokyo Ginza
	1
	13,300
	13,300
	13,300

	Other stores
	57
	149,000
	700-7,500
	2,600

	Europe:
	
	
	
	

	London Old Bond Street
	1
	22,400
	22,400
	22,400

	Other stores
	47
	165,700
	400-18,200
	3,500

	Emerging Markets
	5
	9,200
	400-3,600
	1,800

	Total
	326
	1,377,500
	400-45,500
	4,200



· The total gross retail square footage for the New York Flagship is through its closure for renovation in January 2020, and Other stores does not include the total gross retail square footage for the Tiffany Flagship Next Door.

Excluded from the store count and square footage amounts above are pop-up stores (stores with lease terms of 24 months or less).

NEW YORK FLAGSHIP STORE

The Company owns the building, but not the air rights above the building, housing its New York Flagship store at 727 Fifth Avenue, which was designed to be a retail store for Tiffany and is well located for this function. In 2018, the Company announced its plans to undertake a complete renovation of the New York Flagship store. The New York Flagship store closed in January 2020, at which time the Company began its complete renovation and temporarily moved its operations to the "Tiffany Flagship Next Door" at 6 East 57th Street. This renovation is expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2021. Sales in this store represented less than 10% of worldwide net sales in 2019, 2018 and 2017.

RETAIL SERVICE CENTER

The Company's Retail Service Center ("RSC"), located in Parsippany, New Jersey, comprises approximately 370,000 square feet. Approximately half of the building is devoted to office and information technology operations and half to warehousing, shipping, receiving, merchandise processing and other distribution functions. The RSC receives merchandise and replenishes retail stores. The Company has a 20-year lease for this facility, which expires in 2025, and has two 10-year renewal options.
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CUSTOMER FULFILLMENT CENTER

The Company owns the Customer Fulfillment Center ("CFC") in Whippany, New Jersey and leases the land on which the facility resides. The CFC is approximately 266,000 square feet and is primarily used for warehousing merchandise and processing direct-to-customer orders. The land lease expires in 2032 and the Company has the right to renew the lease for an additional 20-year term.

MANUFACTURING AND DESIGN FACILITIES

The Company owns and operates jewelry manufacturing facilities in Cumberland, Rhode Island and Lexington, Kentucky, leases a jewelry manufacturing facility in Pelham, New York, leases a facility in the Dominican Republic which performs certain functions such as jewelry polishing and assembly and leases a facility containing its Jewelry Design and Innovation Workshop in New York, New York. Lease expiration dates range from 2023 to 2029. The owned and leased facilities total approximately 244,000 square feet.

The Company leases a facility in Belgium and owns facilities in Botswana, Cambodia, Mauritius and Vietnam (although the land in Botswana, Cambodia and Vietnam is leased) that prepare, cut and/or polish rough diamonds for use by Tiffany. These facilities total approximately 277,000 square feet and the lease expiration dates range from 2020 to 2062.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Litigation Matters. The Company is from time to time involved in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of its business, including proceedings to protect its trademark rights, litigation with parties claiming infringement of patents and other intellectual property rights by the Company, litigation instituted by persons alleged to have been injured upon premises under the Company's control and litigation with present and former employees and customers. Although litigation with present and former employees is routine and incidental to the conduct of the Company's business, as well as for any business employing significant numbers of employees, such litigation can result in large monetary awards when a civil jury is allowed to determine compensatory and/or punitive damages for actions such as those claiming discrimination on the basis of age, gender, race, religion, disability or other legally-protected characteristic or for termination of employment that is wrongful or in violation of implied contracts. However, the Company believes that all such litigation currently pending to which it is a party or to which its properties are subject will be resolved without any material adverse effect on the Company's financial position, earnings or cash flows.

Merger-related Litigation. As previously disclosed, on December 30, 2019 and January 3, 2020, purported stockholders of the Registrant filed complaints against the Registrant and the members of the Board of Directors of the Registrant in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, captioned Stein v. Tiffany & Co., et al., Case No. 1:19-cv-11926 (S.D.N.Y.), and Thompson v. Tiffany & Co., et al., Case No. 1:20-cv-00009 (D. Del.), respectively. The complaints alleged that a preliminary version of the proxy statement that the Registrant filed with the SEC on December 18, 2019 was materially incomplete, false or misleading in certain respects. On January 8, 2020, two additional complaints were filed against the Registrant and the members of the Board of Directors of the Registrant in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York by purported stockholders of the Registrant, captioned Federman v. Tiffany & Co., et al., Case No. 1:20-cv-00159 (S.D.N.Y.), and Daka v. Tiffany & Co., et al., Case No. 1:20-cv-00170 (S.D.N.Y.), respectively. The complaints alleged that the Definitive Proxy Statement was materially incomplete, false or misleading in certain respects. Each of the four aforementioned Stein, Thompson, Federman and Daka actions purported to seek injunctive relief and money damages. The plaintiffs in all of the Stein, Thompson, Federman and Daka actions have since voluntarily dismissed their actions.

Gain Contingency. On February 14, 2013, Tiffany and Company and Tiffany (NJ) LLC (collectively, the "Tiffany plaintiffs") initiated a lawsuit against Costco Wholesale Corp. ("Costco") for trademark infringement, false designation of origin and unfair competition, trademark dilution and trademark counterfeiting (the "Costco Litigation"). The Tiffany plaintiffs sought injunctive relief, monetary recovery and statutory damages on account of Costco's use of "Tiffany" on signs in the jewelry cases at Costco stores used to describe certain diamond engagement rings that were not manufactured by Tiffany. Costco filed a counterclaim arguing that the TIFFANY trademark was a generic term for multi-pronged ring settings and seeking to have the trademark invalidated, modified or partially canceled in that respect. On September 8, 2015, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Court") granted
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the Tiffany plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment of liability in its entirety, dismissing Costco's genericism counterclaim and finding that Costco was liable for trademark infringement, trademark counterfeiting and unfair competition under New York law in its use of "Tiffany" on the above-referenced signs. On September 29, 2016, a civil jury rendered its verdict, finding that Costco's profits on the sale of the infringing rings should be awarded at $5.5 million, and further finding that an award of punitive damages was warranted. On October 5, 2016, the jury awarded $8.25 million in punitive damages. The aggregate award of $13.75 million was not final, as it was subject to post-verdict motion practice and ultimately to adjustment by the Court. On August 14, 2017, the Court issued its ruling, finding that the Tiffany plaintiffs are entitled to recover (i) $11.1 million in respect of Costco's profits on the sale of the infringing rings (which amount is three times the amount of such profits, as determined by the Court), (ii) prejudgment interest on such amount (calculated at the applicable statutory rate) from February 15, 2013 through August 14, 2017, (iii) an additional $8.25 million in punitive damages, and (iv) Tiffany's reasonable attorneys' fees, and, on August 24, 2017, the Court entered judgment in the amount of $21.0 million in favor of the Tiffany plaintiffs (reflecting items (i) through (iii) above). On February 7, 2019, the Court awarded the Tiffany plaintiffs $5.9 million in respect of the aforementioned attorneys' fees and costs, bringing the total judgment to $26.9 million. The Court has denied a motion made by Costco for a new trial; however, Costco has also filed an appeal from the judgment before the Second Circuit Court of Appeals. A three-judge panel presided over an appellate hearing on January 23, 2020, and that panel's decision is pending. As the Tiffany plaintiffs may not enforce the Court's judgment during the appeals process, the Company has not recorded any amount in its consolidated financial statements related to this gain contingency as of January 31, 2020. The Company expects that this matter will not ultimately be resolved until, at the earliest, a future date during the Company's fiscal year ending January 31, 2021.


Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not Applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

In calculating the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the Company shown on the cover page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, 761,162 shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by the executive officers and directors of the Company (exclusive of shares which may be acquired on exercise of stock options) were excluded, on the assumption that certain of those persons could be considered "affiliates" under the provisions of Rule 405 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The Company's Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "TIF". On March 16, 2020, the high and low selling prices quoted on such exchange were $126.42 and $115.09. On March 16, 2020, there were 13,106 holders of record of the Company's Common Stock.

The following graph compares changes in the cumulative total shareholder return on the Company's Common Stock for the previous five fiscal years to returns for the same five-year period on (i) the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index and (ii) the Standard & Poor's 500 Consumer Discretionary Index. Cumulative shareholder return is defined as changes in the closing price of the stock and such indices, plus the reinvestment of any dividends paid. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on January 31, 2015 in the Company's Common Stock and in each of the two indices, as well as the reinvestment of any subsequent dividends. The increase in the cumulative shareholder return on the Company's Common Stock for the year ended January 31, 2020 primarily reflects the acquisition price of $135.00 per share of Common Stock related to the proposed Merger. See "Item 1. Business - Entry into Merger Agreement" for additional information regarding the proposed Merger.

Total returns are based on market capitalization; indices are weighted at the beginning of each period for which a return is indicated. The stock performance shown in the graph is not intended to forecast or to be indicative of future performance.
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	1/31/15
	1/31/16
	1/31/17
	1/31/18
	1/31/19
	1/31/20

	Tiffany & Co.
	$ 100.00
	$ 75.10
	$ 94.93
	$ 131.35
	$ 111.54
	$ 172.32

	S&P 500
	Stock Index
	100.00
	99.33
	119.24
	150.73
	147.24
	179.17

	S&P 500
	Consumer Discretionary
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Index
	
	100.00
	107.77
	125.53
	161.93
	164.71
	192.26



Dividends

It is the Company's policy to pay a quarterly dividend on its Common Stock, subject to declaration by its Board of Directors. In 2018, a dividend of $0.50 per share of Common Stock was paid on April 10, 2018. On May 24, 2018, the Company announced a 10% increase in its regular quarterly dividend rate to a new rate of $0.55 per share of Common Stock, which was paid on July 10, 2018, October 10, 2018 and January 10, 2019.

A dividend of $0.55 per share of Common Stock was paid on April 10, 2019. On June 4, 2019, the Company announced a 5% increase in its regular quarterly dividend rate to a new rate of $0.58 per share of Common Stock, which was paid on July 10, 2019, October 10, 2019 and January 10, 2020.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In May 2018, the Registrant's Board of Directors approved a new share repurchase program (the "2018 Program"). The 2018 Program, which became effective June 1, 2018 and expires on January 31, 2022, authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $1.0 billion of its Common Stock through open market transactions, including through Rule 10b5-1 plans and one or more accelerated share repurchase ("ASR") or other structured repurchase transactions, and/or privately negotiated transactions. As of January 31, 2020, $471.6 million remained available under the 2018 Program; however, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, and subject to certain limited exceptions, the Company may not repurchase its Common Stock other than in connection with the forfeiture provisions of Company equity awards or the cashless exercise or tax withholding provisions of such Company equity awards, in each case, granted under the Company's stock-based compensation plans. Accordingly, the Company did not repurchase any shares of its Common Stock during the fourth quarter of 2019 pursuant to the 2018 Program, and does not expect to repurchase any shares of its Common Stock in connection with the 2018 Program prior to the Merger or earlier termination of the Merger Agreement.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth selected financial data, certain of which have been derived from the Company's consolidated financial statements for fiscal years 2015-2019, which ended on January 31 of the following calendar year:

	(in millions, except per share amounts,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	percentages, ratios, stores and employees)
	
	2019 b, c
	
	2018 c
	
	2017 d
	
	2016 e
	
	2015 f

	EARNINGS DATA
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net sales
	$
	4,424.0
	$
	4,442.1
	$
	4,169.8
	$
	4,001.8
	$
	4,104.9

	Gross profit
	
	2,761.9
	
	2,811.0
	
	2,610.7
	
	2,499.0
	
	2,505.2

	Selling, general & administrative expenses
	
	2,029.3
	
	2,020.7
	
	1,801.3
	
	1,752.6
	
	1,706.1

	Earnings from operations
	
	732.6
	
	790.3
	
	809.4
	
	746.4
	
	799.1

	Net earnings
	
	541.1
	
	586.4
	
	370.1
	
	446.1
	
	463.9

	Net earnings per diluted share
	
	4.45
	
	4.75
	
	2.96
	
	3.55
	
	3.59

	Weighted-average number of diluted common
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	shares
	
	121.6
	
	123.5
	
	125.1
	
	125.5
	
	129.1

	BALANCE SHEET AND CASH FLOW DATA
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total assets a
	$
	6,660.1
	$
	5,333.0
	$
	5,468.1
	$
	5,097.6
	$
	5,121.6

	Cash and cash equivalents
	
	874.7
	
	792.6
	
	970.7
	
	928.0
	
	843.6

	Inventories, net
	
	2,463.9
	
	2,428.0
	
	2,253.5
	
	2,157.6
	
	2,225.0

	Short-term borrowings and long-term debt
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	(including current portion)
	
	1,032.0
	
	996.8
	
	1,003.5
	
	1,107.1
	
	1,095.8

	Stockholders' equity
	
	3,335.4
	
	3,130.9
	
	3,248.2
	
	3,028.4
	
	2,929.5

	Working capital a
	
	2,905.1
	
	3,041.4
	
	3,258.5
	
	2,940.8
	
	2,778.5

	Cash flows from operating activities
	
	670.9
	
	531.8
	
	932.2
	
	705.7
	
	817.4

	Capital expenditures
	
	320.6
	
	282.1
	
	239.3
	
	222.8
	
	252.7

	Stockholders' equity per share
	
	27.53
	
	25.77
	
	26.10
	
	24.33
	
	23.10

	Cash dividends paid per share
	
	2.29
	
	2.15
	
	1.95
	
	1.75
	
	1.58

	RATIO ANALYSIS AND OTHER DATA
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	As a percentage of net sales:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gross profit
	
	62.4%
	
	63.3%
	
	62.6%
	
	62.4%
	
	61.0%

	Selling, general & administrative expenses
	
	45.9%
	
	45.5%
	
	43.2%
	
	43.8%
	
	41.6%

	Earnings from operations
	
	16.6%
	
	17.8%
	
	19.4%
	
	18.7%
	
	19.5%

	Net earnings
	
	12.2%
	
	13.2%
	
	8.9%
	
	11.1%
	
	11.3%

	Capital expenditures
	
	7.2%
	
	6.4%
	
	5.7%
	
	5.6%
	
	6.2%

	Return on average assets a
	
	9.0%
	
	10.9%
	
	7.0%
	
	8.7%
	
	9.0%

	Return on average stockholders' equity
	
	16.7%
	
	18.4%
	
	11.8%
	
	15.0%
	
	16.1%

	Total debt-to-equity ratio
	
	30.9%
	
	31.8%
	
	30.9%
	
	36.6%
	
	37.4%

	Dividends as a percentage of net earnings
	
	51.1%
	
	45.0%
	
	65.5%
	
	49.0%
	
	43.8%

	Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores
	
	326
	
	321
	
	315
	
	313
	
	307

	Number of employees
	
	14,100
	
	14,200
	
	13,100
	
	11,900
	
	12,200
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NOTES TO SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

a. In connection with the adoption of ASC 842 – Leases on February 1, 2019, the Company established a lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The following amounts are recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet for operating leases as of January 31, 2020: (i) Operating lease right-of-use asset of $1.1 billion; (ii) Current portion of operating lease liabilities of $202.8 million and (iii) Long-term portion of operating lease liabilities of $1.0 billion. See "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note C. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note K. Leases" for additional information.

b. Financial information and ratios for 2019 include $21.2 million of pre-tax expense ($17.1 million after tax expense, or $0.14 per diluted share) related to the proposed Merger. See "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note B. Entry into Merger Agreement" for additional information.

c. Financial information and ratios for 2019 and 2018 reflect a lower effective income tax rate, primarily resulting from the 2017 U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. See "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note P. Income Taxes" for additional information.

d. Financial information and ratios for 2017 include $146.2 million, or $1.17 per diluted share, of net tax expense related to the enactment of the 2017 U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. See "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note P. Income Taxes" for additional information.

e. Financial information and ratios for 2016 include the following amounts, totaling $38.0 million of pre-tax expense ($24.0 million after tax expense, or $0.19 per diluted share):

· $25.4 million of pre-tax expense ($16.0 million after tax expense, or $0.13 per diluted share) associated with an asset impairment charge related to software costs capitalized in connection with the development of a finished goods inventory management and merchandising information system; and

· $12.6 million of pre-tax expense ($8.0 million after tax expense, or $0.06 per diluted share) associated with impairment charges related to financing arrangements with diamond mining and exploration companies.

f. Financial information and ratios for 2015 include the following amounts, totaling $46.7 million of pre-tax expense ($29.9 million after tax expense, or $0.24 per diluted share):

· $37.9 million of pre-tax expense ($24.3 million after tax expense, or $0.19 per diluted share) associated with impairment charges related to a financing arrangement with Koidu Limited, a diamond mining and exploration company; and

· $8.8 million of pre-tax expense ($5.6 million after tax expense, or $0.05 per diluted share) associated with severance related to staffing reductions and subleasing of certain office space for which only a portion of the Company's future rent obligations would be recovered.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Company's consolidated financial statements and related notes.

All references to years relate to fiscal years which ended on January 31 of the following calendar year.

ENTRY INTO MERGER AGREEMENT

On November 24, 2019, Tiffany & Co. (the "Registrant") entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") by and among the Registrant, LVMH Moët Hennessy - Louis Vuitton SE, a societas Europaea (European company) organized under the laws of France ("Parent"), Breakfast Holdings Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Holding"), and Breakfast Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Holding ("Merger Sub"). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will be merged with and into the Registrant (the "Merger"), with the Registrant continuing as the surviving company in the Merger and a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Parent.

For additional information related to the Merger Agreement, please refer to the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on January 6, 2020 and "Item 1. Business – Entry into Merger Agreement."

KEY STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

The Company's key strategic priorities are to:

· Amplify an evolved brand message.

The Brand is the single most important asset of Tiffany and, indirectly, of the Company. Management intends to increasingly invest in and evolve marketing and public relations programs through a variety of media designed to build awareness of the Brand, its heritage and its products, as well as to enhance the Brand's association with quality and luxury by consumers.

· Renew the Company's product offerings and enhance in-store presentations.

The Company's product development strategy is to accelerate the introduction of new design collections, primarily in jewelry, but also in non-jewelry products, and/or expand certain existing collections annually, all of which are intended to appeal to existing and new customers.

To ensure a superior shopping experience, the Company is focused on enhancing the design of its stores, as well as the creative visual presentation of its merchandise, to provide an engaging luxury experience in both its new and existing stores.

· Deliver an exciting omnichannel customer experience.

Management intends to continue to expand and optimize its global store base by evaluating potential markets for new TIFFANY & CO. stores, as well as through the renovation, relocation, or closing of existing stores. Management will also continue to pursue opportunities to grow sales through its e-commerce websites and utilize the websites to drive store traffic. In addition, the Company employs highly qualified sales and customer service professionals and is focused on developing effective omnichannel relationships with its customers.

· Strengthen the Company's competitive position and lead in key markets.

The global jewelry industry is competitively fragmented. While the Company enjoys a strong reputation and large customer base, it encounters significant competition in all product categories and geographies. By focusing on enhanced marketing communications, product development and optimization of its store base and digital capabilities, the Company's objective is to be an industry leader in key markets.
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· Cultivate a more efficient operating model.

The Company is focused on improving its business operations through new systems, more effective processes and cost restraint, to drive margin growth. This includes realizing greater efficiencies in its product supply chain and other operations, and enhancing its global procurement capabilities. The Company has developed a substantial product supply infrastructure for the procurement and processing of diamonds and the manufacturing of jewelry. This infrastructure is intended to ensure adequate product supply and favorable product costs while adhering to the Company's quality and ethical standards.

· Inspire an aligned and agile organization to win.

The Company's success depends upon its people and their effective execution of the Company's strategic priorities. The Company's management strives to motivate and develop employees with the core competencies and adaptability needed to achieve its objectives.

By pursuing these key strategic priorities, management is committed to the following long-term financial objectives:

· To achieve sustainable sales growth.

Management's objective is to generate mid-single-digit percentage worldwide sales increases, primarily through comparable sales growth, as well as through modest store square footage growth.

· To increase retail productivity and profitability.

Management is focused on increasing the frequency of store and website visits and the percentage of store and website visitors who make a purchase, as well as optimizing utilization of store square footage, and growing sales, average price per unit sold and sales per square foot.

· To achieve improved operating margins, through both improved gross margins and efficient expense management.

Management's long-term objective is to improve gross margins, including through controlling product input costs, realizing greater efficiencies in its product supply chain and adjusting retail prices when appropriate. Additionally, management is focused on efficient selling, general and administrative expense management, thereby generating sales leverage on fixed costs. These efforts are collectively intended to generate a higher rate of operating earnings growth relative to sales growth, and management targets an improvement in operating margin of 50 basis points per year over the long term.

· To improve inventory and other asset productivity and cash flow.

Management's long-term objective is to maintain inventory growth at a rate less than sales growth, with greater focus on efficiencies in product sourcing and manufacturing as well as optimizing store inventory levels, all of which is intended to contribute to improvements in cash flow and return on assets.

· To maintain a capital structure that provides financial strength and the ability to invest in strategic initiatives.

2019 SUMMARY

· Worldwide net sales were approximately unchanged compared to the prior year. Comparable sales decreased 1% from the prior year. On a constant-exchange-rate basis (see "Non-GAAP Measures" below), worldwide net sales increased 1% and comparable sales were approximately unchanged.

· The Company added a net of five TIFFANY & CO. stores (opening four in Japan, two in the Americas, two in Asia-Pacific and one in Europe, while closing two stores in the Americas, one store in Asia-Pacific and one store in Japan) and relocated or renovated 18 existing stores. Gross retail square footage increased 3%, net.
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· Earnings from operations as a percentage of net sales ("operating margin") decreased 120 basis points, which included the impact of costs recorded in 2019 related to the proposed Merger, as described below under "Non-GAAP Measures." Excluding these costs, operating margin decreased 80 basis points due to a decrease in gross margin.

· The Company's effective income tax rate increased to 21.6% in 2019 from 21.1% in 2018.

· Net earnings decreased to $541.1 million, or $4.45 per diluted share, in 2019 from $586.4 million, or $4.75 per diluted share, in 2018. Net earnings in 2019 included the impact of costs related to the proposed Merger, as described below under "Non-GAAP Measures." Excluding these costs, net earnings decreased to $558.2 million, or $4.59 per diluted share.

· Inventories, net did not change significantly from 2018.

· Cash flow from operating activities was $670.9 million in 2019, compared with $531.8 million in 2018. Free cash flow (see "Non-GAAP Measures") was $350.3 million in 2019, compared with $249.7 million in 2018.

· The Company returned capital to shareholders by paying regular quarterly dividends (which were increased 5% effective July 2019 to $0.58 per share, or an annualized rate of $2.32 per share) and by repurchasing 1.8 million shares of its Common Stock for $163.4 million.


NOVEL CORONAVIRUS

As discussed under "Item 1A. Risk Factors," an outbreak of a novel strain of the coronavirus, COVID-19, was recently identified in China and has subsequently been recognized as a pandemic by the World Health Organization. This coronavirus outbreak has severely restricted the level of economic activity around the world. In response to this coronavirus outbreak the governments of many countries, states, cities and other geographic regions have taken preventative or protective actions, such as imposing restrictions on travel and business operations and advising or requiring individuals to limit or forego their time outside of their homes. Management expects that these actions could have a negative impact on local and tourist spending around the world. Temporary closures of businesses have been ordered and numerous other businesses have temporarily closed voluntarily. Further, individuals' ability to travel has been curtailed through mandated travel restrictions and may be further limited through additional voluntary or mandated closures of travel-related businesses. These actions have expanded significantly in the past several weeks and are expected to continue to expand. Given the uncertainty regarding the spread of this coronavirus, the related financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time, although the aforementioned actions and related impacts are expected to continue and may also significantly affect the Company's business in other geographic areas in which the coronavirus has spread and may continue to spread. The Company intends to continue to execute on its strategic plans and operational initiatives during the coronavirus outbreak. However, the uncertainties associated with the protective and preventative measures being put in place or recommended by both governmental entities and other businesses, among other uncertainties, may result in delays or modifications to these plans and initiatives.

As a result, this coronavirus outbreak has had a significant effect on the Company's sales results to date in fiscal 2020 and is expected to continue to have a significant effect on its financial results during the current fiscal year. For example, from January 24 through March 19, 2020, management estimates that this coronavirus outbreak contributed to the loss of approximately 30 out of 54 retail trading days (accounting for the effect of individual store closures as well as reductions in store operating hours) across all of the Company's stores in the Chinese Mainland. In addition, as of March 19, 2020, the Company has temporarily closed all of its stores in the United States and Canada, and has temporarily closed nearly all of its stores across Europe and the United Kingdom. The Company has also experienced significantly reduced customer traffic from January 24 through March 19 in its stores that have been open during such period, which management believes has resulted in part from a reduction in tourism as well as restrictions on travel and limitations affecting individuals' ability to spend time in public areas, with attendant sales declines to date in fiscal 2020 in those stores.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Results of Operations" in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2019 for a comparative discussion of the Company's operating results and financial condition for its fiscal years ended January 31, 2019 and 2018.

Non-GAAP Measures

The Company reports information in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"). Internally, management also monitors and measures its performance using certain sales and earnings measures that include or exclude amounts, or are subject to adjustments that have the effect of including or excluding amounts, from the most directly comparable GAAP measure ("non-GAAP financial measures"). The Company presents such non-GAAP financial measures in reporting its financial results to provide investors with useful supplemental information that will allow them to evaluate the Company's operating results using the same measures that management uses to monitor and measure its performance. The Company's management does not, nor does it suggest that investors should, consider non-GAAP financial measures in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP. These non-GAAP financial measures presented here may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures used by other companies.

Net Sales. The Company's reported net sales reflect either a translation-related benefit from strengthening foreign currencies or a detriment from a strengthening U.S. dollar. Internally, management monitors and measures its sales performance on a non-GAAP basis that eliminates the positive or negative effects that result from translating sales made outside the U.S. into U.S. dollars ("constant-exchange-rate basis").

Sales on a constant-exchange-rate basis are calculated by taking the current year's sales in local currencies and translating them into U.S. dollars using the prior year's foreign currency exchange rates. Management believes this constant-exchange-rate basis provides a useful supplemental basis for the assessment of sales performance and of comparability between reporting periods. The following table reconciles the sales percentage increases (decreases) from the GAAP to the non-GAAP basis versus the previous year.


2019
[image: ]

Constant-
GAAP	Translation	Exchange-

Reported	Effect	Rate Basis
[image: ]



2018
[image: ]

Constant-
GAAP	Translation	Exchange-

Reported	Effect	Rate Basis


Net Sales:

	
	Worldwide
	— %
	(1)%
	1 %
	7 %
	1%
	6 %

	
	Americas
	(2)
	—
	(2)
	5
	—
	5

	
	Asia-Pacific
	2
	(3)
	5
	13
	—
	13

	
	Japan
	1
	1
	—
	8
	2
	6

	
	Europe
	(1)
	(3)
	2
	3
	1
	2

	
	Other
	(2)
	—
	(2)
	(20)
	—
	(20)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Comparable Sales:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Worldwide
	(1)%
	(1)%
	— %
	4 %
	—%
	4 %

	
	Americas
	(2)
	—
	(2)
	5
	—
	5

	
	Asia-Pacific
	(1)
	(4)
	3
	5
	—
	5

	
	Japan
	—
	1
	(1)
	7
	2
	5

	
	Europe
	(1)
	(3)
	2
	(2)
	1
	(3)

	
	Other
	(9)
	—
	(9)
	(15)
	—
	(15)
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2019
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Constant-
GAAP	Translation	Exchange-

Reported	Effect	Rate Basis
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2018
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Constant-
GAAP	Translation	Exchange-

Reported	Effect	Rate Basis


Jewelry sales by product

category:

	Jewelry collections
	2 %
	(1)%
	3 %
	11 %
	—%
	11 %

	Engagement jewelry
	(2)
	(2)
	—
	4
	—
	4

	Designer jewelry
	(6)
	(1)
	(5)
	(1)
	—
	(1)



Statements of Earnings. Internally, management monitors and measures its earnings performance excluding certain items listed below. Management believes excluding such items provides a useful supplemental basis for the assessment of the Company's results relative to the corresponding period in the prior year. The following tables reconcile certain GAAP amounts to non-GAAP amounts:

	
	
	
	
	Charges related to the
	
	

	(in millions, except per share amounts)
	
	GAAP
	
	proposed Merger a
	
	Non-GAAP

	Year Ended January 31, 2020
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gross Profit
	$
	2,761.9
	$
	1.0
	$
	2,762.9

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	As a % of sales
	
	62.4%
	
	0.1 %
	
	62.5%

	Selling, general & administrative expenses
	
	2,029.3
	
	(20.2)
	
	2,009.1

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	As a % of sales
	
	45.9%
	
	(0.5)%
	
	45.4%

	Earnings from operations
	
	732.6
	$
	21.2
	
	753.8

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	As a % of sales
	
	16.6%
	
	0.4 %
	
	17.0%

	Provision for income taxes
	
	149.2
	$
	4.1
	
	153.3

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Effective income tax rate
	
	21.6%
	
	(0.1)
	
	21.5%

	Net earnings
	
	541.1
	
	17.1
	
	558.2

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Diluted earnings per share
	
	4.45
	
	0.14
	
	4.59

	
	
	
	
	
	
	



· Costs recorded in 2019 related to the proposed Merger. See "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note B. Entry into Merger Agreement" for additional information.

Free Cash Flow. Internally, management monitors its cash flow on a non-GAAP basis. Free cash flow is calculated by deducting capital expenditures from net cash provided by operating activities. The ability to generate free cash flow demonstrates how much cash the Company has available for discretionary and non-discretionary purposes after deduction of capital expenditures. The Company's operations require regular capital expenditures for the opening, renovation and expansion of stores and distribution and manufacturing facilities as well as ongoing investments in information technology. Management believes this provides a useful supplemental basis for assessing the Company's operating cash flows. The following table reconciles GAAP net cash provided by operating activities to non-GAAP free cash flow:

	(in millions)
	
	2019
	
	2018
	
	2017

	Net cash provided by operating activities a
	$
	670.9
	$
	531.8
	$
	932.2

	Less: Capital expenditures a
	
	(320.6)
	
	(282.1)
	
	(239.3)

	Free cash flow
	$
	350.3
	$
	249.7
	$
	692.9



· See "Liquidity and Capital Resources" below for further information on the Company's cash flows.
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Comparable Sales

Comparable sales include sales transacted in Company-operated stores open for more than 12 months. Sales from e-commerce sites are included in comparable sales for those sites that have been operating for more than 12 months. Sales for relocated stores are included in comparable sales if the relocation occurs within the same geographical market. In all markets, the results of a store in which the square footage has been expanded or reduced remain in the comparable sales base.

Net Sales

The Company generates sales through its retail, Internet, wholesale, business-to-business and catalog channels (see "Item 1. Business - Reportable Segments").

Net sales by segment were as follows:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2019 vs
	2018 vs

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2018
	
	2017

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	% Change
	% Change

	
	
	
	% of Total
	
	
	% of Total
	
	
	% of Total
	in Net
	in Net

	(in millions)
	
	2019
	Net Sales
	
	2018
	Net Sales
	
	2017
	Net Sales
	Sales
	Sales

	Americas
	$
	1,924.0
	43%
	
	$
	1,960.3
	44%
	
	$
	1,870.9
	45%
	
	(2)%
	
	5 %

	Asia-Pacific
	
	1,258.2
	28
	
	
	1,239.0
	28
	
	
	1,095.0
	26
	
	2
	
	13

	Japan
	
	649.8
	15
	
	
	643.0
	15
	
	
	596.3
	14
	
	1
	
	8

	Europe
	
	498.3
	11
	
	
	504.4
	11
	
	
	489.0
	12
	
	(1)
	
	3

	Other
	
	93.7
	2
	
	
	95.4
	2
	
	
	118.6
	3
	
	(2)
	
	(20)

	
	$
	4,424.0
	
	
	$
	4,442.1
	
	
	$
	4,169.8
	
	
	— %
	
	7 %



Net Sales — 2019 compared with 2018. In 2019, worldwide net sales were approximately unchanged compared to 2018. On a constant-exchange-rate basis, worldwide sales increased 1%.

In 2019, jewelry sales represented 92% of worldwide net sales. Jewelry sales by product category were as follows:

	(in millions)
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	
	
	$ Change
	% Change
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Jewelry collections
	$
	2,420.2
	
	$
	2,374.3
	
	$
	45.9
	
	2 %
	

	Engagement jewelry
	
	1,139.5
	
	
	1,157.4
	
	
	(17.9)
	
	(2)
	

	Designer jewelry
	
	514.1
	
	
	544.5
	
	
	(30.4)
	
	(6)
	



The increase in net sales in the Jewelry collections category was driven primarily by the Tiffany T collection and High jewelry, partially offset by softness in other collections, while net sales in the Engagement jewelry and Designer jewelry categories reflected decreases across the categories.

Changes in net sales by reportable segment were as follows:

	
	
	
	
	Non-comparable
	
	Wholesale/
	
	

	(in millions)
	
	Comparable Sales
	
	Sales
	
	Other
	
	Total

	Americas
	$
	(39.4)
	$
	3.4
	$
	(0.3)
	$
	(36.3)

	Asia-Pacific
	
	(5.7)
	
	0.6
	
	24.3
	
	19.2

	Japan
	
	2.4
	
	4.7
	
	(0.3)
	
	6.8

	Europe
	
	(6.9)
	
	2.3
	
	(1.5)
	
	(6.1)
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In 2019, jewelry sales represented 89%, 98%, 93% and 96% of total net sales in the Americas, Asia-Pacific, Japan and Europe, respectively.

Changes in jewelry sales relative to the prior year were as follows:

	
	Average Price per Unit Sold
	

	
	
	Impact of Currency
	Number of

	
	As Reported
	Translation
	Units Sold

	Change in Jewelry Sales
	
	
	

	Americas
	10%
	— %
	(12)%

	Asia-Pacific
	8
	(3)
	(7)

	Japan
	3
	1
	(4)

	Europe
	10
	(3)
	(10)



Management believes the changes in average price per jewelry unit sold and the number of jewelry units sold include the effect of the Company's strategy of increasing average price per unit sold by growing sales of High jewelry and other gold and diamond jewelry within the Jewelry collections category at a faster rate than sales within the Engagement jewelry category and silver jewelry within the Jewelry collections category.

Americas. In 2019, total net sales decreased $36.3 million, or 2%, which included comparable sales decreasing $39.4 million, or 2%. Sales decreased across most of the region, which management attributed to lower spending by foreign tourists. On a constant-exchange-rate basis, total net sales and comparable sales decreased 2%.

Management attributed the increase in the average price per jewelry unit sold to a shift in sales mix to gold jewelry and High jewelry within the Jewelry collections category. The decrease in the number of jewelry units sold reflected decreases in all product categories.

Asia-Pacific. In 2019, total net sales increased $19.2 million, or 2%, which included comparable sales decreasing $5.7 million, or 1%. Total sales growth reflected increased wholesale sales and business sales. Additionally, total sales growth reflected double-digit sales growth in the Chinese Mainland, which was partially offset by a decrease in net sales in Hong Kong of 30%, which management attributed to significant disruptions that began earlier in 2019. Sales performance was mixed in other markets in the region. Management attributed these sales results to higher spending by local customers, partially offset by lower spending by foreign tourists. On a constant-exchange-rate basis, total net sales increased 5% and comparable sales increased 3%.

Management attributed the increase in the average price per jewelry unit sold to a shift in sales mix to High jewelry and gold jewelry within the Jewelry collections category. The decrease in the number of jewelry units sold reflected decreases in all product categories.

Japan. In 2019, total net sales increased $6.8 million, or 1%, and comparable sales were largely unchanged from the prior year. On a constant-exchange-rate basis, total net sales were largely unchanged and comparable sales decreased 1%.

Management attributed the increase in the average price per jewelry unit sold to a shift in sales mix to gold jewelry within the Jewelry collections category and to Engagement jewelry. The decrease in the number of jewelry units sold primarily reflected a decrease in the Jewelry collections and Designer jewelry categories, partly offset by an increase in the Engagement jewelry category.

Europe. In 2019, total net sales decreased $ 6.1 million, or 1%, which included comparable sales decreasing $6.9 million, or 1%. Management attributed the decrease in total net sales to the effect of foreign currency translation. On a constant-exchange-rate basis, total net sales and comparable sales increased 2%. Management attributed these sales results to modest changes in spending by local customers and foreign tourists.

Management attributed the increase in the average price per jewelry unit sold to a shift in sales mix to gold jewelry within the Jewelry collections category. The decrease in the number of jewelry units sold reflected decreases in the Jewelry collections and Designer jewelry categories.
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Other. In 2019, total net sales decreased $1.7 million, or 2%, primarily due to a decrease in wholesale sales of diamonds and lower comparable sales.

Store Data. In 2019, the Company increased gross retail square footage by 3%, net, through store openings, closings and relocations. The Company opened 9 stores and closed four: opening four in Japan, two in Asia-Pacific (in China), two in the Americas (in the U.S.), and one in Europe (in the U.K.), while closing two stores in the Americas (one each in the U.S. and Latin America), one store in Asia-Pacific (in China) and one store in Japan. In addition, the Company relocated or renovated 18 existing stores.

Sales per gross square foot generated by all company-operated stores were approximately $2,700 in 2019 and $2,800 in 2018.

Excluded from the store counts and sales per gross square foot amounts above are pop-up stores (stores with lease terms of 24 months or less).

Gross Margin

	(in millions)
	
	2019
	
	2018
	
	2017

	As reported:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gross profit
	$
	2,761.9
	$
	2,811.0
	$
	2,610.7

	Gross profit as a percentage of net sales
	
	62.4%
	
	63.3%
	
	62.6%

	On a Non-GAAP basis*:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gross profit
	$
	2,762.9
	
	
	
	

	Gross profit as a percentage of net sales
	
	62.5%
	
	
	
	



*See "Non-GAAP Measures" above for additional information.

Gross margin (gross profit as a percentage of net sales) decreased 90 basis points in 2019, partly reflecting a shift in sales mix toward higher price point jewelry, as well as sales deleverage on operating expenses. Additionally, the prior year period included the impact of an $8.5 million charge recorded in the third quarter of 2018 related to the bankruptcy filing of a metal refiner to which the Company entrusted precious scrap metal.

Management periodically reviews and adjusts its retail prices when appropriate to address product input cost increases, specific market conditions and changes in foreign currencies/U.S. dollar relationships. Its long-term strategy is to continue that approach, although significant increases in product input costs or weakening foreign currencies can affect gross margin negatively over the short-term until management makes necessary price adjustments. Among the market conditions that management considers are consumer demand for the product category involved, which may be influenced by consumer confidence and competitive pricing conditions. Management uses derivative instruments to mitigate certain foreign exchange and precious metal price exposures (see "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note I. Hedging Instruments"). Management adjusted retail prices in both 2019 and 2018 across most geographic regions and product categories, some of which were intended to mitigate the impact of foreign currency fluctuations.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

	(in millions)
	
	2019
	
	2018
	
	2017

	As reported:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	SG&A expenses
	$
	2,029.3
	$
	2,020.7
	$
	1,801.3

	SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales ("SG&A
	
	
	
	
	
	

	expense ratio")
	
	45.9%
	
	45.5%
	
	43.2%

	On a Non-GAAP basis*:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	SG&A expenses
	$
	2,009.1
	
	
	
	

	SG&A expense ratio
	
	45.4%
	
	
	
	



*See "Non-GAAP Measures" above for additional information.

SG&A expenses did not change significantly in 2019, which included certain costs related to the proposed Merger (see "Non-GAAP Measures" for further details). In addition to those costs, SG&A expenses in 2019 reflected decreased labor and incentive compensation costs, decreased marketing costs and decreased professional services costs, largely offset by increased store occupancy and depreciation expenses.

Excluding the 2019 items noted in "Non-GAAP Measures", SG&A expenses in 2019 decreased $11.6 million, or 1%, compared to 2018.

There was no significant effect on SG&A expense changes from foreign currency translation. SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales increased 40 basis points compared to 2018. SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales decreased 10 basis points when excluding the aforementioned costs related to the proposed Merger (see "Non-GAAP Measures").

The Company's SG&A expenses are largely fixed or controllable in nature (including, but not limited to, marketing costs, employees' salaries and benefits, fixed store rent and depreciation expenses), with the total of such costs representing approximately 80 - 85% of total SG&A expenses, and the remainder comprised of variable items (including, but not limited to, variable store rent, sales commissions and fees paid to credit card companies).

Earnings from Operations

	(in millions)
	
	2019
	
	2018
	
	2017

	As reported:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Earnings from operations
	$
	732.6
	$
	790.3
	$
	809.4

	Operating margin
	
	16.6%
	
	17.8%
	
	19.4%

	On a Non-GAAP basis*:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Earnings from operations
	$
	753.8
	
	
	
	

	Operating margin
	
	17.0%
	
	
	
	



*See "Non-GAAP Measures" above for additional information.

Earnings from operations decreased $57.7 million, or 7%, in 2019 and operating margin decreased 120 basis points, which included the impact of costs related to the proposed Merger (see "Non-GAAP Measures"), as well as a decrease in gross margin. Excluding these costs, operating margin decreased 80 basis points.
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	Results by segment were as follows:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	% of Net
	
	
	% of Net
	
	
	% of Net

	
	(in millions)
	
	2019
	Sales
	
	2018
	Sales
	
	2017
	Sales

	
	Earnings from operations*:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Americas
	$
	382.2
	19.9 %
	
	$
	386.7
	19.7 %
	
	$
	399.0
	21.3 %

	
	Asia-Pacific
	
	254.3
	20.2
	
	
	311.5
	25.1
	
	
	287.7
	26.3

	
	Japan
	
	229.7
	35.4
	
	
	237.2
	36.9
	
	
	209.3
	35.1

	
	Europe
	
	83.1
	16.7
	
	
	86.2
	17.1
	
	
	90.4
	18.5

	
	Other
	
	11.3
	12.1
	
	
	(6.4)
	(6.7)
	
	
	3.6
	3.0

	
	
	
	
	960.6
	
	
	
	1,015.2
	
	
	
	990.0
	

	
	Unallocated corporate
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	expenses
	
	(206.8)
	(4.7)%
	
	
	(224.9)
	(5.1)%
	
	
	(180.6)
	(4.3)%

	
	Earnings from operations before
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	other operating expenses
	
	753.8
	17.0 %
	
	
	790.3
	17.8 %
	
	
	809.4
	19.4 %

	
	Other operating expenses
	
	(21.2)
	
	
	
	—
	
	
	
	—
	

	
	Earnings from operations
	$
	732.6
	16.6 %
	
	$
	790.3
	17.8 %
	
	$
	809.4
	19.4 %



· Percentages represent earnings from operations as a percentage of each segment's net sales.

On a segment basis, the ratio of earnings from operations to each segment's net sales in 2019 compared with 2018 was as follows:

· Americas – the ratio increased 20 basis points due to a decrease in the SG&A expense ratio, primarily resulting from decreased labor and incentive compensation costs and decreased marketing spending, largely offset by a decrease in gross margin;

· Asia-Pacific – the ratio decreased 490 basis points due to sales deleverage on operating expenses largely attributed to business disruptions in Hong Kong, with store-related expenses in Asia Pacific growing at a higher rate than net sales, and a decrease in gross margin;

· Japan – the ratio decreased 150 basis points primarily due to sales deleverage on operating expenses; and

· Europe – the ratio decreased 40 basis points due to a decrease in gross margin, largely offset by a decrease in the SG&A expense ratio attributable to a decrease in marketing spending.

Unallocated corporate expenses include costs related to administrative support functions which the Company does not allocate to its segments. Such unallocated costs include those for centralized information technology, finance, legal and human resources departments. Unallocated corporate expenses decreased by $18.1 million, or 8%, in 2019, due to decreased labor and incentive compensation costs. Additionally, the prior year period included the impact of an $8.5 million charge recorded in the third quarter of 2018 related to the bankruptcy filing of a metal refiner to which the Company entrusted precious scrap metal.

The 2019 amount included in other operating expenses in the table above reflects $ 21.2 million for costs incurred related to the proposed Merger (see "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note B. Entry into Merger Agreement").

Interest Expense and Financing Costs

Interest expense and financing costs decreased $1.2 million, or 3%, in 2019.
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Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net includes the non-service cost components of net periodic benefit cost, interest income and gains/losses on investment activities and foreign currency transactions. Other expense, net decreased $3.3 million, or 46%, in 2019.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate was 21.6% in 2019 compared with 21.1% in 2018.


LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company's liquidity needs have been, and are expected to remain, primarily a function of its ongoing, seasonal and expansion-related working capital requirements and capital expenditure needs. Over the long term, the Company manages its cash and capital structure to maintain a strong financial position that provides flexibility to pursue strategic priorities. Management regularly assesses its working capital needs, capital expenditure requirements, debt service, dividend payouts and future investments. Management believes that cash on hand, internally generated cash flows and the funds available under its revolving credit facilities are sufficient to support the Company's liquidity and capital requirements for the foreseeable future.

At January 31, 2020, the Company's cash and cash equivalents totaled $874.7 million, of which approximately 30% was held in locations outside the U.S. where the Company has determined to maintain its assertion to indefinitely reinvest undistributed earnings to support its continued expansion and investments in such foreign locations. To the extent the Company were to repatriate such funds, it may incur withholding taxes, state income taxes and the tax expense or benefit associated with foreign currency gains or losses. The Company believes it has sufficient sources of cash in the U.S. to fund its U.S. operations without the need to repatriate those funds held outside the U.S. See "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note P. Income Taxes" for additional information. In addition, the Company had Short-term investments of $22.7 million at January 31, 2020.

The following table summarizes cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities:

	(in millions)
	
	2019
	
	2018
	
	2017

	Net cash provided by (used in):
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Operating activities
	$
	670.9
	$
	531.8
	$
	932.2

	Investing activities
	
	(279.3)
	
	(29.9)
	
	(481.1)

	Financing activities
	
	(307.9)
	
	(674.3)
	
	(421.1)

	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
	
	(1.6)
	
	(5.7)
	
	12.7

	Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
	$
	82.1
	$
	(178.1)
	$
	42.7



Operating Activities

The Company had net cash inflows from operating activities of $670.9 million in 2019 and $531.8 million in 2018. The increase in 2019 compared to 2018 primarily reflected decreases in inventory purchases, partly offset by a decrease in earnings.

Working Capital. Working capital (current assets less current liabilities) decreased to $2.9 billion at January 31, 2020 from $3.0 billion at January 31, 2019. The decrease in 2019 compared with 2018 included an increase in current liabilities (which reflects the adoption of ASC 842 – Leases in the current period, which established the Current portion of operating lease liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet).

Accounts receivable, net at January 31, 2020 decreased 2% from January 31, 2019. Currency translation had no significant effect on the change compared to the prior year.

Inventories, net at January 31, 2020 did not change significantly from January 31, 2019. Currency translation had no significant effect on the change compared to the prior year.
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Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at January 31, 2020 were 5% higher than at January 31, 2019, which primarily reflected an increase in accounts payable for store-related expenditures and professional services.

Investing Activities

The Company had net cash outflows from investing activities of $ 279.3 million in 2019 and $29.9 million in 2018. The increase in net cash outflows in 2019 compared to 2018 was driven by net cash flows resulting from purchases and sales of marketable securities and short-term investments and an increase in capital expenditures in 2019.

Marketable Securities and Short-Term Investments. The Company invests a portion of its cash in marketable securities and short-term investments. The Company had $37.0 million of net sales of marketable securities and short-term investments during 2019, compared with $240.0 million in 2018.

Capital Expenditures. Capital expenditures are typically related to the opening, renovation and/or relocation of stores (which represented approximately 55% and 60% of capital expenditures in 2019 and 2018, respectively), as well as distribution and manufacturing facilities and ongoing investments in information technology. Capital expenditures were $320.6 million in 2019 and $282.1 million in 2018, representing 7% and 6% of worldwide net sales in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Company's New York Flagship store closed in January 2020, at which time the Company began its complete renovation and temporarily moved its operations to the "Tiffany Flagship Next Door" at 6 East 57th Street. The renovation of the New York Flagship store is expected to lower diluted earnings per share by approximately $0.10 - $ 0.12 in fiscal years 2020 and 2021, due to the incremental costs associated with the adjacent space, and is expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2021.

Financing Activities

The Company had net cash outflows from financing activities of $307.9 million in 2019 and $674.3 million in 2018.

Borrowings. The Company had net proceeds from (repayments of) borrowings as follows:

	(in millions)
	
	2019
	
	2018
	
	2017

	Short-term borrowings:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Proceeds from (repayments of) credit facility borrowings, net
	$
	1.5
	$
	(18.4)
	$
	(67.8)

	Proceeds from other credit facility borrowings
	
	133.1
	
	49.3
	
	39.2

	Repayments of other credit facility borrowings
	
	(96.1)
	
	(32.0)
	
	(96.1)

	Net proceeds from (repayments of) total borrowings
	$
	38.5
	$
	(1.1)
	$
	(124.7)



Credit Facilities. On October 25, 2018, the Registrant, along with certain of its subsidiaries designated as borrowers thereunder, entered into a five-year multi-bank, multi-currency committed unsecured revolving credit facility, including a letter of credit subfacility, consisting of basic commitments in an amount up to $750.0 million (which commitments may be increased, subject to certain conditions and limitations, at the request of the Registrant) (the "Credit Facility"). The Credit Facility replaced the Registrant's previously existing $375.0 million four-year unsecured revolving credit facility and $375.0 million five-year unsecured revolving credit facility, which were each terminated and repaid in connection with the Registrant's entry into the Credit Facility.

The Credit Facility matures in 2023, provided that such maturity may be extended for one or two additional one-year periods at any time with the consent of the applicable lenders, as further described in the agreement governing such facility.

Commercial Paper. In August 2017, the Registrant and one of its wholly owned subsidiaries established a commercial paper program (the "Commercial Paper Program") for the issuance of commercial paper in the form of short-term promissory notes in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $750.0 million. Borrowings under the Commercial Paper Program may be used for general corporate purposes. The aggregate amount of borrowings that the Company is currently authorized to have outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program and the Registrant's
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Credit Facility is $750.0 million. The Registrant guarantees the obligations of its wholly owned subsidiary under the Commercial Paper Program. Maturities of commercial paper notes may vary, but cannot exceed 397 days from the date of issuance. Notes issued under the Commercial Paper Program rank equally with the Registrant's present and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.

Other Credit Facilities. Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement. In June 2019, the Registrant's indirect, wholly owned subsidiary, Tiffany & Co. (Shanghai) Commercial Company Limited ("Tiffany-Shanghai"), entered into a three-year multi-bank revolving credit agreement (the "Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement"). The Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement has an aggregate borrowing limit of RMB 408.0 million ($59.0 million at January 31, 2020), which may be increased to the RMB equivalent of $100.0 million, subject to certain conditions and limitations, at the request of Tiffany-Shanghai. The Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement, which matures in July 2022, was made available to refinance amounts outstanding under Tiffany-Shanghai's previously existing RMB 990.0 million three-year multi-bank revolving credit agreement (the "2016 Agreement"), which expired pursuant to its terms on July 11, 2019, as well as for Tiffany-Shanghai's ongoing general working capital requirements. The participating lenders make loans, upon Tiffany-Shanghai's request, for periods of up to 12 months at the applicable interest rates equal to 95% of the applicable rate as announced by the People's Bank of China (provided, that if such announced rate is below zero, the applicable interest rate shall be deemed to be zero). In June 2019, in connection with the Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement, the Registrant entered into a Guaranty Agreement by and between the Registrant and the facility agent under the Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement (the "Guaranty"). At January 31, 2020, there was $33.0 million available to be borrowed under the Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement and $26.0 million was outstanding.

The weighted-average interest rate for borrowings outstanding under all of the Company's credit facilities was 4.7% at January 31, 2020 and 3.7% at January 31, 2019.

The ratio of total debt (short-term borrowings and long-term debt) to stockholders' equity was 31% at January 31, 2020 and 32% at January 31, 2019.

At January 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.

Once consummated, the proposed Merger may result in certain of the Company's outstanding indebtedness becoming due, and the Company will need to comply with certain covenants of the agreements governing its outstanding indebtedness relating to the proposed Merger. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, if reasonably requested by Parent, the Company must use its commercially reasonable efforts to, among other things, take actions required to facilitate repayment of the Company's outstanding indebtedness.

For additional information regarding all of the Company's credit facilities, senior note issuances and other outstanding indebtedness, including the impact of the proposed Merger on the covenants in respect thereof, see "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note H. Debt."

Share Repurchases. In May 2018, the Registrant's Board of Directors approved a new share repurchase program (the "2018 Program"). The 2018 Program, which became effective June 1, 2018 and expires on January 31, 2022, authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $1.0 billion of its Common Stock through open market transactions, including through Rule 10b5-1 plans and one or more accelerated share repurchase ("ASR") or other structured repurchase transactions, and/or privately negotiated transactions. As of January 31, 2020, $471.6 million remained available under the 2018 Program; however, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, and subject to certain limited exceptions, the Company may not repurchase its Common Stock other than in connection with the forfeiture provisions of Company equity awards or the cashless exercise or tax withholding provisions of such Company equity awards, in each case, granted under the Company's stock-based compensation plans. Accordingly, the Company does not expect to repurchase any shares of its Common Stock in connection with the 2018 Program prior to the consummation of the proposed Merger or earlier termination of the Merger Agreement.

During 2018, the Company entered into ASR agreements with two third-party financial institutions to repurchase an aggregate of $250.0 million of its Common Stock. The ASR agreements were entered into under the 2018 Program. Pursuant to the ASR agreements, the Company made an aggregate payment of $250.0 million from available cash on hand in exchange for an initial delivery of 1,529,286 shares of its Common Stock. Final settlement of the ASR agreements was completed in July 2018, pursuant to which the Company received an additional 353,112 shares of its Common Stock. In total, 1,882,398 shares of the Company's Common Stock were repurchased under these ASR agreements at an average cost per share of $132.81 over the term of the agreements.
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The Company's share repurchase activity was as follows:


	(in millions, except per share amounts)
	
	2019
	
	2018
	
	2017

	Cost of repurchases
	$
	163.4
	$
	421.4
	$
	99.2

	Shares repurchased and retired
	
	1.8
	
	3.5
	
	1.0

	Average cost per share
	$
	91.15
	$
	121.28
	$
	94.86



Proceeds from exercised stock options. The Company's proceeds from exercised stock options were $108.4 million and $23.1 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Dividends. The cash dividend on the Company's Common Stock was increased once in each of 2019 and 2018. The Company's Board of Directors declared quarterly dividends which totaled $2.29 and $2.15 per common share in 2019 and 2018, respectively, with cash dividends paid of $276.3 million and $263.8 million in those respective years. The dividend payout ratio (dividends as a percentage of net earnings) was 51% and 45% in 2019 and 2018, respectively. Dividends as a percentage of adjusted net earnings (see "Non-GAAP Measures") were 49% in 2019.

Contractual Cash Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following is a summary of the Company's contractual cash obligations at January 31, 2020:

	(in millions)
	
	Total
	
	2020
	
	2021-2022
	
	2023-2024
	
	Thereafter

	Recorded contractual obligations:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Operating leases a
	$
	1,403.6
	$
	245.1
	$
	466.3
	$
	323.7
	$
	368.5

	Short-term borrowings
	
	147.9
	
	147.9
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—

	Long-term debt b
	
	891.9
	
	—
	
	50.0
	
	250.0
	
	591.9

	Unrecorded contractual obligations:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Inventory purchase obligations c
	
	229.8
	
	229.8
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—

	Interest on debt d
	
	557.4
	
	35.9
	
	70.7
	
	67.4
	
	383.4

	Other contractual obligations e
	
	152.1
	
	97.3
	
	44.9
	
	6.2
	
	3.7

	
	$
	3,382.7
	$
	756.0
	$
	631.9
	$
	647.3
	$
	1,347.5



a) Includes the minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases primarily for retail stores, offices, warehouses and distribution facilities (includes imputed interest of $192.4 million, which is not reflected within operating lease liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of January 31, 2020). See "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note K. Leases" for a discussion of the Company's operating leases.

b) Amounts exclude any unamortized discount or premium.

c) The Company will, from time to time, enter into arrangements to purchase rough diamonds that contain minimum purchase obligations. Inventory purchase obligations associated with these agreements have been estimated at approximately $30.0 million for 2020 and are included in this table. Purchases beyond 2020 that are contingent upon mine production have been excluded as they cannot be reasonably estimated.

d) Excludes interest payments on amounts outstanding under available lines of credit, as the outstanding amounts fluctuate based on the Company's working capital needs.

e) Consists primarily of technology licensing and service contracts, fixed royalty commitments, construction-in-progress and packaging supplies.

The summary above does not include the following items:

· Cash contributions to the Company's pension plan and cash payments for other postretirement obligations. The Company funds its U.S. pension plan's trust in accordance with regulatory limits to provide for current service and for the unfunded benefit obligation over a reasonable period and for current service benefit

TIFFANY & CO.

K-42

[bookmark: page44]Table of Contents

accruals. To the extent that these requirements are fully covered by assets in the Qualified Plan (as defined under "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note O. Employee Benefit Plans"), the Company may elect not to make any contribution in a particular year. No cash contribution was required in 2019 and none is required in 2020 to meet the minimum funding requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act. However, the Company periodically evaluates whether to make discretionary cash contributions to the Qualified Plan and made voluntary cash contributions of $30.0 million in 2019 and $11.8 million in 2018. The Company does not currently expect to make any contributions to the Qualified Plan in 2020.

· Unrecognized tax benefits of $19.7 million and accrued interest and penalties of $2.9 million at January 31, 2020. The final outcome of tax uncertainties is dependent upon various matters including tax examinations, interpretation of the applicable tax laws or expiration of statutes of limitations. The Company believes that its tax positions comply with applicable tax law and that it has adequately provided for these matters. However, the examinations may result in proposed assessments where the ultimate resolution may result in the Company owing additional taxes.

The following is a summary of the Company's outstanding borrowings and available capacity under its credit facilities at January 31, 2020:

	
	
	Total
	
	Borrowings
	
	Letters of Credit
	
	Available

	(in millions)
	
	Capacity
	
	Outstanding
	
	Issued
	
	Capacity

	Five-year revolving credit facility a, b
	$
	750.0
	$
	13.8
	$
	3.6
	$
	732.6

	Other credit facilities c
	
	247.9
	
	134.1
	
	—
	
	113.8

	
	$
	997.9
	$
	147.9
	$
	3.6
	$
	846.4



a) Matures in 2023.

b) The aggregate amount of borrowings that the Company is currently authorized to have outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program and the Credit Facility is $750.0 million. As of January 31, 2020, there were no borrowings outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program.

c) Maturities through 2022.

In addition, the Company has other available letters of credit and financial guarantees of $73.7 million, of which $48.5 million was outstanding at January 31, 2020. Of those available letters of credit and financial guarantees, $46.5 million expires within one year.

Seasonality

As a jeweler and specialty retailer, the Company's business is seasonal in nature, with the fourth quarter typically representing approximately one-third of annual net sales and a higher percentage of annual net earnings. Management expects such seasonality to continue.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The Company's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These principles require management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported and disclosed in the financial statements and related notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates and the differences could be material. Periodically, the Company reviews all significant estimates and assumptions affecting the financial statements and records any necessary adjustments.

The development and selection of critical accounting estimates and the related disclosures below have been reviewed with the Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors. The following critical accounting policies that rely on assumptions and estimates were used in the preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Inventory. The Company writes down its inventory for discontinued and slow-moving products. This write-down is equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and its net realizable value, and is based on assumptions about future demand and market conditions. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of
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business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation. The Company has not made any material changes in

the accounting methodology used to establish its reserve for discontinued and slow-moving products during the past three years. At

January 31, 2020, a 10% change in the reserve for discontinued and slow-moving products would have resulted in a change of $8.1 million in

inventory and cost of sales.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and key money. The Company reviews its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and key money for impairment when management determines that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable due to events or changes in circumstances. Recoverability of these assets is evaluated by comparing the carrying value of the asset with estimated future undiscounted cash flows. If the comparisons indicate that the value of the asset is not recoverable, an impairment loss is calculated as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the asset and the loss is recognized during that period. The Company did not record any significant impairment charges in 2019 or 2018.

Goodwill. The Company performs its annual impairment evaluation of goodwill during the fourth quarter of its fiscal year, or when circumstances otherwise indicate an evaluation should be performed. A qualitative assessment is first performed for each reporting unit to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If it is concluded that this is the case, a quantitative evaluation is performed and an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value during that period. The 2019 and 2018 evaluations resulted in no impairment charges.

Income taxes. The Company is subject to income taxes in U.S. federal and state, as well as foreign, jurisdictions. The calculation of the Company's tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions across the Company's global operations. Significant judgments, interpretations and estimates are required in determining consolidated income tax expense. The Company's income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities and reserves for uncertain tax positions reflect management's best assessment of estimated current and future taxes to be paid.

Foreign and domestic tax authorities periodically audit the Company's income tax returns. These audits often examine and test the factual and legal basis for positions the Company has taken in its tax filings with respect to its tax liabilities, including the timing and amount of income and deductions and the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions ("tax filing positions"). Management believes that its tax filing positions are reasonable and legally supportable. However, in specific cases, various tax authorities may take a contrary position. In evaluating the exposures associated with the Company's various tax filing positions, management records reserves using a more likely-than-not recognition threshold for tax benefits related to the income tax positions taken or expected to be taken. Earnings could be affected to the extent the Company prevails in matters for which reserves have been established or is required to pay amounts in excess of established reserves. At January 31, 2020, total unrecognized tax benefits were $19.7 million. As of January 31, 2020, unrecognized tax benefits are not expected to change materially in the next 12 months. Future developments may result in a change in this assessment.

In evaluating the Company's likelihood to recover its deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise, management considers all available evidence. The Company records valuation allowances when management determines it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized in the future.

Following the enactment of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "2017 Tax Act") on December 22, 2017, the SEC issued SAB 118 to address the application of U.S. GAAP in situations when a registrant did not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed (including computations) in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act. Specifically, SAB 118 provided a measurement period for companies to evaluate the impacts of the 2017 Tax Act on their financial statements. This measurement period began in the reporting period that included the enactment date and ended when an entity obtained, prepared and analyzed the information that was needed in order to complete the accounting requirements, but could not exceed one year. The Company adopted the provisions of SAB 118 with respect to the impact of the 2017 Tax Act on its 2017 consolidated financial statements.

Consistent with SAB 118, the Company calculated and recorded reasonable estimates in its 2017 consolidated financial statements for the impact of the one-time transition tax via a mandatory deemed repatriation of post-1986 undistributed foreign earnings and profits (the "Transition Tax") and the remeasurement of its deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. The Company also adopted the provisions of SAB 118 as it related to the assertion of the indefinite reinvestment of foreign earnings and profits. The charges recorded during the fourth quarter of 2017
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associated with the Transition Tax and the remeasurement of the Company's deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, as a result of applying the 2017 Tax Act, represented provisional amounts for which the Company's analysis was incomplete but reasonable estimates could be determined. Further, the impact of the 2017 Tax Act on the Company's assertion to indefinitely reinvest foreign earnings and profits was incomplete, as the Company continued to analyze the relevant provisions of the 2017 Tax Act and related accounting guidance.

During 2018, as permitted by SAB 118, the Company completed its analyses under the 2017 Tax Act, including those related to: (i) the provisional estimate recorded during 2017 for the Transition Tax; (ii) the provisional estimate recorded during 2017 to remeasure the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities; and (iii) the Company's assertion to indefinitely reinvest undistributed foreign earnings and profits.

As a result of completing these analyses, during 2018, the Company: (i) recorded tax benefits totaling $12.6 million to adjust the provisional estimate recorded in 2017 to remeasure the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities; (ii) recorded tax benefits totaling $3.3 million to adjust the provisional estimate recorded in 2017 for the Transition Tax; and (iii) determined to maintain its assertion to indefinitely reinvest undistributed foreign earnings and profits.

For additional information, see "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note P. Income Taxes."

Employee benefit plans. The Company maintains several pension and retirement plans and provides certain postretirement healthcare and life insurance benefits for retired employees. The Company makes certain assumptions that affect the underlying estimates related to pension and other postretirement costs. Significant changes in interest rates, the market value of securities and projected healthcare costs would require the Company to revise key assumptions and could result in a higher or lower charge to earnings.

The Company used a discount rate of 4.25% to determine 2019 expense for its U.S. Qualified Plan, 4.50% for its postretirement plans and 4.25% for its Excess Plan/SRIP (as defined under "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note O. Employee Benefit Plans"). Holding all other assumptions constant, a 0.5% increase in the discount rates would have decreased 2019 pension and postretirement expenses by $6.3 million and $0.8 million, respectively. A decrease of 0.5% in the discount rates would have increased the 2019 pension and postretirement expenses by $7.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively. The discount rate is subject to change each year, consistent with changes in the yield on applicable high-quality, long-term corporate bonds. Management selects a discount rate at which pension and postretirement benefits could be effectively settled based on (i) an analysis of expected benefit payments attributable to current employment service and (ii) appropriate yields related to such cash flows.

The Company used an expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets of 7.00% to determine its 2019 pension expense. Holding all other assumptions constant, a 0.5% change in the long-term rate of return would have changed the 2019 pension expense by $2.5 million. The expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets is selected by taking into account the average rate of return expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits included in the projected benefit obligation. More specifically, consideration is given to the expected rates of return (including reinvestment asset return rates) based upon the plan's current asset mix, investment strategy and the historical performance of plan assets.

For postretirement benefit measurement purposes, a 6.50% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care was assumed for 2020. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 4.75% by 2023 and remain at that level thereafter. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed health-care cost trend rate would not have a significant effect on the Company's accumulated postretirement benefit obligation for the year ended January 31, 2020 or aggregate service and interest cost components of the 2019 postretirement expense.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note C. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies."

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.


TIFFANY & CO.

K-45

[bookmark: page47]Table of Contents

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The Company is exposed to market risk from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, precious metal prices and interest rates, which could affect its consolidated financial position, earnings and cash flows. The Company manages its exposure to market risk through its regular operating and financing activities and, when deemed appropriate, through the use of derivative financial instruments. The Company uses derivative financial instruments as risk management tools and not for trading or speculative purposes.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to offset a portion of the foreign currency exchange risks associated with foreign currency-denominated liabilities, intercompany transactions and forecasted purchases of merchandise between entities with differing functional currencies. The maximum term of the Company's outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts as of January 31, 2020 is 12 months. At January 31, 2020 and 2019, the aggregate fair value of the Company's outstanding foreign exchange forwards was a net asset of $1.4 million and a net liability of $2.1 million, respectively.

The Company entered into cross-currency swaps to hedge the foreign currency exchange risk associated with Japanese yen-denominated and Euro-denominated intercompany loans. These cross-currency swaps are designated and accounted for as cash flow hedges. As of January 31, 2020, the notional amounts of cross-currency swaps accounted for as cash flow hedges and the respective maturity dates were as follows:

	Cross-Currency Swap
	
	
	Notional Amount

	Effective Date
	Maturity Date
	
	(in millions)
	
	(in millions)

	July 2016
	October 2024
	¥
	10,620.0
	$
	100.0

	March 2017
	April 2027
	¥
	11,000.0
	
	96.1

	May 2017
	April 2027
	¥
	5,634.5
	
	50.0

	August 2019
	August 2026
	€
	21.1
	
	23.6



At January 31, 2020 and 2019, the aggregate fair value of the Company's outstanding cross-currency swaps was a net asset of $1.0 million and a net liability of $19.9 million, respectively.

At January 31, 2020, for all of the contracts and swaps noted above, a 10% decrease in the hedged foreign currency exchange rates from the prevailing market rates would have resulted in a liability with a fair value of approximately $91.3 million.

Precious Metal Price Risk

The Company periodically hedges a portion of its forecasted purchases of precious metals for use in its internal manufacturing operations in order to manage the effect of volatility in precious metal prices. The Company may use a combination of call and put option contracts in net-zero-cost collar arrangements ("precious metal collars") or forward contracts. If the price of the precious metal at the time of the expiration of the precious metal collar is within the call and put price, the precious metal collar would expire at no cost to the Company. The maximum term of the Company's outstanding precious metal forward contracts and collars as of January 31, 2020 is 18 months. At January 31, 2020 and 2019, the aggregate fair value of the Company's outstanding precious metal derivative instruments was a net asset of $12.8 million and $2.5 million, respectively. At January 31, 2020, a 10% decrease in precious metal prices from the prevailing market rates would have resulted in a liability with a fair value of approximately $4.1 million.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Tiffany & Co.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tiffany & Co. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of January 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, of comprehensive earnings, of stockholders' equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 31, 2020, including the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of January 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 31, 2020 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note C to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for leases as of February 1, 2019.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company's consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Income Taxes

As described in Notes C and P to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recorded a provision for income taxes of $149 million for the year ended January 31, 2020. As disclosed by management, the calculation of the Company's tax liabilities involves uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions across the Company's global operations. Significant judgments, interpretations and estimates are required by management in determining consolidated income tax expense. The Company's income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities and reserves for uncertain tax positions reflect management's best assessment of estimated current and future taxes to be paid.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to accounting for income taxes is a critical audit matter are there was significant judgment by management when evaluating complex tax laws and regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions. This in turn led to a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in evaluating the Company's accounting for complex tax laws and regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions, including deferred tax assets and liabilities and management's assessment of the estimated current and future taxes to be paid. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating the audit evidence obtained.
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Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to accounting for income taxes, including evaluation of permanent and temporary differences within jurisdictions, the rate reconciliation and the provision to tax return reconciliation. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in (i) evaluating the provision for income taxes, including the reasonableness of management's judgments and estimates in the application of tax laws and regulations in certain jurisdictions;

(ii) testing the current and deferred income tax provision, including evaluation of permanent and temporary differences within certain jurisdictions and management's assessment of the technical merits of the differences; (iii) performing procedures over the Company's rate reconciliation; and (iv) testing the reconciliation of the provision to the tax returns.



/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York

March 20, 2020

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1984.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
[image: ]

	
	
	
	
	January 31,
	

	(in millions, except per share amounts)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	

	ASSETS
	
	
	
	
	

	Current assets:
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	$
	874.7
	$
	792.6
	

	Short-term investments
	
	22.7
	
	62.7
	

	Accounts receivable, net
	
	240.0
	
	245.4
	

	Inventories, net
	
	2,463.9
	
	2,428.0
	

	Prepaid expenses and other current assets
	
	274.2
	
	230.8
	

	Total current assets
	
	3,875.5
	
	3,759.5
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Operating lease right-of-use assets
	
	1,102.7
	
	—
	

	Property, plant and equipment, net
	
	1,098.8
	
	1,026.7
	

	Deferred income taxes
	
	225.2
	
	215.8
	

	Other assets, net
	
	357.9
	
	331.0
	

	
	$
	6,660.1
	$
	5,333.0
	

	LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current liabilities:
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term borrowings
	$
	147.9
	$
	113.4
	

	Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
	
	541.5
	
	513.4
	

	Current portion of operating lease liabilities
	
	202.8
	
	—
	

	Income taxes payable
	
	16.4
	
	21.4
	

	Merchandise credits and deferred revenue
	
	61.8
	
	69.9
	

	Total current liabilities
	
	970.4
	
	718.1
	

	Long-term debt
	
	884.1
	
	883.4
	

	Pension/postretirement benefit obligations
	
	374.5
	
	312.4
	

	Deferred gains on sale-leasebacks
	
	—
	
	31.1
	

	Long-term portion of operating lease liabilities
	
	1,008.4
	
	—
	

	Other long-term liabilities
	
	87.3
	
	257.1
	

	Commitments and contingencies
	
	
	
	
	

	Stockholders' equity:
	
	
	
	
	

	Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value; authorized 2.0 shares, none issued and outstanding
	
	—
	
	—
	

	Common Stock, $0.01 par value; authorized 240.0 shares, issued and outstanding 121.2 and
	
	
	
	
	

	121.5
	
	1.2
	
	1.2
	

	Additional paid-in capital
	
	1,387.3
	
	1,275.4
	

	Retained earnings
	
	2,207.6
	
	2,045.6
	

	Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax
	
	(273.2)
	
	(204.8)
	

	Total Tiffany & Co. stockholders' equity
	
	3,322.9
	
	3,117.4
	

	Non-controlling interests
	
	12.5
	
	13.5
	

	Total stockholders' equity
	
	3,335.4
	
	3,130.9
	

	
	$
	6,660.1
	$
	5,333.0
	

	
	
	
	
	
	



See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
[image: ]

Years Ended January 31,

	(in millions, except per share amounts)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Net sales
	$
	4,424.0
	$
	4,442.1
	$
	4,169.8

	Cost of sales
	
	1,662.1
	
	1,631.1
	
	1,559.1

	Gross profit
	
	2,761.9
	
	2,811.0
	
	2,610.7

	Selling, general and administrative expenses
	
	2,029.3
	
	2,020.7
	
	1,801.3

	Earnings from operations
	
	732.6
	
	790.3
	
	809.4

	Interest expense and financing costs
	
	38.5
	
	39.7
	
	42.0

	Other expense, net
	
	3.8
	
	7.1
	
	6.9

	Earnings from operations before income taxes
	
	690.3
	
	743.5
	
	760.5

	Provision for income taxes
	
	149.2
	
	157.1
	
	390.4

	Net earnings
	$
	541.1
	$
	586.4
	$
	370.1

	Net earnings per share:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic
	$
	4.47
	$
	4.77
	$
	2.97

	Diluted
	$
	4.45
	$
	4.75
	$
	2.96

	Weighted-average number of common shares:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic
	
	121.1
	
	122.9
	
	124.5

	Diluted
	
	121.6
	
	123.5
	
	125.1



See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS
[image: ]

Years Ended January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Net earnings
	$
	541.1
	$
	586.4
	$
	370.1

	Other comprehensive (loss) earnings, net of tax
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Foreign currency translation adjustments
	
	(22.4)
	
	(60.2)
	
	95.7

	Unrealized loss on marketable securities
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(2.6)

	Unrealized gain (loss) on hedging instruments
	
	34.7
	
	(1.6)
	
	(6.8)

	Unrealized (loss) gain on benefit plans
	
	(54.7)
	
	(6.8)
	
	31.9

	Total other comprehensive (loss) earnings, net of tax
	
	(42.4)
	
	(68.6)
	
	118.2

	Comprehensive earnings
	$
	498.7
	$
	517.8
	$
	488.3



See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
[image: ]

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Accumulated
	Common Stock
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Total
	
	
	
	Other
	
	
	Additional
	
	Non-
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	(in millions)
	
	Stockholders'
	
	Retained
	
	Comprehensive
	
	
	
	
	Paid-In
	
	Controlling
	
	

	
	
	Equity
	
	Earnings
	
	Loss
	Shares
	
	Amount
	
	Capital
	
	Interests
	
	

	Balance at January 31, 2017
	$
	3,028.4
	$
	2,078.3
	$
	(256.2)
	124.5
	$
	1.2
	$
	1,190.2
	$
	14.9
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Exercise of stock options and vesting of
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	restricted stock units ("RSUs")
	
	54.6
	
	—
	
	—
	1.1
	
	—
	
	54.6
	
	—
	
	

	Shares withheld related to net share
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	settlement of share-based
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	compensation
	
	(8.6)
	
	—
	
	—
	(0.1)
	
	—
	
	(8.6)
	
	—
	
	

	Share-based compensation expense
	
	28.2
	
	—
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	28.2
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Purchase and retirement of Common
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Stock
	
	(99.2)
	
	(90.8)
	
	—
	(1.0)
	
	—
	
	(8.4)
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash dividends on Common Stock
	
	(242.6)
	
	(242.6)
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accrued dividends on share-based
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	awards
	
	(0.8)
	
	(0.8)
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other comprehensive earnings, net of
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	tax
	
	118.2
	
	—
	
	118.2
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	Net earnings
	
	370.1
	
	370.1
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Non-controlling interests
	
	(0.1)
	
	—
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(0.1)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Balance at January 31, 2018
	
	3,248.2
	
	2,114.2
	
	(138.0)
	124.5
	
	1.2
	
	1,256.0
	
	14.8
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Exercise of stock options and vesting of
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	RSUs
	
	23.1
	
	—
	
	—
	0.6
	
	—
	
	23.1
	
	—
	
	

	Shares withheld related to net share
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	settlement of share-based
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	compensation
	
	(8.6)
	
	—
	
	—
	(0.1)
	
	—
	
	(8.6)
	
	—
	
	

	Share-based compensation expense
	
	34.1
	
	—
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	34.1
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Purchase and retirement of Common
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Stock
	
	(421.4)
	
	(392.1)
	
	—
	(3.5)
	
	—
	
	(29.3)
	
	—
	
	

	Cash dividends on Common Stock
	
	(263.8)
	
	(263.8)
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accrued dividends on share-based
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	awards
	
	(1.1)
	
	(1.2)
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	0.1
	
	—
	
	

	Cumulative effect adjustment from
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	adoption of new accounting standards
	
	3.9
	
	2.1
	
	1.8
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
	
	(68.6)
	
	—
	
	(68.6)
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net earnings
	
	586.4
	
	586.4
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Non-controlling interests
	
	(1.3)
	
	—
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(1.3)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Balance at January 31, 2019
	
	3,130.9
	
	2,045.6
	
	(204.8)
	121.5
	
	1.2
	
	1,275.4
	
	13.5
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Exercise of stock options and vesting of
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	RSUs
	
	108.4
	
	—
	
	—
	1.6
	
	—
	
	108.4
	
	—
	
	

	Shares withheld related to net share
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	settlement of share-based
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	compensation
	
	(15.2)
	
	—
	
	—
	(0.1)
	
	—
	
	(15.2)
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Share-based compensation expense
	
	33.4
	
	—
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	33.4
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Purchase and retirement of Common
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Stock
	
	(163.4)
	
	(148.0)
	
	—
	(1.8)
	
	—
	
	(15.4)
	
	—
	
	

	Cash dividends on Common Stock
	
	(276.3)
	
	(276.3)
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accrued dividends on share-based
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	awards
	
	(1.9)
	
	(2.6)
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	0.7
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cumulative effect adjustment from
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	adoption of new accounting standards
	
	21.8
	
	47.8
	
	(26.0)
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
	
	(42.4)
	
	—
	
	(42.4)
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net earnings
	
	541.1
	
	541.1
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Non-controlling interests
	
	(1.0)
	
	—
	
	—
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(1.0)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Balance at January 31, 2020
	$
	3,335.4
	$
	2,207.6
	$
	(273.2)
	121.2
	$
	1.2
	$
	1,387.3
	$
	12.5
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
[image: ]

	
	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,
	
	

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018
	
	

	CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net earnings
	$
	541.1
	$
	586.4
	$
	370.1
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Depreciation and amortization
	
	259.7
	
	229.0
	
	206.9
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Amortization of gain on sale-leasebacks
	
	—
	
	(8.4)
	
	(8.2)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Provision for inventories
	
	21.6
	
	54.4
	
	28.9
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred income taxes
	
	6.6
	
	(21.3)
	
	96.8
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Provision for pension/postretirement benefits
	
	29.4
	
	35.7
	
	35.0
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Share-based compensation expense
	
	33.2
	
	34.1
	
	28.0
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Loan impairment charges
	
	—
	
	—
	
	3.0
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Asset impairment charges
	
	—
	
	—
	
	10.0
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	(Gains) losses on sales of marketable securities
	
	(2.6)
	
	2.3
	
	(3.5)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Changes in assets and liabilities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accounts receivable
	
	3.7
	
	(30.8)
	
	7.0
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Inventories
	
	(72.7)
	
	(270.5)
	
	(52.9)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Prepaid expenses and other current assets
	
	(36.3)
	
	(11.3)
	
	(28.8)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other assets, net
	
	(35.6)
	
	(22.2)
	
	(3.7)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
	
	33.0
	
	53.7
	
	98.8
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Income taxes payable
	
	(90.9)
	
	(104.6)
	
	149.7
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Merchandise credits and deferred revenue
	
	(7.3)
	
	(1.0)
	
	6.2
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other long-term liabilities
	
	(12.0)
	
	6.3
	
	(11.1)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net cash provided by operating activities
	
	670.9
	
	531.8
	
	932.2
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Purchases of marketable securities and short-term investments
	
	(53.0)
	
	(154.1)
	
	(598.0)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Proceeds from sales of marketable securities and short-term investments
	
	90.0
	
	394.1
	
	351.4
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Capital expenditures
	
	(320.6)
	
	(282.1)
	
	(239.3)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other, net
	
	4.3
	
	12.2
	
	4.8
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net cash used in investing activities
	
	(279.3)
	
	(29.9)
	
	(481.1)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Proceeds from (repayment of) credit facility borrowings, net
	
	1.5
	
	(18.4)
	
	(67.8)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Proceeds from other credit facility borrowings
	
	133.1
	
	49.3
	
	39.2
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Repayment of other credit facility borrowings
	
	(96.1)
	
	(32.0)
	
	(96.1)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Repurchase of Common Stock
	
	(163.4)
	
	(421.4)
	
	(99.2)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Proceeds from exercised stock options
	
	108.4
	
	23.1
	
	54.6
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Payments related to tax withholding for share-based payment arrangements
	
	(15.1)
	
	(8.6)
	
	(8.7)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash dividends on Common Stock
	
	(276.3)
	
	(263.8)
	
	(242.6)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Distribution to non-controlling interest
	
	—
	
	(0.3)
	
	(0.5)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Financing fees
	
	—
	
	(2.2)
	
	—
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net cash used in financing activities
	
	(307.9)
	
	(674.3)
	
	(421.1)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
	
	(1.6)
	
	(5.7)
	
	12.7
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
	
	82.1
	
	(178.1)
	
	42.7
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
	
	792.6
	
	970.7
	
	928.0
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
	$
	874.7
	$
	792.6
	$
	970.7
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Tiffany & Co. (the "Registrant") is a holding company that operates through Tiffany and Company ("Tiffany") and the Registrant's other subsidiary companies (collectively, the "Company"). The Registrant, through its subsidiaries, designs and manufactures products and operates TIFFANY & CO. retail stores worldwide, and also sells its products through Internet, catalog, business-to-business and wholesale distribution. The Company's principal merchandise offering is jewelry (representing 92% of worldwide net sales in 2019); it also sells watches, home and accessories products and fragrances.

The Company's reportable segments are as follows:

· Americas includes sales in Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores in the United States, Canada and Latin America, as well as sales of TIFFANY & CO. products in certain markets through Internet, catalog, business-to-business and wholesale operations;

· Asia-Pacific includes sales in Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores, as well as sales of TIFFANY & CO. products in certain markets through Internet, business-to-business and wholesale operations;

· Japan includes sales in Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores, as well as sales of TIFFANY & CO. products through Internet, business-to-business and wholesale operations;

· Europe includes sales in Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores, as well as sales of TIFFANY & CO. products in certain markets through Internet and wholesale operations; and

· Other consists of all non-reportable segments. Other includes the Emerging Markets region, which includes sales in Company-operated TIFFANY & CO. stores and wholesale operations in the Middle East. In addition, Other includes wholesale sales of diamonds as well as earnings from third-party licensing agreements.

B. ENTRY INTO MERGER AGREEMENT

On November 24, 2019, the Registrant entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") by and among the Registrant, LVMH Moët Hennessy - Louis Vuitton SE, a societas Europaea (European company) organized under the laws of France ("Parent"), Breakfast Holdings Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Holding"), and Breakfast Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Holding ("Merger Sub"). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will be merged with and into the Registrant (the "Merger"), with the Registrant continuing as the surviving company in the Merger and a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Parent.

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger (the "Effective Time"), each share of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than shares of Common Stock owned by the Registrant, Parent or any of their respective wholly owned subsidiaries, and shares of Common Stock owned by stockholders of the Registrant who have properly demanded and not withdrawn a demand for appraisal rights under Delaware law) will be converted into the right to receive $135.00 in cash, without interest and less any required tax withholding.

The consummation of the proposed Merger is subject to various conditions, including, among others, customary conditions relating to (a) the adoption of the Merger Agreement by holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Registrant's Common Stock entitled to vote on such matter at the meeting of stockholders of the Registrant (the "Special Meeting") held to vote on the adoption of the Merger Agreement and (b) the expiration or earlier termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 (as amended, and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, collectively, the "HSR Act"). As previously announced, on February 3, 2020, the waiting period under the HSR Act in connection with the proposed Merger expired, and on February 4, 2020, the Company held the Special Meeting, at which the holders of shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding as of the close of business on the record date for the Special Meeting considered and voted to approve
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(i) the adoption of the Merger Agreement and (ii) by non-binding, advisory vote, certain compensation arrangements for the Company's named executive officers in connection with the proposed Merger. The proposed Merger remains subject to satisfaction or waiver of the remaining customary closing conditions, including, among others, (A) certain non-U.S. regulatory approvals, (B) clearance by the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States ("CFIUS"), (C) the absence of a law or order in effect that enjoins, prevents or otherwise prohibits the consummation of the proposed Merger or any other transactions contemplated under the Merger Agreement issued by a governmental entity; (D) the absence of any legal proceeding seeking to enjoin, prevent or otherwise prohibit the consummation of the proposed Merger or any other transactions contemplated under the Merger Agreement instituted by a governmental entity of competent jurisdiction; and (E) the absence of a Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the Merger Agreement). The obligation of each party to consummate the proposed Merger is also conditioned on the accuracy of the other party's representations and warranties (subject to certain materiality exceptions) and the other party's compliance, in all material respects, with its covenants and agreements under the Merger Agreement.

The Merger Agreement provides for certain customary termination rights of the Registrant and Parent, including the right of either party to terminate the Merger Agreement if the Merger is not completed on or before August 24, 2020 (the "Outside Date"), provided that the Outside Date may be extended up to an additional 90 days by either party if all conditions are satisfied other than the receipt of regulatory approvals and CFIUS clearance or absence of legal restraints. The Merger Agreement also provides that the Registrant will be required to pay Parent a termination fee of $575.0 million in certain circumstances.

During the three months ended January 31, 2020, the Company incurred expenses of $21.2 million related to the proposed Merger for professional fees and incentive compensation costs.

C. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fiscal Year

The Company's fiscal year ends on January 31 of the following calendar year. All references to years relate to fiscal years rather than calendar years.

Basis of Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Tiffany & Co. and its subsidiaries in which a controlling interest is maintained. Controlling interest is determined by majority ownership interest and the absence of substantive third-party participating rights or, in the case of variable interest entities (VIEs), if the Company has the power to significantly direct the activities of a VIE, as well as the obligation to absorb significant losses of or the right to receive significant benefits from the VIE. Intercompany accounts, transactions and profits have been eliminated in consolidation. The equity method of accounting is used for investments in which the Company has significant influence, but not a controlling interest.

Use of Estimates

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"); these principles require management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and related notes to the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates and the differences could be material. Periodically, the Company reviews all significant estimates and assumptions affecting the consolidated financial statements relative to current conditions and records the effect of any necessary adjustments.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value. Cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less and consist of time deposits and/or money market fund investments with a number of U.S. and non-U.S. financial institutions with high credit ratings. The Company's policy restricts the amount invested with any one financial institution.
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Short-Term Investments

The Company's short-term investments consist of time deposits and are carried at fair value. At the time of purchase, management determines the appropriate classification of these investments and reevaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date.

Receivables and Financing Arrangements

Receivables. The Company's Accounts receivable, net primarily consists of amounts due from Credit Receivables (defined below), department store operators that host TIFFANY & CO. boutiques in their stores, third-party credit card issuers and wholesale customers. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses associated with outstanding accounts receivable. The allowance is determined based on a combination of factors including, but not limited to, the length of time that the receivables are past due, management's knowledge of the customer, economic and market conditions and historical write-off experiences.

For the receivables associated with Tiffany & Co. credit cards ("Credit Card Receivables"), management uses various indicators to determine whether to extend credit to customers and the amount of credit. Such indicators include reviewing prior experience with the customer, including sales and collection history, and using applicants' credit reports and scores provided by credit rating agencies. Certain customers may be granted payment terms which permit purchases above a minimum amount to be paid for in equal monthly installments over a period not to exceed 12 months (together with Credit Card Receivables, "Credit Receivables"). Credit Receivables require minimum balance payments. An account is classified as overdue if a minimum balance payment has not been received within the allotted timeframe (generally 30 days), after which internal collection efforts commence. In order for the account to return to current status, full payment on all past due amounts must be received by the Company. For all Credit Receivables, once all internal collection efforts have been exhausted and management has reviewed the account, the account balance is written off and may be sent for external collection or legal action. At January 31, 2020 and 2019, the carrying amount of Credit Receivables (recorded in Accounts receivable, net) was $ 98.5 million and $87.0 million, respectively, of which 97% and 98% was considered current. Finance charges earned on Credit Receivables accounts were not significant.

At January 31, 2020, accounts receivable allowances totaled $33.0 million compared to $31.5 million at January 31, 2019.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value using the average cost method, except for certain diamond and gemstone jewelry, which uses the specific identification method.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

	Buildings
	39 years

	Machinery and equipment
	5-15 years

	Office equipment
	3-8 years

	Software
	5-10 years

	Furniture and fixtures
	3-10 years




Leasehold improvements and building improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives (primarily ranging from 8-10 years) or the related lease terms or building life, respectively. Maintenance and repair costs are charged to earnings while expenditures for major renewals and improvements are capitalized. Upon the disposition of property, plant and equipment, the accumulated depreciation is deducted from the original cost and any gain or loss is reflected in current earnings.
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The Company capitalizes interest on borrowings during the active construction period of major capital projects. Capitalized interest is added to the cost of the underlying assets and is amortized over the useful lives of the assets. The Company's capitalized interest costs were not significant in 2019, 2018 or 2017.

Information Systems Development Costs

Eligible costs incurred during the development stage of information systems projects are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the related project. Eligible costs include those related to the purchase, development, and installation of the related software. Costs incurred prior to the development stage, as well as costs for maintenance, data conversion, training, and other general and administrative costs, are expensed as incurred. Costs that are capitalized are included in Property, plant and equipment, net in Construction-in-progress while in the development stage and in Software once placed into service.

Capitalized software costs are subject to the Company's accounting policy related to the review of long-lived assets for impairment. See "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets" below for further details.

Intangible Assets and Key Money

Intangible assets, consisting of product rights and trademarks, are recorded at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range from 15 to 20 years. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance with the Company's policy for impairment of long-lived assets (see "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets" below).

Key money is the amount of funds paid to a landlord or tenant to acquire the rights of tenancy under a commercial property lease for a certain property. Key money represents the "right to lease" with an automatic right of renewal. This right can be subsequently sold by the Company or can be recovered should the landlord refuse to allow the automatic right of renewal to be exercised. Key money is amortized over the estimated useful life, 39 years.

The following table summarizes intangible assets and key money, included in Other assets, net:

	
	
	January 31, 2020
	
	January 31, 2019

	
	
	Gross Carrying
	
	Accumulated
	
	Gross Carrying
	
	Accumulated

	(in millions)
	
	Amount
	
	Amortization
	
	Amount
	
	Amortization

	Product rights
	$
	48.9
	$
	(18.4)
	$
	48.9
	$
	(16.0)

	Key money
	
	32.2
	
	(6.3)
	
	34.1
	
	(6.0)

	Trademarks
	
	2.5
	
	(2.5)
	
	2.5
	
	(2.5)

	
	$
	83.6
	$
	(27.2)
	$
	85.5
	$
	(24.5)




Amortization of intangible assets and key money was $3.3 million for year ended January 31, 2020 and $ 3.4 million for the years ended January 31, 2019 and 2018. Amortization expense is estimated to be $3.2 million in each of the next five years.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment annually in the fourth quarter, or when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the value of goodwill may be impaired. A qualitative assessment is first performed for each reporting unit to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If it is concluded that this is the case, a quantitative evaluation is performed and an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value during that period. Goodwill, included in Other assets, net, consisted of the following by reportable segment:

	(in millions)
	
	Americas
	
	Asia-Pacific
	Japan
	
	Europe
	
	Other
	
	
	Total

	January 31, 2018
	$
	12.2
	$
	0.3
	$
	1.0
	$
	1.1
	$
	24.5
	$
	39.1

	Translation
	
	(0.1)
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(0.3)
	
	(0.4)

	January 31, 2019
	
	12.1
	
	0.3
	
	1.0
	
	1.1
	
	24.2
	
	38.7

	Translation
	
	(0.1)
	
	—
	
	(0.1)
	
	—
	
	(0.1)
	
	(0.3)

	January 31, 2020
	$
	12.0
	$
	0.3
	$
	0.9
	$
	1.1
	$
	24.1
	$
	38.4




The Company recorded no impairment charges related to goodwill in 2019, 2018 or 2017.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets (such as property, plant and equipment) other than goodwill for impairment when management determines that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable due to events or changes in circumstances. Recoverability of long-lived assets is evaluated by comparing the carrying value of the asset with its estimated future undiscounted cash flows. If the comparisons indicate that the value of the asset is not recoverable, an impairment loss is calculated as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the asset and the loss is recognized during that period. There were no significant impairment charges related to long-lived assets during 2019 or 2018. In 2017, the Company recorded aggregate impairment charges of $10.0 million within Selling, general and administrative expenses related to property, plant and equipment.

Leases

The Company leases certain office, distribution, retail and manufacturing facilities, land and equipment. Retail store leases may require the payment of minimum rentals and contingent rent based on a percentage of sales exceeding a stipulated amount. The lease agreements, which expire at various dates through 2062, are subject, in many cases, to renewal options and provide for the payment of taxes, insurance and maintenance. Certain leases contain escalation clauses resulting from the pass through of increases in operating costs, property taxes and the effect on costs from changes in consumer price indices.

The Company determines its lease payments based on predetermined rent escalations (including escalations based on consumer price indices), rent-free periods and other incentives. The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the related terms of such leases, beginning from when the Company takes possession of the leased facility. Variable rents, including contingent rent based on a percentage of sales and adjustments to consumer price indices, are recorded in the period such amounts and adjustments are determined. Lease terms include renewal options when exercise of such options is reasonably certain and within the control of the Company. There is generally no readily determinable discount rate implicit in the Company's leases. Accordingly, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate for a term that corresponds to the applicable lease term in order to measure its lease liabilities.

The amounts of the Company's right-of-use asset and current and non-current lease liabilities are presented separately on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of January 31, 2020. Substantially all of the Company's leases are operating leases as of January 31, 2020. The Company records lease expense within Cost of sales for leases of manufacturing facilities and within Selling, general and administrative expenses for all other leases.
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Hedging Instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate a portion of its foreign currency, precious metal price and interest rate exposures. Derivative instruments are recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at their fair values, as either assets or liabilities, with an offset to current or other comprehensive earnings, depending on whether a derivative is designated as part of an effective hedge transaction and, if it is, the type of hedge transaction.

Marketable Securities

The Company's marketable securities primarily consist of investments in mutual funds and are recorded within Other assets, net, at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and losses recorded in earnings. Marketable securities are held for an indefinite period of time, but may be sold in the future as changes in market conditions or economic factors occur. The fair value of marketable securities is determined based on prevailing market prices.

Merchandise Credits and Deferred Revenue

Merchandise credits and deferred revenue primarily represent outstanding gift cards sold to customers and outstanding credits issued to customers for returned merchandise. All such outstanding items may be tendered for future merchandise purchases. A gift card liability is established when the gift card is sold. A merchandise credit liability is established when a merchandise credit is issued to a customer for a returned item and the original sale is reversed. These liabilities are relieved when revenue is recognized for transactions in which a merchandise credit or gift card is used as a form of payment.

If merchandise credits or gift cards are not redeemed over an extended period of time (for example, approximately three to five years in the U.S.), the value associated with the merchandise credits or gift cards may be subject to remittance to the applicable jurisdiction in accordance with unclaimed property laws. The Company determines the amount of breakage income to be recognized on gift cards and merchandise credits using historical experience to estimate amounts that will ultimately not be redeemed. The Company recognizes such breakage income in proportion to redemption rates of the overall population of gift cards and merchandise credits.

In 2019, the Company recognized net sales of approximately $33.0 million related to the Merchandise credits and deferred revenue balance that existed at January 31, 2019.

Revenue Recognition

The following table disaggregates the Company's net sales by major source:

Years Ended January 31,
[image: ]

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Net sales*:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Jewelry collections
	$
	2,420.2
	$
	2,374.3
	$
	2,146.6

	Engagement jewelry
	
	1,139.5
	
	1,157.4
	
	1,111.9

	Designer jewelry
	
	514.1
	
	544.5
	
	551.2

	All other
	
	350.2
	
	365.9
	
	360.1

	
	$
	4,424.0
	$
	4,442.1
	$
	4,169.8


[image: ]

*Certain reclassifications within the jewelry categories have been made to the prior year amounts to conform to the current year category presentation.

The Company's performance obligations consist primarily of transferring control of merchandise to customers. Sales are recognized upon transfer of control, which occurs when merchandise is taken in an "over-the-counter" transaction or upon receipt by a customer in a shipped transaction, such as through the Internet and catalog channels. Sales are reported net of returns, sales tax and other similar taxes. The Company excludes from the measurement of the transaction price all taxes assessed by a governmental authority and collected by the entity from a customer.
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Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are recognized in net sales when control of the underlying merchandise is transferred to the customer. The related shipping and handling charges incurred by the Company represent fulfillment activities and are included in Cost of sales.

The Company maintains a reserve for potential product returns and records (as a reduction to sales and cost of sales) its provision for estimated product returns, which is determined based on historical experience.

As a practical expedient, the Company does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component when management expects, at contract inception, that the period between the transfer of a product to a customer and when the customer pays for that product is one year or less.

Additionally, outside of the U.S., the Company operates certain TIFFANY & CO. stores within various department stores. Sales transacted at these store locations are recognized upon transfer of control, which occurs when merchandise is taken in an "over-the-counter" transaction. The Company and these department store operators have distinct responsibilities and risks in the operation of such TIFFANY & CO. stores. The Company (i) owns and manages the merchandise; (ii) establishes retail prices; (iii) has merchandising, marketing and display responsibilities; and (iv) in almost all locations provides retail staff and bears the risk of inventory loss. The department store operators (i) provide and maintain store facilities; (ii) in almost all locations assume retail credit and certain other risks; and (iii) act for the Company in the sale of merchandise. In return for their services and use of their facilities, the department store operators retain a portion of net retail sales made in TIFFANY & CO. stores which is recorded as rent expense within Selling, general and administrative expenses.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes costs to internally manufacture merchandise (primarily metals, gemstones, labor and overhead), costs related to the purchase of merchandise from third-parties, inbound freight, purchasing and receiving, inspection, warehousing, internal transfers and other costs associated with distribution and merchandising. Cost of sales also includes royalty fees paid to outside designers and customer shipping and handling charges.

Selling, General and Administrative ("SG&A") Expenses

SG&A expenses include costs associated with the selling and marketing of products as well as administrative expenses. The types of expenses associated with these functions are store operating expenses (such as labor, rent and utilities), advertising and other corporate level administrative expenses.

Advertising, Marketing, Public and Media Relations Costs

Advertising, marketing, public and media relations costs include media, production, catalogs, Internet, marketing events, visual merchandising costs (in-store and window displays) and other related costs. In 2019, 2018 and 2017, these costs totaled $378.8 million, $394.1 million and $314.9 million, respectively, representing 8.6%, 8.9% and 7.6% of worldwide net sales, respectively. Media and production costs for print and digital advertising are expensed as incurred, while catalog costs are expensed upon first distribution.

Pre-Opening Costs

Costs associated with the opening of new retail stores are expensed in the period incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

New, modified and unvested share-based payment transactions with employees, such as stock options and restricted stock units, are measured at fair value and recognized as compensation expense over the requisite service period. Compensation expense recognized reflects an estimate of the number of awards expected to vest and incorporates an estimate of award forfeitures based on actual experience. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period required to obtain full vesting.


TIFFANY & CO.

K-61

[bookmark: page63]Table of Contents

Merchandise Design Activities

Merchandise design activities consist of conceptual formulation and design of possible products and creation of pre-production prototypes and molds. Costs associated with these activities are expensed as incurred.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of most of the Company's foreign subsidiaries and branches is the applicable local currency. Assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars using the current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, while revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates during the period. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax within stockholders' equity. The Company also recognizes gains and losses associated with transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies. The Company recorded net losses resulting from foreign currency transactions of $4.6 million, $5.3 million and $5.3 million within Other expense, net in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized by applying statutory tax rates in effect in the years in which the differences between the financial reporting and tax filing bases of existing assets and liabilities are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

The Company records net deferred tax assets to the extent management believes these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making such determination, the Company considers all available evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial results. In the event management were to determine that the Company would be able to realize its deferred income tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amounts, the Company would make an adjustment to the valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

In evaluating the exposures associated with the Company's various tax filing positions, management records reserves using a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold for income tax positions taken or expected to be taken.

The Registrant, its U.S. subsidiaries and the foreign branches of its U.S. subsidiaries file a consolidated Federal income tax return.

Earnings Per Share ("EPS")

Basic EPS is computed as net earnings divided by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS includes the dilutive effect of the assumed exercise of stock options and unvested restricted stock units.

The following table summarizes the reconciliation of the numerators and denominators for the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Years Ended January 31,
[image: ]

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Net earnings for basic and diluted EPS
	$
	541.1
	$
	586.4
	$
	370.1

	Weighted-average shares for basic EPS
	
	121.1
	
	122.9
	
	124.5

	Incremental shares based upon the assumed exercise of stock options and
	
	
	
	
	
	

	unvested restricted stock units
	
	0.5
	
	0.6
	
	0.6

	Weighted-average shares for diluted EPS
	
	121.6
	
	123.5
	
	125.1
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For the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, there were 1.3 million, 0.7 million and 0.6 million stock options and restricted stock units excluded from the computations of earnings per diluted share due to their antidilutive effect, respectively.

New Accounting Standards

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13 – Financial Instruments – Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. ASU 2016-13 amends the impairment model to utilize an expected loss methodology in place of the currently used incurred loss methodology, which will result in more timely recognition of losses. The new standard applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost basis, including receivables that result from revenue transactions and held-to-maturity debt securities. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, and early adoption was permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company's allowances for doubtful accounts have historically not been significant and management does not expect the adoption of this ASU will have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15 – Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software: Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract. ASU 2018-15 aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs in such cloud computing arrangements with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019 and early adoption was permitted. Entities can choose to adopt the new guidance prospectively or retrospectively. The Company does not expect that the adoption of ASU 2018 -15 will have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements. However, the impact of adopting this ASU will ultimately depend on the composition of the Company's cloud computing software arrangements under development at that time.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 – Income Taxes (ASC 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. This guidance simplifies the approach for intraperiod tax allocations, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period, and the recognition of deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. This guidance also clarifies and simplifies other areas of ASC 740. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. Management is currently evaluating the impact of this ASU on the consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 – Leases (ASC 842), which was amended in January 2018 and requires an entity that leases assets to recognize on the balance sheet the assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by those leases. Leases are classified as either financing or operating with the applicable classification determining the pattern of expense recognition in the statement of earnings.

The Company adopted this ASU on February 1, 2019 by applying its provisions prospectively and recognizing a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings as of February 1, 2019. The Company also elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance, which provided that an entity need not reassess: (i) whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (ii) the lease classification for any expired or existing leases, and (iii) initial direct costs for any existing leases. The Company also elected to not reassess lease terms using hindsight and to combine lease and non-lease components for new leases subsequent to February 1, 2019. Additionally, the Company used its incremental borrowing rate for a term that corresponded to lease terms remaining as of February 1, 2019 to measure its lease liabilities as of that date.

The adoption of ASU 2016-02 resulted in the following impacts to the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet as of February 1, 2019:

· The establishment of a lease liability of approximately $1.2 billion and a corresponding right-of-use asset;

· The reclassification of existing balances in respect of unamortized lease incentives and lease straight-line liabilities from Other long-term liabilities to Operating lease right-of-use assets; and
· The reclassification of $31.1 million of deferred gains on sale-leasebacks, and related deferred tax assets of $9.5 million, to opening retained earnings.
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In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12 – Derivatives and Hedging: Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities, which expanded and refined hedge accounting for both financial and non-financial risk components, aligned the recognition and presentation of the effects of hedging instruments and hedged items in the financial statements, and included certain targeted improvements to ease the application of previous guidance related to the assessment of hedge effectiveness. This ASU was effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The amendments in this ASU were required to be applied on a modified retrospective basis, while presentation and disclosure requirements set forth under this ASU are required prospectively after the date of adoption. Management adopted this ASU on February 1, 2019. The adoption of this ASU did not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements. The disclosures required by this ASU are included in "Note I. Hedging Instruments."

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02 – Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income: Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, which allowed for the reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI") to retained earnings for the tax effects on deferred tax items included within AOCI (referred to in the ASU as "stranded tax effects") resulting from the reduction of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to 21% from 35% that was effected by the 2017 U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. ASU 2018-02 was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. Management adopted this ASU on February 1, 2019. The adoption of ASU 2018-02 resulted in a reclassification of $26.2 million from AOCI to retained earnings, and had no impact on the Company's results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

D.	SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid during the year for:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Interest, net of interest capitalization
	
	$
	40.8
	$
	40.6
	$
	41.5

	Income taxes
	
	$
	232.8
	$
	291.4
	$
	156.2

	Supplemental noncash investing and financing activities:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Accrued capital expenditures
	$
	26.1
	$
	11.0
	$
	20.1





E. INVENTORIES

	
	
	
	
	January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Finished goods
	$
	1,532.5
	$
	1,484.3

	Raw materials
	
	776.8
	
	781.8

	Work-in-process
	
	154.6
	
	161.9

	Inventories, net
	$
	2,463.9
	$
	2,428.0
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	F.
	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	January 31,

	(in millions)
	2020
	
	2019

	Land
	$
	41.7
	$
	41.8

	Buildings
	122.3
	
	122.6

	Leasehold and building improvements
	1,489.9
	
	1,378.1

	Office equipment
	300.1
	
	286.0

	Software
	506.0
	
	452.2

	Furniture and fixtures
	333.1
	
	315.0

	Machinery and equipment
	208.2
	
	197.8

	Construction-in-progress
	158.0
	
	98.7

	
	
	
	
	3,159.3
	
	2,892.2

	Accumulated depreciation and amortization
	
	(2,060.5)
	
	(1,865.5)

	
	
	$
	1,098.8
	$
	1,026.7




Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $253.8 million, $223.6 million and $200.8 million, respectively.

G. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES


	
	
	
	
	January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Accounts payable - trade
	$
	261.3
	$
	217.1

	Accrued compensation and commissions
	
	90.8
	
	120.9

	Other
	
	189.4
	
	175.4

	
	$
	541.5
	$
	513.4
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	H.
	DEBT
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	January 31,
	

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	

	Short-term borrowings:
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Credit Facilities
	$
	13.8
	$
	13.5
	

	
	Other credit facilities
	
	134.1
	
	99.9
	

	
	
	
	$
	147.9
	$
	113.4
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Long-term debt:
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Unsecured Senior Notes:
	
	
	
	
	

	
	2012 4.40% Series B Notes, due July 2042 a
	$
	250.0
	$
	250.0
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	2014 3.80% Senior Notes, due October 2024 b, c
	
	250.0
	
	250.0
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	2014 4.90% Senior Notes, due October 2044 b, c
	
	300.0
	
	300.0
	

	
	2016 0.78% Senior Notes, due August 2026 b, d
	
	91.9
	
	91.8
	

	
	
	
	
	891.9
	
	891.8
	

	Less: unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs
	
	(7.8)
	
	(8.4)
	

	
	
	
	$
	884.1
	$
	883.4
	



· The agreements governing these Senior Notes require repayments of $50.0 million in aggregate every five years beginning in July 2022.

· These agreements require lump sum repayments upon maturity.

· These Senior Notes were issued at a discount, which will be amortized until the debt maturity.

· These Senior Notes were issued at par, ¥10.0 billion.

Credit Facilities

On October 25, 2018, the Registrant, along with certain of its subsidiaries designated as borrowers thereunder, entered into a five-year multi-bank, multi-currency committed unsecured revolving credit facility, including a letter of credit subfacility, consisting of basic commitments in an amount up to $750.0 million (which commitments may be increased, subject to certain conditions and limitations, at the request of the Registrant) ("Credit Facility"). The Credit Facility replaced the Registrant's previously existing $375.0 million four-year unsecured revolving credit facility and $375.0 million five-year unsecured revolving credit facility, which were each terminated and repaid in connection with the Registrant's entry into the Credit Facility.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the option of the Registrant, (1) LIBOR (or other applicable or successor reference rate) for the relevant currency plus an applicable margin based upon the more favorable to the Registrant of (i) a leverage financial metric of the Registrant and (ii) the Registrant's debt rating for long-term unsecured senior, non-credit enhanced debt, or

(2) an alternate base rate equal to the highest of (i) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, (ii) MUFG Bank, Ltd.'s prime rate and (iii) one-month LIBOR plus 1.00%, plus an applicable margin based upon the more favorable to the Registrant of (x) a leverage financial metric of the Registrant and (y) the Registrant's debt rating for long-term unsecured senior, non-credit enhanced debt.

The Credit Facility also requires payment to the lenders of a facility fee on the amount of the lenders' commitments under the credit facility from time to time at rates based upon the more favorable to the Registrant of (1) a leverage financial metric of the Registrant and (2) the Registrant's debt rating for long-term unsecured senior, non-credit enhanced debt. Voluntary prepayments of the loans and voluntary reductions of the unutilized portion of the commitments under the Credit Facility are permissible without penalty, subject to certain conditions pertaining to minimum notice and minimum reduction amounts.
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The Credit Facility is available for working capital and other corporate purposes.

The Credit Facility matures in 2023, provided that such maturity may be extended for one or two additional one-year periods at any time with the consent of the applicable lenders, as further described in the agreement governing such facility.

At January 31, 2020, there were $13.8 million of borrowings outstanding, $3.6 million of letters of credit issued and $732.6 million available for borrowing under the Credit Facility. At January 31, 2019, there were $13.5 million of borrowings outstanding, $6.1 million of letters of credit issued and $ 730.4 million available for borrowing under the previously existing revolving credit facilities. The weighted-average interest rate for borrowings outstanding was 0.90% at January 31, 2020 and 1.05% at January 31, 2019.

Commercial Paper

In August 2017, the Registrant and one of its wholly owned subsidiaries established a commercial paper program (the "Commercial Paper Program") for the issuance of commercial paper in the form of short-term promissory notes in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $750.0 million. Borrowings under the Commercial Paper Program may be used for general corporate purposes. The aggregate amount of borrowings that the Company is currently authorized to have outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program and the Registrant's Credit Facility is $750.0 million. The Registrant guarantees the obligations of its wholly owned subsidiary under the Commercial Paper Program. Maturities of commercial paper notes may vary, but cannot exceed 397 days from the date of issuance. Notes issued under the Commercial Paper Program rank equally with the Registrant's present and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness. As of January 31, 2020 and 2019, there were no borrowings outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program.

Other Credit Facilities

Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement. In June 2019, the Registrant's indirect, wholly owned subsidiary, Tiffany & Co. (Shanghai) Commercial Company Limited ("Tiffany-Shanghai"), entered into a three-year multi-bank revolving credit agreement (the "Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement"). The Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement has an aggregate borrowing limit of RMB 408.0 million ($59.0 million at January 31, 2020), which may be increased to the RMB equivalent of $100.0 million, subject to certain conditions and limitations, at the request of Tiffany-Shanghai. The Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement, which matures in July 2022, was made available to refinance amounts outstanding under Tiffany-Shanghai's previously existing RMB 990.0 million three-year multi-bank revolving credit agreement (the "2016 Agreement"), which expired pursuant to its terms on July 11, 2019, as well as for Tiffany-Shanghai's ongoing general working capital requirements. The participating lenders will make loans, upon Tiffany-Shanghai's request, for periods of up to 12 months at the applicable interest rates equal to 95% of the applicable rate as announced by the People's Bank of China (provided, that if such announced rate is below zero, the applicable interest rate shall be deemed to be zero). In connection with the Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement, in June 2019, the Registrant entered into a Guaranty Agreement by and between the Registrant and the facility agent under the Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement (the "Guaranty"). At January 31, 2020, there was $33.0 million available to be borrowed under the Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement and $26.1 million was outstanding at a weighted-average interest rate of 4.13%.

Other. The Company has various other revolving credit facilities, primarily in Japan and China. At January 31, 2020, the facilities totaled $188.8 million and $108.0 million was outstanding at a weighted-average interest rate of 5.36%. At January 31, 2019, the facilities totaled $135.6 million and $73.1 million was outstanding at a weighted-average interest rate of 3.93%.

Debt Covenants

The agreement governing the Credit Facility includes a specific financial covenant, as well as other covenants that limit the ability of the Company to incur certain subsidiary indebtedness, incur liens and engage in mergers, consolidations and sales of all or substantially all of its and its subsidiaries' assets, in addition to other requirements. The agreement governing the Credit Facility also includes certain "Events of Default" (as defined in the agreement governing the Credit Facility) customary to such borrowings, including a "Change of Control" (as defined in the agreement governing the Credit Facility) of the Registrant, such as the proposed Merger.
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The Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement includes certain covenants that limit Tiffany-Shanghai's ability to incur liens and incur certain indebtedness, and the Guaranty requires maintenance by the Registrant of a specific leverage ratio. The Tiffany Shanghai Credit Agreement also includes certain other requirements and "Events of Default" (as defined in the Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement) customary to such borrowings, including the Registrant's shares ceasing to be listed on New York Stock Exchange for 14 consecutive trading days, such as following the proposed Merger.

The indenture governing the 2014 3.80% Senior Notes and 2014 4.90% Senior Notes, as amended and supplemented in respect of each such series of Notes (the "Indenture"), contains covenants that, among other things, limit the ability of the Registrant and its subsidiaries under certain circumstances to create liens and impose conditions on the Registrant's ability to engage in mergers, consolidations and sales of all or substantially all of its or its subsidiaries' assets. The Indenture also contains certain "Events of Default" (as defined in the Indenture) customary for indentures of this type. The Indenture does not contain any specific financial covenants.

The agreements governing the 2012 4.40% Series B Senior Notes and the Yen Notes require maintenance of a specific financial covenant and limit certain changes to indebtedness of the Registrant and its subsidiaries and the general nature of the business, in addition to other requirements customary to such borrowings.

At January 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants. In the event of any default of payment or performance obligations extending beyond applicable cure periods as set forth in the agreements governing the Company's applicable debt instruments, such agreements may be terminated or payment of the applicable debt may be accelerated. Further, each of the Credit Facility, the Tiffany-Shanghai Credit Agreement, the agreements governing the 2012 4.40% Series B Senior Notes and the Yen Notes, and certain other loan agreements contain cross default provisions permitting the termination and acceleration of the loans, or acceleration of the notes, as the case may be, in the event that certain of the Company's other debt obligations are terminated or accelerated prior to their maturity.

Once consummated, the proposed Merger may result in certain of the Company's outstanding indebtedness becoming due, and the Company will need to comply with certain covenants of the agreements governing its outstanding indebtedness relating to the proposed Merger. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, if reasonably requested by Parent, the Company must use its commercially reasonable efforts to, among other things, take actions required to facilitate repayment of the Company's outstanding indebtedness.

	Long-Term Debt Maturities
	
	

	Aggregate maturities of long-term debt as of January 31, 2020 are as follows:
	
	

	
	
	Amount a

	Years Ending January 31,
	
	(in millions)

	2021
	$
	—

	2022
	
	—

	2023
	
	50.0

	2024
	
	—

	2025
	
	250.0

	Thereafter
	
	591.9

	
	$
	891.9

	a   Amounts exclude any unamortized discount or premium.
	
	

	Letters of Credit
	
	



The Company has available letters of credit and financial guarantees of $73.7 million, of which $48.5 million was outstanding at January 31, 2020. Of those available letters of credit and financial guarantees, $46.5 million expires within one year. These amounts do not include letters of credit issued under the Credit Facility.
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I. HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

Background Information

The Company uses derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps, forward contracts and net-zero-cost collar arrangements (combination of call and put option contracts) to mitigate a portion of its exposures to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and precious metal prices.

Derivative Instruments Designated as Hedging Instruments. If a derivative instrument meets certain hedge accounting criteria, it is recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at its fair value, as either an asset or a liability, with an offset to current or other comprehensive earnings, depending on whether the hedge is designated as one of the following on the date it is entered into:

· Fair Value Hedge – A hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm commitment. For fair value hedge transactions, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and changes in the fair value of the item being hedged are recorded in current earnings.

· Cash Flow Hedge – A hedge of the exposure to variability in the cash flows of a recognized asset, liability or a forecasted transaction. For cash flow hedge transactions, the changes in fair value of derivatives is reported as other comprehensive income ("OCI") and is recognized in current earnings in the period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects current earnings.

The Company formally documents the nature of and relationships between the hedging instruments and hedged items for a derivative to qualify as a hedge at inception and throughout the hedged period. The Company also documents its risk management objectives, strategies for undertaking the various hedge transactions and method of assessing hedge effectiveness. Additionally, for hedges of forecasted transactions, the significant characteristics and expected terms of a forecasted transaction must be identified, and it must be probable that each forecasted transaction will occur. If it were deemed probable that the forecasted transaction would not occur, the gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument would be recognized in current earnings. Derivative financial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting must maintain a specified level of effectiveness between the hedge instrument and the item being hedged, both at inception and throughout the hedged period.

Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Hedging Instruments. Derivative instruments which do not meet the criteria to be designated as a hedge are recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at their fair values, as either assets or liabilities, with an offset to current earnings. The gains or losses on undesignated foreign exchange forward contracts substantially offset foreign exchange losses or gains on the underlying liabilities or transactions being hedged.

The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Types of Derivative Instruments

Interest Rate Swaps – In 2012, the Company entered into forward-starting interest rate swaps to hedge the impact of interest rate volatility on future interest payments associated with the anticipated incurrence of $250.0 million of debt which was incurred in July 2012. The Company accounted for the forward-starting interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges. The Company settled the interest rate swaps in 2012 and recorded a loss within accumulated other comprehensive loss. As of January 31, 2020, $16.1 million remains recorded as a loss in accumulated other comprehensive loss, which is being amortized over the term of the 2042 Notes to which the interest rate swaps related.

In 2014, the Company entered into forward-starting interest rate swaps to hedge the impact of interest rate volatility on future interest payments associated with the anticipated incurrence of long-term debt which was incurred in September 2014. The Company accounted for the forward-starting interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges. The Company settled the interest rate swaps in 2014 and recorded a loss within accumulated other comprehensive loss. As of January 31, 2020, $3.3 million remains recorded as a loss in accumulated other comprehensive loss, which is being amortized over the terms of the respective 2024 Notes or 2044 Notes to which the interest rate swaps related.
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Cross-currency Swaps – In 2016, 2017 and 2019, the Company entered into cross-currency swaps to hedge the foreign currency exchange risk associated with Japanese yen-denominated and Euro-denominated intercompany loans. These cross-currency swaps are designated and accounted for as cash flow hedges. As of January 31, 2020, the notional amounts of cross-currency swaps accounted for as cash flow hedges and the respective maturity dates were as follows:

	Cross-Currency Swap
	
	
	Notional Amount

	Effective Date
	Maturity Date
	
	(in millions)
	
	(in millions)

	July 2016
	October 2024
	¥
	10,620.0
	$
	100.0

	March 2017
	April 2027
	¥
	11,000.0
	$
	96.1

	May 2017
	April 2027
	¥
	5,634.5
	$
	50.0

	August 2019
	August 2026
	€
	21.1
	$
	23.6




Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts – The Company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to offset a portion of the foreign currency exchange risks associated with foreign currency-denominated liabilities, intercompany transactions and forecasted purchases of merchandise between entities with differing functional currencies. The Company assesses hedge effectiveness based on the total changes in the foreign exchange forward contracts' cash flows. These foreign exchange forward contracts are designated and accounted for as either cash flow hedges or economic hedges that are not designated as hedging instruments.

As of January 31, 2020, the notional amounts of foreign exchange forward contracts were as follows:

	(in millions)
	
	Notional Amount
	
	USD Equivalent

	Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
	
	
	
	

	Japanese yen
	¥
	19,917.3
	$
	187.4

	British pound
	£
	13.2
	
	17.1

	Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
	
	
	
	

	U.S. dollar
	$
	130.0
	$
	130.0

	Euro
	€
	6.8
	
	7.6

	Australian dollar
	AU$
	23.2
	
	15.7

	Czech koruna
	CZK
	142.7
	
	6.1

	Japanese yen
	¥
	2,320.5
	
	21.2

	New Zealand dollar
	NZ$
	10.2
	
	6.8

	Singapore dollar
	S$
	20.9
	
	15.2

	Chinese renminbi
	CNY
	361.2
	
	51.6

	Canadian dollar
	CAD
	15.9
	
	12.2

	Danish kroner
	DKK
	52.6
	
	7.8

	Korean won
	KRW
	29,019.0
	
	24.8




The maximum term of the Company's outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts as of January 31, 2020 is 12 months.

Precious Metal Collars and Forward Contracts – The Company periodically hedges a portion of its forecasted purchases of precious metals for use in its internal manufacturing operations in order to manage the effect of volatility in precious metal prices. The Company may use either a combination of call and put option contracts in net-zero-cost collar arrangements ("precious metal collars") or forward contracts. For precious metal collars, if the price of the precious metal at the time of the expiration of the precious metal collar is within the call and put price, the precious metal collar expires at no cost to the Company. The Company accounts for its precious metal collars and forward contracts as cash flow hedges. The Company assesses hedge effectiveness based on the total changes in the precious metal collars and forward contracts' cash flows. As of January 31, 2020, the maximum term over which
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the Company is hedging its exposure to the variability of future cash flows for all forecasted precious metals transactions is 18 months. As of January 31, 2020, there were precious metal derivative instruments outstanding for approximately 29,000 ounces of platinum, 557,000 ounces of silver and 84,000 ounces of gold.

Information on the location and amounts of derivative gains and losses in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Year Ended January 31, 2020

	
	
	
	Interest expense
	
	
	
	Other

	
	
	
	
	and financing
	
	Other expense,
	
	comprehensive

	(in millions)
	
	Cost of sales
	
	costs
	
	net
	
	loss, net of tax

	Reported amounts of financial statement line items in which
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	effects of cash flow hedges are recorded
	$
	1,662.1
	$
	38.5
	$
	3.8
	$
	(42.4)

	Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Relationships:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Foreign exchange forward contracts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Pre-tax gain recognized in OCI
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	5.4

	Pre-tax gain reclassified from accumulated OCI into
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	earnings
	
	(4.1)
	
	—
	
	—
	
	4.1

	Precious metal collars
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Pre-tax gain reclassified from accumulated OCI into
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	earnings
	
	(0.3)
	
	—
	
	—
	
	0.3

	Precious metal forward contracts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Pre-tax gain recognized in OCI
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	18.1

	Pre-tax loss reclassified from accumulated OCI into
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	earnings
	
	2.8
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(2.8)

	Cross-currency swaps
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Pre-tax gain recognized in OCI
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	27.0

	Pre-tax gain reclassified from accumulated OCI into
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	earnings
	
	—
	
	(6.1)
	
	(0.1)
	
	6.2

	Forward-starting interest rate swaps
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Pre-tax loss reclassified from accumulated OCI into
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	earnings
	
	—
	
	1.3
	
	—
	
	(1.3)
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	Year Ended January 31, 2019

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Other

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Interest expense
	
	
	
	comprehensive

	
	(in millions)
	
	Cost of sales
	and financing costs
	Other expense, net
	
	loss, net of tax

	
	Reported amounts of financial statement line items in
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	which effects of cash flow hedges are recorded
	$
	1,631.1
	$
	39.7
	$
	7.1
	$
	(68.6)

	
	Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Relationships:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Foreign exchange forward contracts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Pre-tax gain recognized in OCI
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	5.8

	
	Pre-tax gain reclassified from accumulated OCI
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	into earnings
	
	(2.6)
	
	—
	
	—
	
	2.6

	
	Precious metal collars
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Pre-tax gain reclassified from accumulated OCI
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	into earnings
	
	(0.6)
	
	—
	
	—
	
	0.6

	
	Precious metal forward contracts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Pre-tax loss recognized in OCI
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(7.2)

	
	Pre-tax loss reclassified from accumulated OCI
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	into earnings
	
	1.0
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(1.0)

	
	Cross-currency swaps
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Pre-tax gain recognized in OCI
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	
	0.3

	
	Pre-tax gain reclassified from accumulated OCI
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	into earnings
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(0.4)
	
	0.4

	
	Forward-starting interest rate swaps
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Pre-tax loss reclassified from accumulated OCI
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	into earnings
	
	—
	
	1.4
	
	—
	
	(1.4)




The pre-tax gains or losses on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments were not significant for the years ended January 31, 2020 and 2019 and were included in Other expense, net. The Company expects approximately $6.7 million of net pre-tax derivative gains included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at January 31, 2020 will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. The actual amount reclassified will vary due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and precious metal prices.

For information regarding the location and amount of the derivative instruments in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, see "Note J. Fair Value of Financial Instruments."

Concentration of Credit Risk

A number of major international financial institutions are counterparties to the Company's derivative financial instruments. The Company enters into derivative financial instrument agreements only with counterparties meeting certain credit standards (an investment grade credit rating at the time of the agreement) and limits the amount of agreements or contracts it enters into with any one party. The Company may be exposed to credit losses in the event of nonperformance by individual counterparties or the entire group of counterparties.
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J. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. U.S. GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. U.S. GAAP prescribes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, which are considered to be most reliable.

Level 2 – Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs reflecting the reporting entity's own assumptions, which require the most judgment.

The Company's derivative instruments are considered Level 2 instruments for the purpose of determining fair value. The Company's foreign exchange forward contracts, as well as its put option contracts and cross-currency swaps, are primarily valued using the appropriate foreign exchange spot rates. The Company's precious metal forward contracts and collars are primarily valued using the relevant precious metal spot rate. For further information on the Company's hedging instruments and program, see "Note I. Hedging Instruments."

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value at January 31, 2020 are classified in the table below in one of the three categories described above:

	
	
	
	Estimated Fair Value
	
	
	
	Total Fair

	(in millions)
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Value

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Time deposits a
	$
	22.7
	$
	—
	$
	—
	$
	22.7

	Marketable securities b
	
	39.3
	
	—
	
	—
	
	39.3

	Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Precious metal forward contracts c
	
	—
	
	13.0
	
	—
	
	13.0

	Foreign exchange forward contracts c
	
	—
	
	2.7
	
	—
	
	2.7

	Cross-currency swaps c
	
	—
	
	2.9
	
	—
	
	2.9

	Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Foreign exchange forward contracts c
	
	—
	
	2.1
	
	—
	
	2.1

	Total financial assets
	$
	62.0
	$
	20.7
	$
	—
	$
	82.7

	
	
	
	Estimated Fair Value
	
	
	
	Total Fair

	(in millions)
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Value

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Precious metal forward contracts d
	$
	—
	$
	0.2
	$
	—
	$
	0.2

	Foreign exchange forward contracts d
	
	—
	
	0.5
	
	—
	
	0.5

	Cross-currency swaps d
	
	—
	
	1.9
	
	—
	
	1.9

	Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Foreign exchange forward contracts d
	
	—
	
	2.9
	
	—
	
	2.9

	Total financial liabilities
	$
	—
	$
	5.5
	$
	—
	$
	5.5
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Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value at January 31, 2019 are classified in the table below in one of the three categories described above:

	
	
	
	Estimated Fair Value
	
	
	
	Total Fair

	(in millions)
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Value

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Time deposits a
	$
	62.7
	$
	—
	$
	—
	$
	62.7

	Marketable securities b
	
	36.3
	
	—
	
	—
	$
	36.3

	Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Precious metal forward contracts c
	
	—
	
	5.2
	
	—
	
	5.2

	Foreign exchange forward contracts c
	
	—
	
	1.8
	
	—
	
	1.8

	Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Foreign exchange forward contracts c
	
	—
	
	0.9
	
	—
	
	0.9

	Total financial assets
	$
	99.0
	$
	7.9
	$
	—
	$
	106.9

	
	
	
	Estimated Fair Value
	
	
	
	Total Fair

	(in millions)
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Value

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Precious metal forward contracts d
	$
	—
	$
	2.7
	$
	—
	$
	2.7

	Foreign exchange forward contracts d
	
	—
	
	2.1
	
	—
	
	2.1

	Cross-currency swaps d
	
	—
	
	19.9
	
	—
	
	19.9

	Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Foreign exchange forward contracts d
	
	—
	
	2.7
	
	—
	
	2.7

	Total financial liabilities
	$
	—
	$
	27.4
	$
	—
	$
	27.4



· Included within Short-term investments.

· Included within Other assets, net.

· Included within Prepaid expenses and other current assets or Other assets, net based on the maturity of the contract.

· Included within Accounts payable and accrued liabilities or Other long-term liabilities based on the maturity of the contract.

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities and as such are measured using Level 1 inputs. The fair value of debt with variable interest rates approximates carrying value and is measured using Level 2 inputs. The fair value of debt with fixed interest rates was determined using the quoted market prices of debt instruments with similar terms and maturities, which are considered Level 2 inputs. The total carrying value of short-term borrowings and long-term debt was approximately $1.0 billion at January 31, 2020 and 2019 and the corresponding fair value was approximately $1.2 billion at January 31, 2020 and $1.0 billion at January 31, 2019.
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	K.
	LEASES
	
	

	Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings were as follows:
	
	

	(in millions)
	
	Year Ended January 31, 2020

	Fixed operating lease expense
	$
	313.8

	Variable operating lease expense
	
	156.4

	Sublease income
	
	(5.3)

	Net lease expense
	$
	464.9




The weighted average remaining lease term was seven years and the weighted average discount rate was 3.8% for all of the Company's operating leases as of January 31, 2020.

The following table provides supplemental cash flow information related to the Company's operating leases:

	(in millions)
	
	Year Ended January 31, 2020

	Cash outflows from operating activities attributable to operating leases
	$
	314.1

	Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating leases liabilities
	
	312.4




The following table reconciles the undiscounted cash flows expected to be paid in each of the next five fiscal years and thereafter to the operating lease liability recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet for operating leases existing as of January 31, 2020.

	
	Minimum Lease Payments as of January

	
	
	31, 2020

	Years ending January 31,
	
	(in millions)

	2021
	$
	245.1

	2022
	
	255.2

	2023
	
	211.1

	2024
	
	178.9

	2025
	
	144.8

	Thereafter
	
	368.5

	Total minimum lease payments
	
	1,403.6

	Less: amount of total minimum lease payments representing interest
	
	(192.4)

	Present value of future total minimum lease payments
	
	1,211.2

	Less: current portion of operating lease liabilities
	
	(202.8)

	Long-term portion of operating lease liabilities
	$
	1,008.4




As of January 31, 2020, there were nine executed agreements in respect of store relocations, new stores, office space and other facilities without commencement dates, which had total commitments of $88.7 million.
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As previously disclosed in "Note J. Commitments and Contingencies" to the consolidated financial statements included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2019, under previous lease accounting, future minimum lease payments for operating leases having an initial or remaining non-cancelable lease term in excess of one year were as follows:

	
	Minimum Lease Payments as of January

	
	
	31, 2019

	Years ending January 31,
	
	(in millions)

	2020
	$
	292.8

	2021
	
	239.2

	2022
	
	212.8

	2023
	
	177.4

	2024
	
	146.8

	Thereafter
	
	438.0

	Total minimum lease payments
	$
	1,507.0




The Company entered into sale-leaseback arrangements for its Retail Service Center, a distribution and administrative office facility in New Jersey, in 2005 and for the TIFFANY & CO. stores in Tokyo's Ginza shopping district and on London's Old Bond Street in 2007. These sale-leaseback arrangements resulted in total deferred gains of $144.5 million, which were amortized in SG&A expenses over periods ranging from 15 to 20 years. As of January 31, 2019, $31.1 million of these deferred gains remained on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet and were reclassified to opening retained earnings in the first quarter of 2019 in accordance with ASU 2016-02 (see "Note C. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – New Accounting Standards" for additional information).

Rent expense for the Company's operating leases consisted of the following:

	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,
	

	(in millions)
	
	2019
	
	2018
	

	Minimum rent for retail locations
	$
	225.1
	$
	206.6
	

	Contingent rent based on sales
	
	167.9
	
	151.6
	

	Office, distribution and manufacturing facilities and equipment
	
	43.8
	
	44.8
	

	Gains on sale-leaseback arrangements
	
	(8.4)
	
	(8.2)
	

	Sublease income
	
	(5.2)
	
	(4.5)
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	$
	423.2
	$
	390.3
	





L.	COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Diamond Sourcing Activities

The Company has agreements with various diamond producers to purchase a minimum volume of rough diamonds at prevailing fair market prices. Under those agreements, management anticipates that it will purchase approximately $30.0 million of rough diamonds in 2020. The Company also regularly purchases rough and polished diamonds from other suppliers, although it has no contractual obligations to do so. Purchases beyond 2020 under the aforementioned agreements cannot be reasonably estimated.

Contractual Cash Obligations and Contingent Funding Commitments

At January 31, 2020, the Company's contractual cash obligations and contingent funding commitments were for inventory purchases of $229.8 million (which includes the $30.0 million obligation discussed in Diamond Sourcing Activities above), as well as for other contractual obligations of $152.1 million (primarily for construction-in-
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progress, technology licensing and service contracts, advertising and media agreements and fixed royalty commitments).

Litigation

Litigation Matters. The Company is from time to time involved in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of its business, including proceedings to protect its trademark rights, litigation with parties claiming infringement of patents and other intellectual property rights by the Company, litigation instituted by persons alleged to have been injured upon premises under the Company's control and litigation with present and former employees and customers. Although litigation with present and former employees is routine and incidental to the conduct of the Company's business, as well as for any business employing significant numbers of employees, such litigation can result in large monetary awards when a civil jury is allowed to determine compensatory and/or punitive damages for actions such as those claiming discrimination on the basis of age, gender, race, religion, disability or other legally-protected characteristic or for termination of employment that is wrongful or in violation of implied contracts. However, the Company believes that all such litigation currently pending to which it is a party or to which its properties are subject will be resolved without any material adverse effect on the Company's financial position, earnings or cash flows.

Gain Contingency. On February 14, 2013, Tiffany and Company and Tiffany (NJ) LLC (collectively, the "Tiffany plaintiffs") initiated a lawsuit against Costco Wholesale Corp. ("Costco") for trademark infringement, false designation of origin and unfair competition, trademark dilution and trademark counterfeiting (the "Costco Litigation"). The Tiffany plaintiffs sought injunctive relief, monetary recovery and statutory damages on account of Costco's use of "Tiffany" on signs in the jewelry cases at Costco stores used to describe certain diamond engagement rings that were not manufactured by Tiffany. Costco filed a counterclaim arguing that the TIFFANY trademark was a generic term for multi-pronged ring settings and seeking to have the trademark invalidated, modified or partially canceled in that respect. On September 8, 2015, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Court") granted the Tiffany plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment of liability in its entirety, dismissing Costco's genericism counterclaim and finding that Costco was liable for trademark infringement, trademark counterfeiting and unfair competition under New York law in its use of "Tiffany" on the above-referenced signs. On September 29, 2016, a civil jury rendered its verdict, finding that Costco's profits on the sale of the infringing rings should be awarded at $5.5 million, and further finding that an award of punitive damages was warranted. On October 5, 2016, the jury awarded $8.25 million in punitive damages. The aggregate award of $13.75 million was not final, as it was subject to post-verdict motion practice and ultimately to adjustment by the Court. On August 14, 2017, the Court issued its ruling, finding that the Tiffany plaintiffs are entitled to recover (i) $11.1 million in respect of Costco's profits on the sale of the infringing rings (which amount is three times the amount of such profits, as determined by the Court); (ii) prejudgment interest on such amount (calculated at the applicable statutory rate) from February 15, 2013 through August 14, 2017; (iii) an additional $8.25 million in punitive damages; and (iv) Tiffany's reasonable attorneys' fees, and, on August 24, 2017, the Court entered judgment in the amount of $21.0 million in favor of the Tiffany plaintiffs (reflecting items (i) through (iii) above). On February 7, 2019, the Court awarded the Tiffany plaintiffs $5.9 million in respect of the aforementioned attorneys' fees and costs, bringing the total judgment to $26.9 million. The Court has denied a motion made by Costco for a new trial; however, Costco has also filed an appeal from the judgment before the Second Circuit Court of Appeals. A three-judge panel presided over an appellate hearing on January 23, 2020, and that panel's decision is pending. As the Tiffany plaintiffs may not enforce the Court's judgment during the appeals process, the Company has not recorded any amount in its consolidated financial statements related to this gain contingency as of January 31, 2020. The Company expects that this matter will not ultimately be resolved until, at the earliest, a future date during the Company's fiscal year ending January 31, 2021.

Environmental Matter

In 2005, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") designated a 17-mile stretch of the Passaic River (the "River") part of the Diamond Alkali "Superfund" site. This designation resulted from the detection of hazardous substances emanating from the site, which was previously home to the Diamond Shamrock Corporation, a manufacturer of pesticides and herbicides. Under the Superfund law, the EPA will negotiate with potentially responsible parties to agree on remediation approaches and may also enter into settlement agreements pursuant to an allocation process.

The Company, which operated a silverware manufacturing facility near a tributary of the River from approximately 1897 to 1985, is one of more than 300 parties (the "Potentially Responsible Parties") designated in litigation as potentially responsible parties with respect to the River. The EPA issued general notice letters to 125 of these
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parties. The Company, along with approximately 70 other Potentially Responsible Parties (collectively, the "Cooperating Parties Group" or "CPG") voluntarily entered into an Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent ("AOC") with the EPA in May 2007 to perform a Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study (the "RI/FS") of the lower 17 miles of the River. In June 2012, most of the CPG voluntarily entered into a second AOC related to focused remediation actions at Mile 10.9 of the River. The actions under the Mile 10.9 AOC are complete (except for continued monitoring), the Remedial Investigation ("RI") portion of the RI/FS was submitted to the EPA on February 19, 2015, and the Feasibility Study ("FS") portion of the RI/FS was submitted to the EPA on April 30, 2015. The Company nonetheless remained in the CPG until October 24, 2017. The Company has accrued for its financial obligations under both AOCs, which have not been material to its financial position or results of operations in previous financial periods or on a cumulative basis.

The FS presented and evaluated three options for remediating the lower 17 miles of the River, including the approach recommended by the EPA in its Focused Feasibility Study discussed below, as well as a fourth option of taking no action, and recommended an approach for a targeted remediation of the entire 17-mile stretch of the River. The estimated cost of the approach recommended by the CPG in the FS is approximately $483.0 million. The RI and FS are being reviewed by the EPA and other governmental agencies and stakeholders. Ultimately, the Company expects that the EPA will identify and negotiate with any or all of the potentially responsible parties regarding any remediation action that may be necessary, and issue a Record of Decision with a proposed approach to remediating the entire lower 17-mile stretch of the River.

Separately, on April 11, 2014, the EPA issued a proposed plan for remediating the lower eight miles of the River, which is supported by a Focused Feasibility Study (the "FFS"). The FFS evaluated three remediation options, as well as a fourth option of taking no action. Following a public review and comment period and the EPA's review of comments received, the EPA issued a Record of Decision on March 4, 2016 that set forth a remediation plan for the lower eight miles of the River (the "RoD Remediation"). The RoD Remediation is estimated by the EPA to cost $1.38 billion. The Record of Decision did not identify any party or parties as being responsible for the design of the remediation or for the remediation itself. The EPA did note that it estimates the design of the necessary remediation activities will take three to four years, with the remediation to follow, which is estimated to take an additional six years to complete.

On March 31, 2016, the EPA issued a letter to approximately 100 companies (including the Company) (collectively, the "notified companies") notifying them of potential liability for the RoD Remediation and of the EPA's planned approach to addressing the cost of the RoD Remediation, which included the possibility of a de-minimis cash-out settlement (the "settlement option") for certain parties. In April of 2016, the Company notified the EPA of its interest in pursuing the settlement option, and accordingly recorded an immaterial liability representing its best estimate of its minimum liability for the RoD Remediation, which was based on the amount of a potential de-minimis settlement. On March 30, 2017, the EPA issued offers related to the settlement option to 20 parties; while the Company was not one of the parties receiving such an offer, the EPA indicated at that time that the settlement option might be made available to additional parties beyond those notified on March 30, 2017. On October 24, 2019, the EPA informed certain of the notified parties (including the Company) that the early settlement option would not be made available to them at that time.

In the absence of a viable settlement option with the EPA, the Company is unable to determine its participation in the overall RoD Remediation, if any, relative to the other potentially responsible parties, or the allocation of the estimated cost thereof among the potentially responsible parties, until such time as the EPA reaches an agreement with any potentially responsible party or parties to fund the RoD Remediation (or pursues legal or administrative action to require any potentially responsible party or parties to perform, or pay for, the RoD Remediation). With respect to the RI/FS (which is distinct from the RoD Remediation), until a Record of Decision is issued with respect to the RI/FS, neither the ultimate remedial approach for the remaining upper nine miles of the relevant 17-mile stretch of the River and its cost, nor the Company's participation, if any, relative to the other potentially responsible parties in this approach and cost, can be determined.

In October 2016, the EPA announced that it entered into a legal agreement with Occidental Chemical Corporation ("OCC"), pursuant to which OCC agreed to spend $165.0 million to perform the engineering and design work required in advance of the clean-up contemplated by the RoD Remediation. OCC has waived any rights to collect contribution from the Company (the "Waiver") for certain costs, including those associated with such engineering and design work, incurred by OCC through July 14, 2016. However, on June 29, 2018, OCC filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey against Tiffany and Company and 119 other companies (the "defendant

TIFFANY & CO.

K-78

[bookmark: page80]Table of Contents

companies") seeking to have the defendant companies reimburse OCC for certain response costs incurred by OCC in connection with its and its predecessors' remediation work relating to the River, other than those costs subject to the Waiver. OCC is also seeking a declaratory judgment to hold the defendant companies liable for their alleged shares of future response costs, including costs related to the RoD Remediation. The suit does not quantify damages sought, and the Company is unable to determine at this time whether, or to what extent, the OCC lawsuit will impact the cost allocation described in the immediately preceding paragraph or will otherwise result in any liabilities for the Company.

Given the uncertainties described above, the Company's liability, if any, beyond that already recorded for its obligation under the 2007 AOC and the Mile 10.9 AOC, cannot be determined at this time. However, the Company does not expect that its ultimate liability related to the relevant 17-mile stretch of the River will be material to its financial position, in light of the number of companies that have previously been identified as Potentially Responsible Parties (i.e., the more than 300 parties that were initially designated in litigation as potentially responsible parties), which includes, but goes well beyond those approximately 70 CPG member companies that participated in the 2007 AOC and the Mile 10.9 AOC, and the Company's relative participation in the costs related to the 2007 AOC and Mile 10.9 AOC. It is nonetheless possible that any resulting liability when the uncertainties discussed above are resolved could be material to the Company's results of operations or cash flows in the period in which such uncertainties are resolved.

Other

In the normal course of business, the Company entrusts precious scrap metals generated through its internal manufacturing operations to metal refiners. In November 2018, one such refiner filed for relief under chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. As a result, the Company recognized a charge of $8.5 million during the three months ended October 31, 2018, which represented the carrying value of such precious scrap metals entrusted to the refiner, net of expected insurance recoveries.

During 2018, the Company received an offer of AUD $48.0 million as compensation for the previous acquisition of the premises containing one of its leased retail stores and an administrative office in Sydney, Australia under compulsory acquisition laws in Australia. The Company did not accept the offer of compensation and has filed an appeal of the compensation amount with the Land and Environment Court in Australia. In accordance with local law, the Company received an advance payment of 90% ($31.1 million, based on foreign currency exchange rates on the date of receipt) of the offered compensation during the fourth quarter of 2018. The appeal process is inherently uncertain and the Land and Environment Court will make an independent assessment of the amount of compensation in this matter, which may require the Company to repay all or a portion of the advance payment. Therefore, the Company cannot currently determine an amount, or any minimum amount, it ultimately expects to realize in connection with this matter. Accordingly, the Company did not recognize any gain in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Earnings for the year ended January 31, 2020 or 2019. Instead, the Company recognized the advance payment within Cash and cash equivalents and as a liability within Accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of January 31, 2019. The Company classified $19.2 million of the advance payment within operating cash flows and $11.9 million within investing cash flows on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended January 31, 2019, with such classification determined by the nature of the underlying components of the cash receipt.
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M. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

	
	
	
	
	January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Foreign currency translation adjustments
	$
	(130.4)
	$
	(108.2)

	Deferred hedging gain (loss)
	
	5.4
	
	(24.5)

	Net unrealized loss on benefit plans
	
	(148.2)
	
	(72.1)

	
	$
	(273.2)
	$
	(204.8)




Additions to and reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss) were as follows:

	
	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Foreign currency translation adjustments
	$
	(21.3)
	$
	(62.9)
	$
	97.9

	Income tax (expense) benefit
	
	(1.1)
	
	2.7
	
	(2.2)

	Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax
	
	(22.4)
	
	(60.2)
	
	95.7

	Unrealized gain on marketable securities
	
	—
	
	—
	
	0.2

	Reclassification for gain included in net earnings
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(3.5)

	Income tax benefit
	
	—
	
	—
	
	0.7

	Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net of tax
	
	—
	
	—
	
	(2.6)

	Unrealized gain (loss) on hedging instruments
	
	50.5
	
	(1.1)
	
	(21.0)

	Reclassification adjustment for (gain) loss included in
	
	
	
	
	
	

	net earnings a
	
	(6.5)
	
	(1.2)
	
	13.0

	Income tax (expense) benefit
	
	(9.3)
	
	0.7
	
	1.2

	Unrealized gain (loss) on hedging instruments, net of tax
	
	34.7
	
	(1.6)
	
	(6.8)

	Net actuarial (loss) gain
	
	(82.0)
	
	(24.2)
	
	30.6

	Amortization of net loss included in net earnings b
	
	11.2
	
	15.1
	
	13.3

	Amortization of prior service credit included in net earnings b
	
	(0.5)
	
	(0.6)
	
	(0.5)

	Income tax benefit (expense)
	
	16.6
	
	2.9
	
	(11.5)

	Net unrealized (loss) gain on benefit plans, net of tax
	
	(54.7)
	
	(6.8)
	
	31.9

	Total other comprehensive (loss) earnings, net of tax
	$
	(42.4)
	$
	(68.6)
	$
	118.2



· These (gains) losses are reclassified into Interest expense and financing costs and Cost of sales (see "Note I. Hedging Instruments" for additional details).

· These losses (gains) are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost (see "Note O. Employee Benefit Plans" for additional details) and are reclassified into Other expense, net.

Stock Repurchase Program

In May 2018, the Registrant's Board of Directors approved a new share repurchase program (the "2018 Program"). The 2018 Program, which became effective June 1, 2018 and expires on January 31, 2022, authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $1.0 billion of its Common Stock through open market transactions, including through Rule 10b5-1 plans and one or more accelerated share repurchase ("ASR") or other structured repurchase transactions, and/or privately negotiated transactions. The 2018 Program replaced the Company's previous share repurchase program approved in January 2016, under which the Company was authorized to repurchase up to
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$500.0 million of its Common Stock. As of January 31, 2020, $471.6 million remained available under the 2018 Program; however, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, and subject to certain limited exceptions, the Company may not repurchase its Common Stock other than in connection with the forfeiture provisions of Company equity awards or the cashless exercise or tax withholding provisions of such Company equity awards, in each case, granted under the Company's stock-based compensation plans.

During 2018, the Company entered into ASR agreements with two third-party financial institutions to repurchase an aggregate of $250.0 million of its Common Stock. The ASR agreements were entered into under the 2018 Program. Pursuant to the ASR agreements, the Company made an aggregate payment of $250.0 million from available cash on hand in exchange for an initial delivery of 1,529,286 shares of its Common Stock. Final settlement of the ASR agreements was completed in July 2018, pursuant to which the Company received an additional 353,112 shares of its Common Stock. In total, 1,882,398 shares of the Company's Common Stock were repurchased under these ASR agreements at an average cost per share of $132.81 over the term of the agreements.

The Company's share repurchase activity was as follows:

Years Ended January 31,
[image: ]

	(in millions, except per share amounts)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Cost of repurchases
	$
	163.4
	$
	421.4
	$
	99.2

	Shares repurchased and retired
	
	1.8
	
	3.5
	
	1.0

	Average cost per share
	$
	91.15
	$
	121.28
	$
	94.86




Cash Dividends

The Company's Board of Directors declared quarterly dividends which, on an annual basis, totaled $2.29, $2.15 and $1.95 per share of Common Stock in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

On February 20, 2020, the Company's Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.58 per share of Common Stock. This dividend will be paid on April 10, 2020 to stockholders of record on March 20, 2020.

Cumulative Effect Adjustment From Adoption of New Accounting Standards

The amounts presented within this line item on the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity represent the effects of the Company's adoption, on a modified retrospective basis, of ASU 2016-02 - Leases and ASU 2018-02 - Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income: Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (each as discussed in "Note C. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies") for the year ended January 31, 2020, and ASU 2014 -09 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers and ASU 2016-01 - Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities for the year ended January 31, 2019.

N. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company has two stock compensation plans under which awards may be made: the Employee Incentive Plan and the Directors Equity Compensation Plan, both of which were approved by the Company's stockholders. No award may be made under the Employee Incentive Plan after May 22, 2024 or under the Directors Equity Compensation Plan after May 25, 2027.

Under the Employee Incentive Plan, the maximum number of common shares authorized for issuance is 8.7 million. Awards may be made to employees of the Company in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares of stock (or rights to receive shares of stock) and cash. Awards made in the form of non-qualified stock options, tax-qualified incentive stock options or stock appreciation rights have a maximum term of 10 years from the grant date and may not be granted for an exercise price below fair market value.

The Company has granted time-vesting restricted stock units ("RSUs"), performance-based restricted stock units ("PSUs") and stock options under the Employee Incentive Plan. Stock options and RSUs typically vest in increments of 25% per year over four years. PSUs vest at the end of a three-year period. PSU grant terms provide that vesting is
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contingent on the Company's performance against objectives established by the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors. The PSUs and RSUs require no payment from the employee. PSU and RSU payouts are in shares of Company stock at vesting (aside from fractional dividend equivalents, which are settled in cash). Compensation expense is recognized using the fair market value of the award at the date of grant and recorded ratably over the vesting period. However, PSU compensation expense may be adjusted over the vesting period based on interim estimates of performance against the established objectives. Award holders are not entitled to receive dividends or dividend equivalents on PSUs or RSUs granted prior to January 2017 or on unvested stock options. PSUs and RSUs granted in or after January 2017 accrue dividend equivalents that may only be paid or delivered upon vesting of the underlying stock units.

Under the Directors Equity Compensation Plan, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance is 1.0 million (subject to adjustment); awards may be made to non-employee directors of the Company in the form of stock options or shares of stock but may not exceed $750,000 of total compensation (including without limitation, non-equity compensation and the grant-date fair value of options or stock awards, or any combination of options and stock awards) that may be awarded to any one participant in any single fiscal year of the Company in connection with his or her service as a member of the Board of Directors; provided, however, that this limitation shall not apply to a non-executive chairperson of the Board of Directors. Awards made in the form of stock options may have a maximum term of 10 years from the grant date and may not be granted for an exercise price below fair market value. Director options vest immediately. Director RSUs vest at the end of a one-year period.

The Company uses newly issued shares to satisfy stock option exercises and the vesting of PSUs and RSUs.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the grant date using a Black-Scholes option valuation model and compensation expense is recognized ratably over the vesting period. The valuation model uses the assumptions noted in the following table. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of the Company's stock. The Company uses historical data to estimate the expected term of the option that represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the grant date.

	
	
	Years Ended January 31,

	
	2020
	2019
	2018

	Dividend yield
	2.2%
	2.2%
	1.8%

	Expected volatility
	24.6%
	24.2%
	22.0%

	Risk-free interest rate
	2.1%
	2.5%
	2.2%

	Expected term in years
	4
	4
	5




A summary of the Company's stock option activity is presented below:

	
	
	
	
	Weighted-
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Average
	
	Aggregate

	
	Number of
	
	Weighted-
	Remaining
	
	Intrinsic

	
	Shares
	
	Average
	Contractual
	
	Value

	
	(in millions)
	
	Exercise Price
	Term in Years
	
	(in millions)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Outstanding at January 31, 2019
	2.4
	$
	89.84
	8.33
	$
	11.3

	Granted
	0.1
	
	94.68
	
	
	

	Exercised
	(1.3)
	
	88.40
	
	
	

	Forfeited/canceled
	—
	
	97.13
	
	
	

	Outstanding at January 31, 2020
	1.2
	$
	91.53
	7.64
	$
	52.8

	Exercisable at January 31, 2020
	0.4
	$
	88.09
	6.27
	$
	18.4



The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted for the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $16.57, $16.97 and $18.33, respectively. The total intrinsic value (market value on date of exercise less
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grant price) of options exercised during the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $52.8 million, $16.3 million and $31.2 million, respectively.


A summary of the Company's RSU activity is presented below:




Non-vested at January 31, 2019

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Non-vested at January 31, 2020


A summary of the Company's PSU activity is presented below:




Non-vested at January 31, 2019

Granted

Vested

Forfeited/canceled

Non-vested at January 31, 2020






	Number of Shares
	
	Weighted-Average
	

	
	
	Grant-Date Fair Value
	

	(in millions)
	
	
	

	0.6
	$
	88.49
	

	0.5
	
	117.12
	

	(0.3)
	
	86.84
	

	(0.1)
	
	94.86
	

	0.7
	$
	108.28
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	Number of Shares
	
	Weighted-Average
	

	
	
	Grant-Date Fair Value
	

	(in millions)
	
	
	

	0.5
	$
	85.30
	

	0.1
	
	134.12
	

	(0.1)
	
	63.05
	

	—
	
	57.08
	

	0.5
	$
	102.46
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The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted for the years ended January 31, 2019 and 2018 was $103.40 and $91.96, respectively. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of PSUs granted for the years ended January 31, 2019 and 2018 was $85.26 and $108.99, respectively. The total fair value of RSUs vested during the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $28.1 million, $24.3 million and $22.2 million, respectively. The total fair value of PSUs vested during the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $9.8 million, $2.7 million and $3.4 million, respectively.

As of January 31, 2020, there was $94.7 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements granted under the Employee Incentive Plan and Directors Equity Compensation Plan. The expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.0 years.

Total compensation cost for stock-based compensation awards recognized in income and the related income tax benefit was $33.2 million and $6.5 million for the year ended January 31, 2020, $34.1 million and $6.8 million for the year ended January 31, 2019 and $28.0 million and $8.5 million for the year ended January 31, 2018. Total stock-based compensation cost capitalized in inventory was not significant.

O. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits

The Company maintains the following pension plans: a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan qualified in accordance with the Internal Revenue Service Code ("Qualified Plan") covering substantially all U.S. employees hired before January 1, 2006, a non-qualified unfunded retirement income plan ("Excess Plan") covering certain U.S. employees hired before January 1, 2006 and affected by Internal Revenue Service Code compensation limits, a non-qualified unfunded Supplemental Retirement Income Plan ("SRIP") covering certain executive officers of the Company hired before January 1, 2006 and noncontributory defined benefit pension plans in certain of its international locations ("Other Plans").
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Qualified Plan benefits are based on (i) average compensation in the highest paid five years of the last 10 years of employment ("average final compensation") and (ii) the number of years of service. The normal retirement age under the Qualified Plan is age 65; however, participants who retire with at least 10 years of service may elect to receive reduced retirement benefits starting at age 55. The Company funds the Qualified Plan's trust in accordance with regulatory limits to provide for current service and for the unfunded benefit obligation over a reasonable period and for current service benefit accruals. To the extent that these requirements are fully covered by assets in the Qualified Plan, the Company may elect not to make any contribution in a particular year. No cash contribution was required in 2018 and none is required in 2019 to meet the minimum funding requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act. However, the Company periodically evaluates whether to make discretionary cash contributions to the Qualified Plan and made voluntary cash contributions of $30.0 million in 2019, $ 11.8 million in 2018 and $15.0 million in 2017. The Company does not currently expect to make any contributions to the Qualified Plan in 2020.

The Qualified Plan, Excess Plan and SRIP exclude all employees hired on or after January 1, 2006. Instead, employees hired on or after January 1, 2006 are eligible to receive a defined contribution retirement benefit under the Employee Profit Sharing and Retirement Savings ("EPSRS") Plan (see "Employee Profit Sharing and Retirement Savings Plan" below). Employees hired before January 1, 2006 continue to be eligible for and accrue benefits under the Qualified Plan.

The Excess Plan uses the same retirement benefit formula set forth in the Qualified Plan, but includes earnings that are excluded under the Qualified Plan due to Internal Revenue Service Code qualified pension plan limitations. Benefits payable under the Qualified Plan offset benefits payable under the Excess Plan. Employees vested under the Qualified Plan are vested under the Excess Plan; however, benefits under the Excess Plan are subject to forfeiture if employment is terminated for cause and, for those who leave the Company prior to age 65, if they fail to execute and adhere to noncompetition and confidentiality covenants. Under the Excess Plan, participants who retire with at least 10 years of service may elect to receive reduced retirement benefits starting at age 55.

The SRIP supplements the Qualified Plan, Excess Plan and Social Security by providing additional payments upon a participant's retirement. SRIP benefits are determined by a percentage of average final compensation; this percentage increases as specified service plateaus are achieved. Benefits payable under the Qualified Plan, Excess Plan and Social Security offset benefits payable under the SRIP. Under the SRIP, benefits vest when a participant both (i) attains age 55 while employed by the Company and (ii) has provided at least 10 years of service. In certain limited circumstances, early vesting can occur due to a change in control. Benefits under the SRIP are forfeited if benefits under the Excess Plan are forfeited.

Benefits for the Other Plans are typically based on monthly eligible compensation and the number of years of service. Benefits are typically payable in a lump sum upon retirement, termination, resignation or death if the participant has completed the requisite service period.

The Company accounts for pension expense using the projected unit credit actuarial method for financial reporting purposes. The actuarial present value of the benefit obligation is calculated based on the expected date of separation or retirement of the Company's eligible employees.

The Company provides certain health-care and life insurance benefits ("Other Postretirement Benefits") for certain retired employees and accrues the cost of providing these benefits throughout the employees' active service period until they attain full eligibility for those benefits. Substantially all of the Company's U.S. full-time employees hired on or before March 31, 2012 may become eligible for these benefits if they reach normal or early retirement age while working for the Company. The cost of providing postretirement health-care benefits is shared by the retiree and the Company, with retiree contributions evaluated annually and adjusted in order to maintain the Company/retiree cost-sharing target ratio. The life insurance benefits are noncontributory. The Company's employee and retiree health-care benefits are administered by an insurance company, and premiums on life insurance are based on prior years' claims experience.
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Obligations and Funded Status

The following tables provide a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of the pension and other postretirement benefit plans as of the measurement date:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,

	
	
	
	Pension Benefits
	
	Other Postretirement Benefits

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Change in benefit obligation:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year
	$
	795.0
	$
	795.6
	
	$
	76.1
	$
	78.5

	Service cost
	
	17.0
	
	17.9
	
	
	2.6
	
	3.0

	Interest cost
	
	32.5
	
	30.7
	
	
	3.3
	
	3.0

	Participants' contributions
	
	—
	
	—
	
	1.3
	
	1.3

	MMA retiree drug subsidy
	
	—
	
	—
	
	0.1
	
	0.1

	Actuarial loss (gain)
	
	139.8
	
	(22.4)
	
	
	15.4
	
	(7.0)

	Benefits paid
	
	(28.2)
	
	(26.8)
	
	
	(2.7)
	
	(2.8)

	Projected benefit obligation at end of year
	
	956.1
	
	795.0
	
	
	96.1
	
	76.1

	Change in plan assets:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
	
	549.7
	
	578.1
	
	
	—
	
	—

	Actual return on plan assets
	
	109.9
	
	(20.1)
	
	
	—
	
	—

	Employer contributions
	
	37.3
	
	18.5
	
	
	1.3
	
	1.4

	Participants' contributions
	
	—
	
	—
	
	1.3
	
	1.3

	MMA retiree drug subsidy
	
	—
	
	—
	
	0.1
	
	0.1

	Benefits paid
	
	(28.2)
	
	(26.8)
	
	
	(2.7)
	
	(2.8)

	Fair value of plan assets at end of year
	
	668.7
	
	549.7
	
	
	—
	
	—

	Funded status at end of year
	$
	(287.4)
	$
	(245.3)
	
	$
	(96.1)
	$
	(76.1)




Actuarial losses in 2019 reflect decreases in the discount rates for all plans.

The following tables provide additional information regarding the Company's pension plans' projected benefit obligations and assets (included in pension benefits in the table above) and accumulated benefit obligation:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	January 31, 2020

	(in millions)
	
	Qualified
	
	Excess/SRIP
	
	Other
	
	Total

	Projected benefit obligation
	$
	800.3
	$
	127.8
	$
	28.0
	$
	956.1

	Fair value of plan assets
	
	668.7
	
	—
	
	—
	
	668.7

	Funded status
	$
	(131.6)
	$
	(127.8)
	$
	(28.0)
	$
	(287.4)

	Accumulated benefit obligation
	$
	722.1
	$
	110.6
	$
	22.8
	$
	855.5
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	January 31, 2019

	(in millions)
	
	Qualified
	
	Excess/SRIP
	
	Other
	
	Total

	Projected benefit obligation
	$
	658.5
	$
	109.4
	$
	27.1
	$
	795.0

	Fair value of plan assets
	
	549.7
	
	—
	
	—
	
	549.7

	Funded status
	$
	(108.8)
	$
	(109.4)
	$
	(27.1)
	$
	(245.3)

	Accumulated benefit obligation
	$
	598.8
	$
	94.0
	$
	22.2
	$
	715.0



At January 31, 2020, the Company had a current liability of $9.0 million and a non-current liability of $374.5 million for pension and other postretirement benefits. At January 31, 2019, the Company had a current liability of $9.0 million and a non-current liability of $312.4 million for pension and other postretirement benefits.

Pre-tax amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss consisted of:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	January 31,

	
	
	
	Pension Benefits
	
	Other Postretirement Benefits

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Net actuarial loss (gain)
	$
	188.0
	$
	132.7
	
	$
	9.7
	$
	(5.8)

	Prior service cost (credit)
	
	0.4
	
	0.5
	
	
	(0.4)
	
	(1.0)

	Total before tax
	$
	188.4
	$
	133.2
	
	$
	9.3
	$
	(6.8)





Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost and

Other Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Earnings


	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,
	

	
	
	
	
	Pension Benefits
	
	
	Other Postretirement Benefits
	

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018
	
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018
	

	Service cost
	$
	17.0
	$
	17.9
	$
	17.3
	
	$
	2.6
	$
	3.0
	$
	2.8
	

	Interest cost
	
	32.5
	
	30.7
	
	32.0
	
	
	3.3
	
	3.0
	
	3.0
	

	Expected return on plan assets
	
	(36.7)
	
	(33.4)
	
	(32.9)
	
	
	—
	
	—
	
	—
	

	Amortization of prior service cost (credit)
	
	0.1
	
	0.1
	
	0.2
	
	
	(0.6)
	
	(0.7)
	
	(0.7)
	

	Amortization of net loss (gain)
	
	11.3
	
	15.0
	
	13.2
	
	
	(0.1)
	
	0.1
	
	0.1
	

	Net periodic benefit cost
	
	24.2
	
	30.3
	
	29.8
	
	
	5.2
	
	5.4
	
	5.2
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net actuarial loss (gain)
	
	66.6
	
	31.2
	
	(32.1)
	
	
	15.4
	
	(7.0)
	
	1.5
	

	Recognized actuarial (loss) gain
	
	(11.3)
	
	(15.0)
	
	(13.2)
	
	
	0.1
	
	(0.1)
	
	(0.1)
	

	Recognized prior service (cost) credit
	
	(0.1)
	
	(0.1)
	
	(0.2)
	
	
	0.6
	
	0.7
	
	0.7
	

	Total recognized in other comprehensive
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	earnings
	
	55.2
	
	16.1
	
	(45.5)
	
	
	16.1
	
	(6.4)
	
	2.1
	

	Total recognized in net periodic benefit
	$
	79.4
	$
	46.4
	$
	(15.7)
	
	$
	21.3
	$
	(1.0)
	$
	7.3
	

	cost and other comprehensive earnings
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	




The non-service cost components of the net periodic benefit cost are included within Other expense, net on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
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	Assumptions
	
	
	
	

	Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations:
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	January 31,

	
	
	
	
	
	2020
	2019

	Discount rate:
	
	
	
	

	Qualified Plan
	
	
	3.25%
	4.25%

	Excess Plan/SRIP
	
	
	3.00%
	4.25%

	Other Plans
	
	
	0.76%
	0.81%

	Other Postretirement Benefits
	
	
	3.25%
	4.50%

	Rate of increase in compensation:
	
	
	
	

	Qualified Plan
	
	
	3.00%
	3.00%

	Excess Plan
	
	
	4.25%
	4.25%

	SRIP
	
	
	6.50%
	6.50%

	Other Plans
	
	
	2.56%
	2.56%

	Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost:
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,

	
	
	
	2020
	2019
	2018

	Discount rate:
	
	
	
	

	Qualified Plan
	4.25%
	4.00%
	4.25%

	Excess Plan/SRIP
	4.25%
	3.75%
	4.25%

	Other Plans
	1.32%
	1.54%
	1.49%

	Other Postretirement Benefits
	4.50%
	4.00%
	4.25%

	Expected return on plan assets
	7.00%
	7.00%
	7.00%

	Rate of increase in compensation:
	
	
	
	

	Qualified Plan
	3.00%
	3.00%
	3.00%

	Excess Plan
	4.25%
	4.25%
	4.25%

	SRIP
	6.50%
	6.50%
	6.50%

	Other Plans
	2.66%
	1.41%
	1.38%




The expected long-term rate of return on Qualified Plan assets is selected by taking into account the average rate of return expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for benefits included in the projected benefit obligation. More specifically, consideration is given to the expected rates of return (including reinvestment asset return rates) based upon the plan's current asset mix, investment strategy and the historical performance of plan assets.

For postretirement benefit measurement purposes, a 6.50% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care was assumed for 2020. This rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 4.75% by 2023 and remain at that level thereafter.

Plan Assets

The Company's investment objectives related to the Qualified Plan's assets are the preservation of principal and balancing the management of interest rate risk associated with the duration of the plan's liabilities with the achievement of a reasonable rate of return over time. The Qualified Plan's assets are allocated based on an
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expectation that equity securities will outperform debt securities over the long term, but that as the plan's funded status (assets relative to liabilities) increases, the amount of assets allocated to fixed income securities which match the interest rate risk profile of the plan's liabilities will increase. The Company's target asset allocation based on its funded status as of January 31, 2020 is as follows: approximately 50% in equity securities; approximately 35% in fixed income securities; and approximately 15% in other securities. The Company attempts to mitigate investment risk by rebalancing the asset allocation periodically.

The fair value of the Qualified Plan's assets at January 31, 2020 and 2019 by asset category is as follows:

	
	
	
	
	Fair Value Measurements
	

	
	
	Fair Value at
	
	Using Inputs Considered as*
	

	(in millions)
	
	January 31, 2020
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3

	Equity securities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	U.S. equity securities
	$
	53.0
	$
	53.0
	$
	—
	$
	—

	Mutual funds
	
	119.5
	
	119.5
	
	—
	
	—

	Fixed income securities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Government bonds
	
	100.5
	
	99.3
	
	1.2
	
	—

	Corporate bonds
	
	139.9
	
	—
	
	139.9
	
	—

	Other types of investments:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	
	2.5
	
	2.5
	
	—
	
	—

	Mutual funds
	
	73.9
	
	61.8
	
	12.1
	
	—

	Net assets in fair value hierarchy
	
	489.3
	
	336.1
	
	153.2
	
	—

	Investments at NAV practical expedient a
	
	179.4
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Plan assets at fair value
	$
	668.7
	$
	336.1
	$
	153.2
	$
	—

	
	
	
	
	Fair Value Measurements
	

	
	
	Fair Value at
	
	Using Inputs Considered as*
	

	(in millions)
	
	January 31, 2019
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3

	Equity securities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	U.S. equity securities
	$
	63.4
	$
	63.4
	$
	—
	$
	—

	Mutual fund
	
	38.7
	
	38.7
	
	—
	
	—

	Fixed income securities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Government bonds
	
	80.8
	
	79.6
	
	1.2
	
	—

	Corporate bonds
	
	122.7
	
	—
	
	122.7
	
	—

	Other types of investments:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	
	2.7
	
	2.7
	
	—
	
	—

	Mutual funds
	
	52.0
	
	52.0
	
	—
	
	—

	Net assets in fair value hierarchy
	
	360.3
	
	236.4
	
	123.9
	
	—

	Investments at NAV practical expedient a
	
	189.4
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Plan assets at fair value
	$
	549.7
	$
	236.4
	$
	123.9
	$
	—



· See "Note J. Fair Value of Financial Instruments" for a description of the levels of inputs.

· In accordance with ASC 820-10, certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value ("NAV") per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the Qualified Plan's fair value of plan assets at the end of each respective year.
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Valuation Techniques

Investments within the fair value hierarchy. Securities traded on the national securities exchange (certain government bonds) are valued at the last reported sales price or closing price on the last business day of the fiscal year. Investments traded in the over-the-counter market and listed securities for which no sales were reported (certain government bonds, corporate bonds and mortgage obligations) are valued at the last reported bid price. Certain fixed income investments are held in separately managed accounts and those investments are valued using the underlying securities in the accounts.

Investments in mutual funds are stated at fair value as determined by quoted market prices based on the NAV of shares held by the Qualified Plan at year-end. Investments in U.S. equity securities are valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual securities are traded.

Investments measured at NAV. This category consists of common/collective trusts and limited partnerships.

Common/collective trusts include investments in U.S. and international large, middle and small capitalization equities. Investments in common/collective trusts are stated at estimated fair value, which represents the NAV of shares held by the Qualified Plan as reported by the investment advisor. The NAV is based on the value of the underlying assets owned by the common/collective trust, minus its liabilities and then divided by the number of shares outstanding. The NAV is used as a practical expedient to estimate fair value.

The Qualified Plan maintains investments in limited partnerships that are valued at estimated fair value based on financial information received from the investment advisor and/or general partner. The NAV is based on the value of the underlying assets owned by the fund, minus its liabilities and then divided by the number of shares outstanding. The NAV is used as a practical expedient to estimate fair value.

	
	
	Benefit Payments
	
	

	The Company estimates the following future benefit payments:
	
	

	
	
	Pension Benefits
	
	Other Postretirement Benefits

	Years Ending January 31,
	
	(in millions)
	
	(in millions)

	2021
	$
	29.3
	$
	2.0

	2022
	
	30.4
	
	2.1

	2023
	
	31.1
	
	2.2

	2024
	
	32.6
	
	2.4

	2025
	
	33.9
	
	2.5

	2026-2030
	
	197.5
	
	16.1



Employee Profit Sharing and Retirement Savings ("EPSRS") Plan

The Company maintains an EPSRS Plan that covers substantially all U.S.-based employees. Under the profit-sharing feature of the EPSRS Plan, the Company made contributions, in the form of newly issued Company Common Stock through 2014, to the employees' accounts based on the achievement of certain targeted earnings objectives established by, or as otherwise determined by, the Company's Board of Directors. Beginning in 2015, these contributions were made in cash. The EPSRS Plan provides a retirement savings feature, a profit sharing feature and a defined contribution retirement benefit ("DCRB"). The DCRB is provided to eligible employees hired on or after January 1, 2006. Contributions related to the retirement savings feature and profit sharing feature for a particular plan year are made the following year.

Under the retirement savings feature of the EPSRS Plan, employees who meet certain eligibility requirements may participate by contributing up to 50% of their annual compensation, not to exceed Internal Revenue Service limits, and the Company may provide a matching cash contribution of 50% of each participant's contributions, with a maximum matching contribution of 3% of each participant's total compensation. The Company recorded expense of $9.2 million, $8.6 million and $8.2 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, related to the retirement savings feature of the EPSRS Plan.
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Under the profit-sharing feature of the EPSRS Plan, contributions are made in cash and are allocated within the respective participant's account based on investment elections made under the EPSRS Plan. If the participant has made no election, the contribution will be invested in the appropriate default target fund as determined by each participant's date of birth. Under the retirement savings portion of the EPSRS Plan, employees may invest their contributions and the related matching contribution to their accounts in a similar manner. Under both the profit-sharing and retirement savings features, employees may elect to invest a portion of the contributions to their accounts in Company stock. At January 31, 2020, investments in Company stock represented 19% of total EPSRS Plan assets. The Company recorded expense of $4.9 million and $3.9 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively, related to the profit sharing feature of the EPSRS Plan and did not record any such expense in 2019.

Under the DCRB, the Company makes contributions each year to each employee's account at a rate based upon age and years of service. These contributions are deposited into individual accounts in each employee's name to be invested in a manner similar to the profit-sharing and retirement savings portions of the EPSRS Plan (except that DCRB contributions may not be invested in Company stock). The Company recorded expense of $7.2 million, $4.7 million and $5.2 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, related to the DCRB.

Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company has a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for directors, executives and certain management employees, whereby eligible participants may defer a portion of their compensation for payment at specified future dates, upon retirement, death or termination of employment. This plan also provides for an excess defined contribution retirement benefit ("Excess DC benefit") for certain eligible executives and management employees, hired on or after January 1, 2006. The Excess DC benefit is credited to the eligible employee's account, based on the compensation paid to the employee in excess of the IRS limits for contributions under the DCRB Plan. Under the plan, the deferred compensation is adjusted to reflect performance, whether positive or negative, of selected investment options chosen by each participant during the deferral period. The amounts accrued under the plans were $27.6 million and $ 22.6 million at January 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and are reflected in Other long-term liabilities. The Company does not promise or guarantee any rate of return on amounts deferred.


P. INCOME TAXES

U.S. Federal Income Tax Reform

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "2017 Tax Act") was enacted in the U.S. This enactment resulted in a number of significant changes to U.S. federal income tax law for U.S. taxpayers. Changes in tax law are accounted for in the period of enactment. As such, the Company's 2017 consolidated financial statements reflected the estimated immediate tax effect of the 2017 Tax Act. The 2017 Tax Act contains a number of key provisions, including, among other items:

· The reduction of the statutory U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from 35.0% to 21.0% effective January 1, 2018;

· A one-time transition tax via a mandatory deemed repatriation of post-1986 undistributed foreign earnings and profits (the "Transition Tax");

· A deduction for Foreign Derived Intangible Income ("FDII") for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017;

· A tax on global intangible low-taxed income ("GILTI") for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017;

· A limitation on net interest expense deductions to 30% of adjusted taxable income for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017;

· Broader limitations on the deductibility of compensation of certain highly compensated employees;

· The ability to elect to accelerate tax depreciation on certain qualified assets;

· A territorial tax system providing a 100% dividends received deduction on certain qualified dividends from foreign subsidiaries for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017;

· The Base Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax ("BEAT") for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017; and

· Changes in the application of the U.S. foreign tax credit regulations for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017.
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Additionally, on December 22, 2017, the SEC issued SAB 118 to address the application of U.S. GAAP in situations when a registrant did not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed (including computations) in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act. Specifically, SAB 118 provided a measurement period for companies to evaluate the impacts of the 2017 Tax Act on their financial statements. This measurement period began in the reporting period that included the enactment date and ended when an entity obtained, prepared and analyzed the information that was needed in order to complete the accounting requirements, but could not exceed one year. The Company adopted the provisions of SAB 118 with respect to the impact of the 2017 Tax Act on its 2017 consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended January 31, 2018, the Company recorded an estimated net tax expense of $146.2 million as a result of the effects of the 2017 Tax Act. The tax effects recorded included:

· Estimated tax expense of $94.8 million for the impact of the reduction in the U.S. statutory tax rate on the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities;

· Estimated tax expense of $56.0 million for the Transition Tax; and

· A tax benefit of $4.6 million resulting from the effect of the 21% statutory income tax rate for the month of January 2018 on the Company's annual statutory income tax rate for the year ended January 31, 2018. Because the Company's fiscal year ended on January 31, 2018, the Company's statutory income tax rate for fiscal 2017 was 33.8% rather than 35.0%.

Consistent with SAB 118, the Company calculated and recorded reasonable estimates for the impact of the Transition Tax and the remeasurement of its deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, as set forth above. The Company also adopted the provisions of SAB 118 as it related to the assertion of the indefinite reinvestment of foreign earnings and profits. The charges associated with the Transition Tax and the remeasurement of the Company's deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, as a result of applying the 2017 Tax Act, represented provisional amounts for which the Company's analysis was incomplete but reasonable estimates could be determined and were recorded during the fourth quarter of 2017. Further, the impact of the 2017 Tax Act on the Company's assertion to indefinitely reinvest foreign earnings was incomplete as the Company was analyzing the relevant provisions of the 2017 Tax Act and related accounting guidance.

During the year ended January 31, 2019, as permitted by SAB 118, the Company completed its analyses under the 2017 Tax Act, including those related to: (i) the provisional estimate recorded during the year ended January 31, 2018 for the Transition Tax; (ii) the provisional estimate recorded during the year ended January 31, 2018 to remeasure the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities; and (iii) the Company's assertion to indefinitely reinvest undistributed foreign earnings and profits.

As a result of completing these analyses, during the year ended January 31, 2019, the Company: (i) recorded tax benefits totaling $12.6 million to adjust the provisional estimate recorded in the year ended January 31, 2018 to remeasure the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities; (ii) recorded tax benefits totaling $3.3 million to adjust the provisional estimate recorded in the year ended January 31, 2018 for the Transition Tax; and (iii) determined to maintain its assertion to indefinitely reinvest undistributed foreign earnings and profits.

The Company continues to maintain its assertion to indefinitely reinvest undistributed foreign earnings and profits, which amounted to approximately $1.0 billion as of January 31,2020.

Upon distribution of those foreign earnings and profits in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subject to U.S. state and local taxes, taxes on foreign currency gains and withholding taxes payable in various jurisdictions, which may be partially offset by foreign tax credits. Determination of the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability is not practicable because of the complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation.

The Company expects to continue to account for the tax on GILTI as a period cost and therefore has not adjusted any of the deferred tax assets and liabilities of its foreign subsidiaries in connection with the 2017 Tax Act.
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Income Taxes

Earnings from operations before income taxes consisted of the following:

	
	
	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	United States
	$
	520.1
	$
	584.5
	$
	597.1

	Foreign
	
	170.2
	
	159.0
	
	163.4

	
	$
	690.3
	$
	743.5
	$
	760.5




Components of the provision for income taxes were as follows:

	
	
	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Current:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Federal
	$
	79.7
	$
	112.5
	$
	227.9

	State
	
	11.7
	
	18.2
	
	16.7

	Foreign
	
	51.2
	
	47.7
	
	49.0

	
	
	142.6
	
	178.4
	
	293.6

	Deferred:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Federal
	
	10.9
	
	(23.2)
	
	94.1

	State
	
	0.6
	
	(2.0)
	
	1.1

	Foreign
	
	(4.9)
	
	3.9
	
	1.6

	
	
	6.6
	
	(21.3)
	
	96.8

	
	$
	149.2
	$
	157.1
	$
	390.4




Reconciliations of the provision for income taxes at the statutory Federal income tax rate to the Company's effective income tax rate were as follows:

	
	
	Years Ended January 31,
	

	
	2020
	2019
	2018
	

	Statutory Federal income tax rate
	21.0 %
	21.0 %
	33.8 %
	

	State income taxes, net of Federal benefit
	1.4
	1.5
	1.5
	

	Foreign losses with no tax benefit
	—
	—
	0.2
	

	Effect of Foreign Operations
	1.8
	1.1
	(1.4)
	

	Net change in uncertain tax positions
	1.1
	(0.4)
	0.2
	

	Domestic manufacturing deduction
	—
	—
	(1.8)
	

	Foreign Derived Intangible Income deduction
	(4.0)
	(2.6)
	—
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Impact of the 2017 Tax Act
	—
	1.3
	19.8
	

	Other
	0.3
	(0.8)
	(1.0)
	

	
	21.6 %
	21.1 %
	51.3 %
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Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consisted of the following:

	
	
	
	
	January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Deferred tax assets:
	
	
	
	

	Operating lease liabilities
	$
	293.7
	$
	—

	Pension/postretirement benefits
	
	101.9
	
	82.1

	Accrued expenses
	
	21.7
	
	31.3

	Share-based compensation
	
	5.7
	
	7.9

	Depreciation and amortization
	
	54.7
	
	18.1

	Foreign and state net operating losses
	
	6.5
	
	7.0

	Sale-leasebacks
	
	—
	
	13.1

	Inventory
	
	33.3
	
	42.5

	Unearned income
	
	7.9
	
	7.2

	Other
	
	22.2
	
	28.8

	
	
	547.6
	
	238.0

	Valuation allowance
	
	(10.9)
	
	(8.5)

	
	
	536.7
	
	229.5

	Deferred tax liabilities:
	
	
	
	

	Operating lease right-of-use assets
	
	(301.2)
	
	—

	Foreign tax credit and other tax liabilities
	
	(12.3)
	
	(21.5)

	Net deferred tax asset
	$
	223.2
	$
	208.0




The Company has recorded a valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets related to foreign net operating loss carryforwards where management has determined it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized in the future. The overall valuation allowance relates to tax loss carryforwards and temporary differences for which no benefit is expected to be realized. Tax loss carryforwards of $21.8 million exist in certain foreign jurisdictions. Whereas some of these tax loss carryforwards do not have an expiration date, others expire at various times from 2020 through 2036.

The following table reconciles the unrecognized tax benefits:

Years ended January 31,
[image: ]

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year
	$
	17.3
	$
	10.1
	$
	7.2

	Gross increases – tax positions in prior period
	
	6.3
	
	8.0
	
	3.2

	Gross decreases – tax positions in prior period
	
	(0.7)
	
	—
	
	(0.9)

	Gross increases – tax positions in current period
	
	1.9
	
	1.3
	
	0.6

	Settlements
	
	(5.2)
	
	—
	
	—

	Lapse of statute of limitations
	
	0.1
	
	(2.1)
	
	—

	Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year
	$
	19.7
	$
	17.3
	$
	10.1




The amount of tax benefits included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at January 31, 2020 that, if recognized, would affect the effective income tax rate was $18.5 million.

The Company recognizes expense for interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the provision for income taxes. The Company recognized a benefit of $1.3 million in 2019, a benefit of $6.2 million in 2018 and
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expense of $2.0 million in 2017 for interest and penalties. Accrued interest and penalties, which amounted to $ 2.9 million and $4.2 million at January 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, is included within Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and Other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company conducts business globally and, as a result, is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various state and foreign jurisdictions. As a matter of course, tax authorities regularly audit the Company. The Company's tax filings are currently being examined by a number of tax authorities, both in the U.S. and in foreign jurisdictions. Ongoing audits where subsidiaries have a material presence include New York City (tax years 2011–2015) and New York State (tax years 2012–2018). Tax years from 2010–present are open to examination in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction and 2006–present are open in various state, local and foreign jurisdictions. As part of these audits, the Company engages in discussions with taxing authorities regarding tax positions. As of January 31, 2020, unrecognized tax benefits are not expected to change materially in the next 12 months. Future developments may result in a change in this assessment.


Q. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Net sales by geographic area are presented by attributing revenues from external customers on the basis of the country in which the merchandise is sold. In deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance, the Company's Chief Operating Decision Maker regularly evaluates the performance of its reportable segments on the basis of net sales and earnings from operations, after the elimination of inter-segment sales and transfers. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in "Note C. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies."

Certain information relating to the Company's segments is set forth below:

Years Ended January 31,
[image: ]

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Net sales:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Americas
	$
	1,924.0
	$
	1,960.3
	$
	1,870.9

	Asia-Pacific
	
	1,258.2
	
	1,239.0
	
	1,095.0

	Japan
	
	649.8
	
	643.0
	
	596.3

	Europe
	
	498.3
	
	504.4
	
	489.0

	Total reportable segments
	
	4,330.3
	
	4,346.7
	
	4,051.2

	Other
	
	93.7
	
	95.4
	
	118.6

	
	$
	4,424.0
	$
	4,442.1
	$
	4,169.8

	Earnings from operations*:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Americas
	$
	382.2
	$
	386.7
	$
	399.0

	Asia-Pacific
	
	254.3
	
	311.5
	
	287.7

	Japan
	
	229.7
	
	237.2
	
	209.3

	Europe
	
	83.1
	
	86.2
	
	90.4

	Total reportable segments
	
	949.3
	
	1,021.6
	
	986.4

	Other
	
	11.3
	
	(6.4)
	
	3.6

	
	$
	960.6
	$
	1,015.2
	$
	990.0




· Represents earnings from operations before (i) unallocated corporate expenses, (ii) Interest expense and financing costs and Other expense, net, and (iii) other operating expenses.
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The Company's Chief Operating Decision Maker does not evaluate the performance of the Company's assets on a segment basis for internal management reporting and, therefore, such information is not presented. The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the segments' earnings from operations to the Company's consolidated earnings from operations before income taxes:

	
	
	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Earnings from operations for segments
	$
	960.6
	$
	1,015.2
	$
	990.0

	Unallocated corporate expenses
	
	(206.8)
	
	(224.9)
	
	(180.6)

	Interest expense and financing costs and Other expense,
	
	
	
	
	
	

	net
	
	(42.3)
	
	(46.8)
	
	(48.9)

	Other operating expenses
	
	(21.2)
	
	—
	
	—

	Earnings from operations before income taxes
	$
	690.3
	$
	743.5
	$
	760.5




Unallocated corporate expenses include certain costs related to administrative support functions which the Company does not allocate to its segments. Such unallocated costs include those for centralized information technology, finance, legal and human resources departments.

Other operating expenses in the year ended January 31, 2020 represent charges related to the proposed Merger. See "Note B. Entry into Merger Agreement" for additional details.

Sales to unaffiliated customers by geographic area were as follows:

	
	
	
	
	
	Years Ended January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018

	Net sales:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	United States
	$
	1,796.9
	$
	1,837.5
	$
	1,739.0

	Japan
	
	649.8
	
	643.0
	
	596.3

	Other countries
	
	1,977.3
	
	1,961.6
	
	1,834.5

	
	$
	4,424.0
	$
	4,442.1
	$
	4,169.8




Net sales information for classes of similar products is presented in "Note C. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies."

Long-lived assets by geographic area were as follows:

	
	
	
	
	January 31,

	(in millions)
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Long-lived assets:
	
	
	
	

	United States
	$
	819.6
	$
	762.9

	Japan
	
	17.9
	
	18.9

	Other countries
	
	324.8
	
	306.1

	
	$
	1,162.3
	$
	1,087.9
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R. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)


2019 Quarters Ended
[image: ]

	(in millions, except per share amounts)
	
	April 30
	
	July 31
	
	October 31
	
	January 31 a

	Net sales
	$
	1,003.1
	$
	1,048.5
	$
	1,014.6
	$
	1,357.8

	Gross profit
	
	619.2
	
	657.7
	
	625.7
	
	859.3

	Earnings from operations
	
	160.9
	
	184.3
	
	118.5
	
	268.9

	Net earnings
	
	125.2
	
	136.3
	
	78.4
	
	201.2

	Net earnings per share:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic
	$
	1.03
	$
	1.13
	$
	0.65
	$
	1.67

	Diluted
	$
	1.03
	$
	1.12
	$
	0.65
	$
	1.66

	
	
	
	
	
	
	2018 Quarters Ended

	(in millions, except per share amounts)
	
	April 30
	
	July 31
	
	October 31
	
	January 31

	Net sales
	$
	1,033.2
	$
	1,075.9
	$
	1,012.4
	$
	1,320.6

	Gross profit
	
	650.9
	
	688.8
	
	629.3
	
	842.0

	Earnings from operations
	
	204.3
	
	191.2
	
	126.4
	
	268.4

	Net earnings
	
	142.3
	
	144.7
	
	94.9
	
	204.5

	Net earnings per share:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic
	$
	1.14
	$
	1.17
	$
	0.78
	$
	1.68

	Diluted
	$
	1.14
	$
	1.17
	$
	0.77
	$
	1.67




· Net earnings included $21.2 million of pre-tax expense ($17.1 million after tax expense, or $0.14 per diluted share) for expenses incurred related to the proposed Merger (see "Note B. Entry into Merger Agreement") for the quarter ended January 31, 2020.

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed independently for each quarter presented. Accordingly, the sum of the quarterly earnings per share may not agree with the calculated full year earnings per share.

S. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In March 2020, the World Health Organization recognized the novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, as a pandemic. This coronavirus outbreak has severely restricted the level of economic activity around the world. In response to this coronavirus outbreak, the governments of many countries, states, cities and other geographic regions have taken preventative or protective actions, such as imposing restrictions on travel and business operations and advising or requiring individuals to limit or forego their time outside of their homes. Temporary closures of businesses have been ordered and numerous other businesses have temporarily closed voluntarily. Further, individuals' ability to travel has been curtailed through mandated travel restrictions and may be further limited through additional voluntary or mandated closures of travel-related businesses. This coronavirus outbreak has had a significant effect on the Company's sales results to date in fiscal 2020. For example, as of March 19, 2020, the Company has temporarily closed all of its stores in the United States and Canada, and has temporarily closed nearly all of its stores across Europe and the United Kingdom. Given the uncertainty regarding the spread of this coronavirus, the related financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None


Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Based on their evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), the Registrant's principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Registrant in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is

(i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

In the ordinary course of business, the Registrant reviews its system of internal control over financial reporting and makes changes to its systems and processes to improve controls and increase efficiency, while ensuring that the Registrant maintains an effective internal control environment. Changes may include activities such as implementing new, more efficient systems and automating manual processes.

The Registrant's principal executive officer and principal financial officer have determined that there have been no changes in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting during the most recently completed fiscal quarter covered by this report identified in connection with the evaluation described above that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

The Registrant's management, including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, necessarily applied their judgment in assessing the costs and benefits of such controls and procedures. By their nature, such controls and procedures cannot provide absolute certainty, but can provide reasonable assurance regarding management's control objectives. Our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer have concluded that the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures are (i) designed to provide such reasonable assurance and (ii) effective at that reasonable assurance level.
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Report of Management

Management's Responsibility for Financial Information. The Company's consolidated financial statements were prepared by management, who are responsible for their integrity and objectivity. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and, as such, include amounts based on management's best estimates and judgments.

Management is further responsible for maintaining a system of internal accounting control designed to provide reasonable assurance that the Company's assets are adequately safeguarded, and that the accounting records reflect transactions executed in accordance with management's authorization. The system of internal control is continually reviewed and is augmented by written policies and procedures, the careful selection and training of qualified personnel and a program of internal audit.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. Their report is shown on page K-47. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of independent directors, reviewed and discussed with the Company's management and the independent registered public accounting firm, as appropriate, specific accounting, financial reporting and internal control matters. Both the independent registered public accounting firm and the internal auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee. Each year the Audit Committee selects the firm that is to perform audit services for the Company.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations ("COSO") of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued in 2013. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that internal control over financial reporting was effective as of January 31, 2020 based on criteria in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2020 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is shown on page K-47.

/s/ Alessandro Bogliolo

Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Mark J. Erceg

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer


Item 9B. Other Information.

None
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Incorporated by reference from the sections titled "Executive Officers of the Company," "Item 1. Election of the Board," and "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance" in Registrant's Proxy Statement dated April 20, 2020.

CODE OF ETHICS AND OTHER CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

Registrant has adopted a Code of Business and Ethical Conduct for its Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and all other officers of the Registrant. A copy of this Code is posted on the corporate governance section of the Registrant's website, https://investor.tiffany.com/index.php/corporate-governance; go to "Code of Conduct."

See Registrant's Proxy Statement dated April 20, 2020, for additional information within the section titled "Business Conduct Policy and Code of Ethics."

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Incorporated by reference from the sections titled "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance" and "Compensation of the CEO and Other Executive Officers" in Registrant's Proxy Statement dated April 20, 2020.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Incorporated by reference from the sections titled "Ownership of the Company" and "Compensation of the CEO and Other Executive Officers" in Registrant's Proxy Statement dated April 20, 2020.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Incorporated by reference from the sections titled "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance" and "Transactions with Related Persons" in Registrant's Proxy Statement dated April 20, 2020.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Incorporated by reference from the section titled "Relationship with Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" in Registrant's Proxy Statement dated April 20, 2020.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) List of Documents Filed As Part of This Report: 1. Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 31, 2020 and 2019.

Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings for the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements: Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves for the years ended January 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

All other schedules have been omitted since they are not applicable, not required, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibit Index in this report.


Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

Not Applicable.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Table (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K)

	Exhibit No.
	Description
	

	2.1
	
	
	
	
	Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 24, 2019, by and among Registrant, LVMH Moët Hennessy -

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Louis Vuitton SE, Breakfast Holdings Acquisition Corp. and Breakfast Acquisition Corp. Incorporated by reference
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	from Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 25, 2019.
	

	3.1
	
	
	
	
	Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 filed with Registrant's

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Report on Form 8-K dated May 16, 1996, as amended by the Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation

	
	
	
	
	
	
	dated May 20, 1999. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 filed with Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Fiscal Quarter ended July 31, 1999.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	3.1a
	
	Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant dated May 18, 2000. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit

	
	
	
	
	
	
	3.1b filed with Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended January 31, 2001.
	

	3.2
	
	
	
	
	Restated By-laws of Registrant, as last amended November 24, 2019.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	4.5
	
	
	
	
	Indenture, dated September 25, 2014, between Registrant, as issuer, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Company, N.A., as trustee. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.5 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	dated September 26, 2014.
	

	4.6
	
	
	
	
	Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated September 25, 2014, among Registrant, as issuer, certain subsidiaries of

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant, as guarantors thereto, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee. Incorporated

	
	
	
	
	
	
	by reference from Exhibit 4.6 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated September 26, 2014.
	
	

	4.7
	
	
	
	
	Supplemental Indenture No. 2, dated September 25, 2014, among Registrant, as issuer, certain subsidiaries of

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant, as guarantors thereto, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee. Incorporated

	
	
	
	
	
	
	by reference from Exhibit 4.7 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated September 26, 2014.
	

	4.8
	
	
	
	
	Description of Registrant's Common Stock.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	4.9
	
	
	
	
	Upon the request of the Securities and Exchange Commission, Registrant will furnish a copy of all instruments

	
	
	
	
	
	
	defining the rights of holders of all other long-term debt of Registrant.

	10.1
	
	
	Amended and Restated Agreement, dated as of December 27, 2012, by and between Tiffany and Company and Elsa

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Peretti. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.123 filed with Registrant's Report on Form 8-K dated January 2,

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	2013.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.2
	
	
	Ground Lease between Tiffany and Company and River Park Business Center, Inc., dated November 29, 2000.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.145 filed with Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year

	
	
	
	
	
	
	ended January 31, 2005.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.2a
	
	First Addendum to the Ground Lease between Tiffany and Company and River Park Business Center, Inc., dated

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	November 29, 2000. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.145a filed with Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	10-K for the Fiscal Year ended January 31, 2005.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.3
	
	
	Lease Agreement made as of September 28, 2005 between CLF Sylvan Way LLC and Tiffany and Company, and

	
	
	
	
	
	
	form of Registrant’s guaranty of such lease. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.149 filed with Registrant’s
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Report on Form 8-K dated September 23, 2005.
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	Exhibit No.
	Description
	

	10.4
	
	
	
	Five Year Credit Agreement dated as of October 25, 2018 by and among Registrant and each other Subsidiary of

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant that is a Borrower and is a signatory thereto and MUFG Bank Ltd., as Administrative Agent, and various

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	lenders party thereto. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.43 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated

	
	
	
	
	
	October 31, 2018.
	
	

	10.5
	
	
	
	Amended and Restated Note Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement dated as of July 25, 2012 by and among

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant and various institutional note purchasers with respect to Registrant’s $100 million principal amount of

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	9.05% Series A Senior Notes due December 23, 2015, $150 million principal amount of 4.40% Series B-P Senior
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Notes due July 25, 2042 and private shelf facility. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.155 filed with Registrant’s

	
	
	
	
	
	Report on Form 8-K dated July 27, 2012.
	
	

	
	10.5a
	
	Amendment dated as of January 14, 2014 to the Amended and Restated Note Purchase and Private Shelf

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Agreement (see Exhibit 10.5 above) by and among Registrant, and various institutional note purchasers. Incorporated

	
	
	
	
	
	by reference from Exhibit 10.157 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated January 17, 2014.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.6
	
	
	
	Amended and Restated Note Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement dated as of July 25, 2012 by and among

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant and various institutional note purchasers with respect to Registrant’s $50 million principal amount of 10.0%

	
	
	
	
	
	Series A Senior Notes due April 9, 2018, $100 million principal amount of 4.40% Series B-M Senior Notes due July
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	25, 2042 and up to $50 million private shelf facility. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.159 filed with

	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated July 27, 2012.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.6a
	
	Amendment dated as of January 14, 2014 to the Amended and Restated Note Purchase and Private Shelf

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2012 (see Exhibit 10.6 above), by and among Registrant and various institutional
	

	
	
	
	
	
	note purchasers. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.161 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated

	
	
	
	
	
	January 17, 2014.
	
	

	10.7
	
	
	
	Note Purchase Agreement dated as of August 26, 2016 by and between Registrant and the institutional note

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	purchasers with respect to Registrant’s ¥ 10,000,000,000 principal amount of 0.78% Senior Notes due August 26,
	

	
	
	
	
	
	2026. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.37 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated September 1,

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	2016.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	14.1
	
	
	
	Code of Business and Ethical Conduct. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 14.1 filed with Registrant’s Report on

	
	
	
	
	
	Form 8-K dated September 27, 2017.
	
	

	21.1
	
	
	
	Subsidiaries of Registrant.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	23.1
	
	
	
	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31.1
	
	
	
	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31.2
	
	
	
	Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	32.1
	
	
	
	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

	
	
	
	
	
	Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
	

	32.2
	
	
	
	Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

	
	
	
	
	
	Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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	Exhibit No.
	Description
	

	101
	The following financial information from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January

	
	31, 2020, filed with the SEC, formatted in Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) the

	
	Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Earnings; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of

	
	Comprehensive Earnings; (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity; (v) the Consolidated Statements

	
	of Cash Flows; (vi) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements; and (vii) Schedule II - Valuation and

	
	Qualifying Accounts and Reserves.

	104
	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

	Executive Compensation Plans and Arrangements




	Exhibit No.
	Description
	

	
	10.8
	
	
	
	
	
	Form of Indemnity Agreement, approved by the Board of Directors on March 15, 2018 for use with directors, officers

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	and certain other employees of the Registrant or its subsidiaries. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.13 filed
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	with Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the Fiscal Quarter ended April 30, 2018.
	

	
	10.9
	
	
	
	
	
	Tiffany and Company Executive Deferral Plan originally made effective October 1, 1989, as amended and restated

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	effective October 17, 2019. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.38 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	dated October 22, 2019.
	

	10.10
	
	
	
	Registrant's Amended and Restated Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors originally made effective January 1,

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	1989, as amended through January 21, 1999. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.108 filed with Registrant's
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended January 31, 1999.
	

	
	10.11
	
	
	
	
	1994 Tiffany and Company Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, Amended and Restated as of March 17, 2016.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.21 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated March 22, 2016.
	

	
	10.12
	
	
	
	
	Summary of Executive Long Term Disability Plan available to executive officers. Incorporated by reference from

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Exhibit 10.24 filed with Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended January 31, 2013.
	

	
	10.12a
	
	
	Group Long Term Disability Insurance Policy issued by First Unum Life Insurance, Policy No. 533717 001.
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.24a filed with Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	ended January 31, 2013.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.12b
	
	
	Individual Disability Insurance Policy issued by Provident Life and Casualty Insurance Company. Incorporated by
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	reference from Exhibit 10.24b filed with Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended January

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	31, 2013.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.12c
	
	Individual Disability Insurance Policy issued by Lloyd’s of London. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.24c filed

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	with Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended January 31, 2013.
	
	

	
	10.13
	
	
	
	
	Summary of arrangements for the payment of premiums on life insurance policies owned by executive officers.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.137 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated February 2, 2009.
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	Exhibit No.
	Description
	

	
	10.14
	
	
	
	2004 Tiffany and Company Un-funded Retirement Income Plan to Recognize Compensation in Excess of Internal
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Revenue Code Limits, Amended and Restated as of November 16, 2017. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit
	

	
	
	
	
	
	10.22 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 21, 2017.
	

	
	10.15
	
	
	
	Registrant’s 2008 Directors Equity Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.3a filed with

	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated March 23, 2009.
	
	

	
	10.15a
	
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant’s 2008 Directors Equity
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.30a filed with Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-

	
	
	
	
	
	K for the Fiscal Year ended January 31, 2013.
	
	

	
	10.15b
	
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant’s 2008 Directors Equity
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Compensation Plan, effective May 26, 2016. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.28c filed with Registrant's

	
	
	
	
	
	Report on Form 8-K dated June 2, 2016.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.15c
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant’s 2008 Directors Equity

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Compensation Plan, effective March 16, 2017. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.25d filed with Registrant’s

	
	
	
	
	
	Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended January 31 2017.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.16
	
	
	
	Registrant’s 2017 Directors Equity Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.38 filed with

	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant's Report on Form 8-K dated June 1, 2017.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.16a
	
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant's 2017 Directors Equity

	
	
	
	
	
	Compensation Plan, effective November 16, 2017. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.38a filed with
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 21, 2017.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.16b
	
	
	Terms of Restricted Stock Unit Grant under Registrant's 2017 Directors Equity Compensation Plan, effective
	

	
	
	
	
	
	November 16, 2017. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.38b filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated

	
	
	
	
	
	November 21, 2017.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.17
	
	
	
	Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive Plan, amended and restated as of March 16, 2016. Incorporated by reference

	
	
	
	
	
	from Exhibit 10.29 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated March 22, 2016.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.17a
	
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive Plan.

	
	
	
	
	
	Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.31a filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated July 18, 2014.
	
	

	
	10.17b
	
	
	Terms of Time-Vesting Restricted Stock Grant (Non-Transferable) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive Plan.

	
	
	
	
	
	Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.31d filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated July 18, 2014.
	
	

	
	10.17c
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive Plan,

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	as revised March 16, 2016. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.29g filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K

	
	
	
	
	
	dated March 22, 2016.
	
	

	
	10.17d
	
	
	Terms of Tranche-Vesting Restricted Stock Grant (Non-Transferable) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Plan, as revised March 16, 2016. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.29j filed with Registrant’s Report on Form

	
	
	
	
	
	8-K dated March 22, 2016.
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	Exhibit No.
	Description
	

	
	10.17e
	
	
	Form of Cash Incentive Award Agreement for executive officers as adopted on January 19, 2017 under Registrant’s
	

	
	
	
	
	
	2014 Employee Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.29l filed with Registrant’s Report on Form
	

	
	
	
	
	
	8-K dated January 25, 2017.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.17f
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive Plan,

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	as revised January 19, 2017. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.29n filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-
	

	
	
	
	
	
	K dated January 25, 2017.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.17g
	
	
	Terms of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Non-Transferable) to executive officers under Registrant’s
	

	
	
	
	
	
	2014 Employee Incentive Plan, as revised January 19, 2017. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.29o filed with
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated January 25, 2017.
	

	
	10.17h
	
	
	Terms of Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Non-Transferable) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive Plan, as
	

	
	
	
	
	
	revised January 19, 2017. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.29p filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K
	

	
	
	
	
	
	dated January 25, 2017.
	

	
	10.17i
	
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant's 2014 Employee Incentive Plan,
	

	
	
	
	
	
	approved March 16, 2017. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.25q filed with Registrant's Annual Report on

	
	
	
	
	
	Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended January 31, 2018.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.17j
	
	
	Terms of Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Non-Transferable) under Registrant's 2014 Employee Incentive Plan, approved
	

	
	
	
	
	
	March 16, 2017. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.25r filed with Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for

	
	
	
	
	
	the Fiscal Year ended January 31, 2018.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.17k
	
	Terms of Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Non-Transferable) under Registrant's 2014 Employee Incentive Plan, as

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	revised January 17, 2018. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.26q filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K
	

	
	
	
	
	
	dated January 19, 2018.
	

	
	10.17l
	
	
	Terms of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Non-Transferable) to executive officers under Registrant's
	

	
	
	
	
	
	2014 Employee Incentive Plan, as revised January 17, 2018. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.26r filed with
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated January 19, 2018.
	

	
	10.17m
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant's 2014 Employee Incentive Plan,

	
	
	
	
	
	as revised January 17, 2018. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.26s filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-
	

	
	
	
	
	
	K dated January 19, 2018.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.17n
	
	
	Terms of Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Non-Transferable) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive Plan, as
	

	
	
	
	
	
	revised September 20, 2018. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.25v filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-
	

	
	
	
	
	
	K dated September 26, 2018.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.17o
	
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive Plan,

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	as revised September 20, 2018. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.25w filed with Registrant’s Report on Form

	
	
	
	
	
	8-K dated September 26, 2018.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.17p
	
	
	Terms of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Non-Transferable) under Registrant's 2014 Employee
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Incentive Plan, as amended January 17, 2019. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.25x filed with Registrant's
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Report on Form 8-K dated January 24, 2019.
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	Exhibit No.
	Description
	

	
	10.17q
	
	
	Terms of Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Non-Transferable) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive Plan, as
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	revised October 16, 2019. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.24s filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	dated October 22, 2019.
	

	
	10.17r
	
	
	Terms of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Non-Transferable) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Incentive Plan, as revised October 16, 2019. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.24t filed with Registrant’s

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Report on Form 8-K dated October 22, 2019.
	
	

	
	10.17s
	
	Terms of Stock Option Award (Transferable Non-Qualified Option) under Registrant’s 2014 Employee Incentive Plan,

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	as revised October 16, 2019. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.24u filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	K dated October 22, 2019.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.17t
	
	Form of Non-Competition and Confidentiality Covenants, as revised October 16, 2019. Incorporated by reference

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	from Exhibit 10.24v filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated October 22, 2019.
	
	

	
	10.18
	
	
	
	
	
	Employment offer letter, dated as of September 7, 2016, between Mark J. Erceg and Tiffany and Company.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.29 filed with Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	ended January 31, 2017.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.19
	
	
	
	
	
	Employment offer letter, dated as of June 15, 2015, between Philippe Galtie and Tiffany and Company. Incorporated
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	by reference from Exhibit 10.32 filed with Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended January

	
	
	
	
	
	
	31, 2017.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.20
	
	
	
	
	
	Employment offer letter, dated as of July 12, 2017, by and among Alessandro Bogliolo, Registrant and Tiffany and
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Company. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.39 filed with Registrant's Report on Form 8-K dated July 12,

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	2017.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.21
	
	
	
	
	
	Employment offer letter, dated as of October 11, 2019, between Daniella Vitale and Tiffany and Company.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.22
	
	
	
	
	
	Share Ownership Policy for Executive Officers and Directors, amended and restated effective June 4, 2019.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.35 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated June 7, 2019.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.23
	
	
	
	
	
	Form of Retention Agreement with Registrant and Tiffany and Company, adopted September 20, 2018. Incorporated
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	by reference from Exhibit 10.40 filed with Registrant's Report on Form 8-K dated September 26, 2018.
	

	
	10.24
	
	
	
	
	
	Tiffany & Co. Executive Severance Plan, as amended October 16, 2019. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	10.37 filed with the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated October 22, 2019.
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	10.25
	
	
	
	
	
	Tiffany & Co. Director Compensation Deferral Plan, amended and restated effective June 4, 2019. Incorporated by
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	reference from Exhibit 10.35 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated June 7, 2019.

	
	10.26
	
	
	
	
	
	Form of Special Bonus Agreement for executive officers, effective December 13, 2019.
	
	

	
	10.27
	
	
	
	
	
	Form of Non-Competition and Confidentiality Covenants for executive officers, effective December 13, 2019.
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	Exhibit No.
	Description
	

	
	10.28
	
	Corporate Governance Principles, amended and restated effective December 3, 2019. Incorporated by reference

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	from Exhibit 10.39 filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated December 5, 2019.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.


	Date: March 20, 2020
	
	TIFFANY & CO.
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	(Registrant)
	

	
	
	By: /s/ Alessandro Bogliolo
	

	
	
	Alessandro Bogliolo
	

	
	
	Chief Executive Officer
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

	By:
	/s/ Alessandro Bogliolo
	By:
	/s/ Mark J. Erceg
	

	
	Alessandro Bogliolo
	
	Mark J. Erceg
	

	
	Chief Executive Officer
	
	Executive Vice President,
	

	
	(Principal Executive Officer) (Director)
	
	Chief Financial Officer
	

	
	
	
	(Principal Financial Officer)
	

	By:
	/s/ Michael Rinaldo
	By:
	/s/ Rose Marie Bravo
	

	
	Michael Rinaldo
	
	Rose Marie Bravo
	

	
	Vice President, Controller
	
	Director
	

	
	(Principal Accounting Officer)
	
	
	

	By:
	/s/ Hafize Gaye Erkan
	By:
	/s/ Roger N. Farah
	

	
	Hafize Gaye Erkan
	
	Roger N. Farah
	

	
	Director
	
	Director
	

	By:
	/s/ Jane Hertzmark Hudis
	By:
	/s/ Abby F. Kohnstamm
	

	
	Jane Hertzmark Hudis
	
	Abby F. Kohnstamm
	

	
	Director
	
	Director
	

	By:
	/s/ James E. Lillie
	By:
	/s/ William A. Shutzer
	

	
	James E. Lillie
	
	William A. Shutzer
	

	
	Director
	
	Director
	

	By:
	/s/ Robert S. Singer
	By:
	/s/ Annie Young - Scrivner
	

	
	Robert S. Singer
	
	Annie Young - Scrivner
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Tiffany & Co. and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

(in millions)

	Column A
	
	Column B
	
	Column C
	Column D
	
	Column E

	
	
	
	
	Additions
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Balance at
	
	Charged to
	
	Charged to
	
	
	Balance at

	
	
	beginning of
	
	costs and
	
	other
	
	
	end

	Description
	
	period
	
	expenses
	
	accounts
	Deductions
	
	of period

	Year Ended January 31, 2020:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Reserves deducted from assets:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accounts receivable allowances:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Doubtful accounts
	$
	1.6
	$
	3.7
	$
	—  $
	3.4
	a  $
	1.9

	Sales returns
	
	17.5
	
	4.1
	
	—
	4.4
	b
	17.2

	Allowance for inventory liquidation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	and obsolescence
	
	81.5
	
	21.6
	
	—
	22.5
	c
	80.6

	Allowance for inventory shrinkage
	
	1.3
	
	3.3
	
	—
	3.2
	d
	1.4

	Deferred tax valuation allowance
	
	8.5
	
	3.2
	
	—
	0.8
	e
	10.9



a) Uncollectible accounts written off.

b) Adjustment related to sales returns previously provided for.

c) Liquidation of inventory previously written down to net realizable value.

d) Physical inventory losses.

e) Reversal of deferred tax valuation allowance and recognition of deferred tax asset.
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Tiffany & Co. and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

(in millions)

	Column A
	
	Column B
	
	Column C
	Column D
	
	Column E

	
	
	
	
	Additions
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Balance at
	
	Charged to
	
	Charged to
	
	
	Balance at

	
	
	beginning of
	
	costs and
	
	other
	
	
	end

	Description
	
	period
	
	expenses
	
	accounts
	Deductions
	
	of period

	Year Ended January 31, 2019:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Reserves deducted from assets:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accounts receivable allowances:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Doubtful accounts
	$
	2.2
	$
	4.1
	$
	—  $
	4.7
	a  $
	1.6

	Sales returns
	
	15.0
	
	12.6
	
	—
	10.1
	b
	17.5

	Allowance for inventory liquidation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	and obsolescence
	
	75.0
	
	31.9
	
	—
	25.4
	c
	81.5

	Allowance for inventory shrinkage
	
	0.7
	
	1.7
	
	—
	1.1
	d
	1.3

	Deferred tax valuation allowance
	
	9.6
	
	0.2
	
	—
	1.3
	e
	8.5



a) Uncollectible accounts written off.

b) Adjustment related to sales returns previously provided for.

c) Liquidation of inventory previously written down to net realizable value.

d) Physical inventory losses.

e) Reversal of deferred tax valuation allowance and utilization of deferred tax loss carryforward.
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Tiffany & Co. and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

(in millions)

	Column A
	
	Column B
	
	Column C
	Column D
	
	Column E

	
	
	
	
	Additions
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Balance at
	
	Charged to
	
	Charged to
	
	
	Balance at

	
	
	beginning of
	
	costs and
	
	other
	
	
	end

	Description
	
	period
	
	expenses
	
	accounts
	Deductions
	
	of period

	Year Ended January 31, 2018:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Reserves deducted from assets:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accounts receivable allowances:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Doubtful accounts
	$
	1.9
	$
	3.3
	$
	—  $
	3.0
	a  $
	2.2

	Sales returns
	
	9.6
	
	7.5
	
	—
	2.1
	b
	15.0

	Allowance for inventory liquidation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	and obsolescence
	
	65.4
	
	28.9
	
	—
	19.3
	c
	75.0

	Allowance for inventory shrinkage
	
	1.0
	
	1.1
	
	—
	1.4
	d
	0.7

	Deferred tax valuation allowance
	
	24.1
	
	2.3
	
	—
	16.8
	e
	9.6



a) Uncollectible accounts written off.

b) Adjustment related to sales returns previously provided for.

c) Liquidation of inventory previously written down to net realizable value.

d) Physical inventory losses.

e) Reversal of deferred tax valuation allowance and utilization of deferred tax loss carryforward.
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RESTATED BY-LAWS

AS LAST AMENDED NOVEMBER 24, 2019

-of-

TIFFANY & CO., a Delaware Corporation

(herein called the “Corporation”)

-oo0oo-

ARTICLE I

Stockholders

SECTION 1.01. Annual Meeting. The Board of Directors by resolution shall designate the time, place and date of the annual meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors and the transaction of such other business as may come before it.

SECTION 1.02. Notice of Meetings of Stockholders. Whenever stockholders are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, written notice of the meeting shall be given (unless that notice shall be waived) which shall state the place, date and hour of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. The written notice of any meeting shall be given, personally or by mail, not less than ten nor more than sixty days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting. If mailed, such notice is given when deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at his address as it appears on the records of the Corporation.

When a meeting is adjourned to another time or place, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time and place thereof are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. At the adjourned meeting, the Corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If the adjournment is for more than thirty days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting.

SECTION 1.03. Quorum. At all meetings of the stockholders, the holders of a majority of the stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business.

When a quorum is once present to organize a meeting, it is not broken by the subsequent withdrawal of any stockholders.

If a quorum is not present at a meeting, the chair of the meeting or the holders of a majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to be voted at the meeting that are present, in person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting to another place, date or time, without notice other than as specified in Section 1.02 hereof. At any adjourned meeting at which the

[bookmark: page115]requisite amount of voting stock shall be represented, the Corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting had a quorum been there present.

SECTION 1.04. Method of Voting.

A. The vote upon any question before the meeting need not be by ballot. Except as expressly provided otherwise by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Certificate of Incorporation or this Section 1.04, at a meeting at which a quorum is present, each matter other than the election of directors shall be decided by the affirmative vote of the majority of shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the matter.

B. At each meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors at which a quorum is present, each director shall be elected by the vote of the majority of the votes cast; provided, that if as of the record date for such meeting the number of nominees exceeds the number of directors to be elected, the directors, not exceeding the authorized number of directors as fixed by the Board of Directors in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation, shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast. For purposes of this Section 1.04, a majority of the votes cast means that the number of shares voted “for” a director must exceed the number of shares voted “against” that director. If, for any cause, the Board of Directors shall not have been elected at an annual meeting, they may be elected thereafter at a special meeting of the stockholders called for that purpose in the manner provided in these By-laws.

SECTION 1.05. Voting Rights of Stockholders and Proxies. Each stockholder of record entitled to vote in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, shall at every meeting of the stockholders be entitled to one vote in person or by proxy for each share of stock entitled to vote standing in his name on the books of the Corporation, but no proxy shall be voted on after three years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period.

SECTION 1.06. Ownership of its Own Stock. Shares of its own capital stock belonging to the Corporation or to another corporation, if a majority of the shares entitled to vote in the election of directors of such other corporation is held, directly or indirectly, by the Corporation, shall neither be entitled to vote nor be counted for quorum purposes. Nothing in this section shall be construed as limiting the right of any corporation to vote stock, including but not limited to its own stock, held by it in a fiduciary capacity.

SECTION 1.07. Conduct of Meetings. Each meeting of the stockholders shall be presided over by the Chairman of the Board of Directors or such other person as the Board of Directors may designate as chairman of such meeting. The Secretary of the Corporation, or in his absence, an Assistant Secretary, shall act as secretary of every meeting, but if neither the Secretary nor an Assistant Secretary is present, the chairman of the meeting shall appoint a secretary of the meeting. In the conduct of a meeting of the stockholders, all of the powers and authority vested in a presiding officer by law or practice shall be vested in the chairman of the meeting.









Restated By-Laws: Tiffany & Co. (DE) 11/24/19	Page 2

[bookmark: page116]SECTION 1.08. Notice of Business and Nominations.

A. Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors and the proposal of business to be transacted by the stockholders at an annual meeting of stockholders may be made (1) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof) pursuant to a notice of meeting or by otherwise properly bringing the matter before an annual meeting of stockholders, (2) by any stockholder of record of the Corporation who was a stockholder of record at the time of the giving of the notice provided for in the following paragraph, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has complied with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 1.08 or (3) in respect of the nomination of persons for election to the Board of Directors, pursuant to complying with all of the terms and conditions of Section 1.10.

B. For nominations or other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder pursuant to clause (2) of the foregoing paragraph A, the stockholder must comply with the applicable provisions of this paragraph B and, except with respect to the 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, paragraph C. The applicable provisions of this paragraph B and, except with respect to the 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the following paragraph C apply to all nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors and other business proposed to be brought before a meeting.

(1) The stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation, as hereinafter provided. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice shall be delivered to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not less than 90 days prior to and not more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting of stockholders; provided, however, that if the date of the annual meeting is advanced more than 30 days prior to or delayed by more than 60 days after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made. In no event shall the public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting or of a new record date for an annual meeting commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above.

(2) Such business must be a proper matter for stockholder action under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

(3) If the stockholder, or the beneficial owner on whose behalf any such proposal or nomination is made, solicits or participates in the solicitation of proxies in support of such proposal or nominees, the stockholder must have timely indicated its, or such beneficial owner’s, intention to do so as provided in provision (4)(iii)(9) or (5) (c)(iii) below, as applicable.
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(4) [bookmark: page117]Except for the 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, such stockholder’s notice shall set forth the following information (and, if such notice relates to the nomination of any person for election or re-election as a director of the Corporation, the questionnaire, representation and agreement required by the following paragraph C must also be delivered with and at the same time as such notice):

i. as to each person the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or re-election as a director, (1) all information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in accordance with Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), whether in a solicitation of proxies for the election of directors in an election contest or otherwise, and such other information as may be required by the Corporation pursuant to any policy of the Corporation governing the selection of directors and publicly available (whether on the Corporation’s website or otherwise) as of the date of such notice; (2) such person’s written consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected; (3) a statement whether such person, if elected, intends to tender any advance resignation notice(s) requested by the Board of Directors in connection with subsequent elections, such advance resignation to be contingent upon the nominee’s failure to receive a majority of the votes cast by stockholders and acceptance of such resignation by the Board of Directors; and (4) a description of all agreements, arrangements or understandings between the stockholder or any beneficial owner on whose behalf such nomination is made, or their respective affiliates, and each nominee or any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) in connection with the making of such nomination or nominations;

ii. as to any other business the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, (1) a brief description of such business; (2) the text of the proposal to be voted on by stockholders (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and, in the event that such business includes a proposal to amend these By-laws, the language of the proposed amendment); (3) the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting; and (4) a description of any direct or indirect material interest of the stockholder or of any beneficial owner on whose behalf the proposal is made, or their respective affiliates, in such business, and all agreements, arrangements and understandings between such stockholder or any such beneficial owner or their respective affiliates and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) in connection with the proposal of such business;

iii. as to the stockholder giving the notice and each beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the business is proposed or nomination is made (each, a “Party”), (1) the name and address of such Party (in the case of each stockholder, as they appear on the Corporation’s books and records); (2) the
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[bookmark: page118]class or series and number of shares of stock or other securities of the Corporation that are owned, directly or indirectly, beneficially or held of record by such Party or any of its affiliates (naming such affiliates); (3) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any swap or other derivative or short position, profit interest, option, warrant, convertible security, stock appreciation or similar right with exercise or conversion privileges, hedging transactions, and securities lending or borrowing arrangement) to which such Party or any of its affiliates or associates and/or any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing is, directly or indirectly, a party as of the date of such notice (x) with respect to shares of stock or other securities of the Corporation or (y) the effect or intent of which is to transfer to or from any such person, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of any security of the Corporation, mitigate loss to, manage the potential risk or benefit of security price changes (increases or decreases) for, or increase or decrease the voting power of any such person with respect to securities of the Corporation or which has a value derived in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, from the value (or change in value) of any securities of the Corporation, in each case whether or not subject to settlement in the underlying security of the Corporation (each such agreement, arrangement or understanding, a “Disclosable Arrangement”), specifying in each case (I) the effect of such Disclosable Arrangement on voting or economic rights in securities in the Corporation, as of the date of the notice and (II) any changes in such voting or economic rights which may arise pursuant to the terms of such Disclosable Arrangement;

(4) a description of any proxy, agreement, arrangement, understanding or relationship between or among such Parties, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and/or any others acting in concert with any of the foregoing with respect to the nomination or proposal and/or the voting, directly or indirectly, of any shares or any other security of the Corporation; (5) any rights to dividends on the shares of the Corporation owned, directly or indirectly, beneficially by such Party that are separated or separable from the underlying shares of the Corporation; (6) any proportionate interest in shares of the Corporation or Disclosable Arrangements held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited partnership or limited liability company in which such Party is a general partner or managing member or, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns an interest in a general partner or managing member; (7) any performance-related fees that such Party is directly or indirectly entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Corporation or Disclosable Arrangements, if any, as of the date of such notice, including any such interests held by members of such Party’s immediate family sharing the same household; (8) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Corporation at the time of the giving of the notice, is entitled to vote at such meeting and will appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such business or nomination; and (9) a representation as
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[bookmark: page119]to whether such Party intends, or is part of a group which intends, (x) to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the Corporation’s outstanding shares of capital stock required to approve or adopt the proposal or elect the nominee and/or (y) otherwise to solicit proxies or votes from stockholders in support of such proposal or nomination; (10) any other information relating to such Party required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the proposal and/or for the election of directors in an election contest pursuant to and in accordance with Regulation 14(a) of the Exchange Act; (11) a certification regarding whether such Party has complied with all federal, state and other legal requirements in connection with such Party’s acquisition of shares of capital stock or other securities of the Corporation; and (12) a completed questionnaire referenced in the following paragraph C with respect to the background and qualifications of such stockholder giving the notice and each beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the business is proposed or nomination is made; and

iv. an undertaking by each Party to notify the Corporation in writing of any change in the information previously disclosed pursuant to provisions (i), (ii) and (iii) of this paragraph B as of the record date for determining stockholders entitled to receive notice of such meeting and as of the date that is 15 days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, by written notice received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than 5 days following such record date and not later than 10 days prior to the date for the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, and thereafter by written notice so given and received within two business days of any change in such information (and, in any event, by the close of business on the day preceding the meeting date).

The Corporation may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as it may reasonably require to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as a director of the Corporation and to determine the independence of such nominee under the Exchange Act, and the rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to the Corporation. In addition, a stockholder seeking to nominate a director candidate or bring another item of business before the annual meeting shall promptly provide any other information reasonably requested by the Corporation.

(5) With respect to the 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, such stockholder’s notice shall set forth the following information: (a) as to each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a director, all information relating to such person as would be required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for the election of such nominees as directors pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and such person’s written consent to serving as a director if
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[bookmark: page120]elected; (b) as to any other business that the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a brief description of such business, the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting and any material interest in such business of such stockholder and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made; and (c) as to the stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal is made, (i) the name and address of such stockholder, as they appear on the Corporation’s books, and of such beneficial owner, (ii) the class and number of shares of the Corporation that are owned beneficially and of record by such stockholder and such beneficial owner, and (iii) whether either such stockholder or beneficial owner intends to solicit or participate in the solicitation of proxies in favor of such proposal or nominee or nominees.

C. Except with respect to the 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be eligible to be a nominee for election or re-election by the stockholders as a director of the Corporation or to serve as a director of the Corporation, a potential nominee must deliver (not later than the deadline prescribed for delivery of notice under paragraph B or D, as applicable, of this Section 1.08) to the Secretary a written questionnaire with respect to the background and qualifications of such potential nominee and, if applicable, the background of any other person on whose behalf the nomination is being made (which questionnaire shall be provided by the Secretary upon written request) and a written representation and agreement (in the form provided by the Secretary upon written request) that, among other matters, such potential nominee or other person: (i) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person as to how such potential nominee, if elected as a director, will act or vote on any issue or question that has not been disclosed in such questionnaire; (ii) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person other than the Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection with service or action as a director that has not been disclosed in such questionnaire; and (iii) in such potential nominee’s individual capacity and on behalf of any person on whose behalf the nomination is being made, would be in compliance, if elected or re-elected as a director, and will comply with, applicable law and all corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality and other policies and guidelines of the Corporation applicable to directors generally and publicly available (whether on the Corporation’s website or otherwise) as of the date of such representation and agreement.

D. Notwithstanding anything in paragraph B.(1) of this Section 1.08 to the contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board of Directors is increased above the number in effect at the preceding year’s annual meeting of stockholders and there is no public announcement naming all of the nominees for director or specifying the size of the increased Board of Directors made by the Corporation at least 100 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting, a stockholder’s notice required by this By-law shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, if it shall be delivered to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such public announcement is first made by the Corporation.
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E. [bookmark: page121]Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting pursuant to a notice of meeting issued by or at the direction of a majority vote of the Board of Directors. Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant to such a notice of meeting (1) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (2) by any stockholder of record of the Corporation who is a stockholder of record at the time of giving of notice provided for in this paragraph E, who shall be entitled to vote at the meeting and who complies with the requirements in paragraphs B.(3), B.(4) or B.(5), as applicable, and, except with respect to the 2017 Annual Shareholder Meeting, paragraph C of this Section 1.08 as if such requirements referred to such a special meeting; provided that to be considered timely, a stockholder’s notice must be received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such special meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board of Directors to be elected at such meeting and not earlier than the 120th day prior to such special meeting.

F. Only persons nominated in accordance with the procedures, and who meet the other qualifications, set forth in this Section 1.08 and Section 1.10 shall be eligible to serve as directors and only such business shall be conducted at a meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.08. The chairman of the meeting shall have the power and the duty to determine whether a nomination or any business proposed to be brought before the meeting has been made in accordance with the procedures set forth in these By-laws and, if any proposed nomination or business is not in compliance with these By-laws, to declare that such defective proposed business or nomination shall not be presented for stockholder action at the meeting and shall be disregarded.

G. For purposes of this Section 1.08 and Section 1.10, “public announcement “ shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or a comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

H. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.08, a stockholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to matters set forth in this Section 1.08. Nothing in this Section 1.08 shall be deemed to excuse any stockholder from the obligation to comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act with respect to proposals offered for inclusion in the Corporation’s proxy statement.

SECTION 1.09. Requirement to Appear. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 1.08, if a stockholder that has provided timely notice of a nomination or item of business in accordance with Section 1.08 (or a qualified representative of such stockholder) does not appear at the annual or special meeting of stockholders to present such nomination or item of business, such nomination shall be disregarded and such proposed business shall not be transacted,
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[bookmark: page122]notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the Corporation. For purposes of this Section 1.09, to be considered a qualified representative of a stockholder, a person must be a duly authorized officer, manager or partner of such stockholder or must be authorized by a writing executed by such stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such stockholder to act for such stockholder as proxy at the meeting of stockholders and such person must produce such writing or electronic transmission, or reliable reproduction of the writing or electronic transmission, at the meeting of the stockholders.

SECTION 1.10. Proxy Access.

A. Inclusion of Nominee in Proxy Statement. Whenever the Board of Directors solicits proxies with respect to the election of directors at an annual meeting of stockholders (following the 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders), subject to the provisions of this Section 1.10, the Corporation shall include in its proxy materials for such annual meeting, in addition to any persons nominated for election by the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof), the name, together with the Required Information (as defined below), of any person nominated for election (a “Stockholder Nominee”) to the Board of Directors by a stockholder, or by a group of no more than 20 stockholders, that (i) has satisfied (individually or, in the case of a group, collectively) all applicable conditions and has complied with all applicable procedures set forth in this Section 1.10 (an “Eligible Stockholder,” which shall include an eligible stockholder group), and (ii) expressly elects at the time of providing the notice required by this Section 1.10 (the “Nomination Notice”) to have its nominee included in the Corporation’s proxy materials for such annual meeting pursuant to this Section 1.10.

B. Required Information. For purposes of this Section 1.10, the “Required Information” that the Corporation will include in its proxy materials is (i) the information concerning the Stockholder Nominee and the Eligible Stockholder that is required to be disclosed in the Corporation’s proxy statement by the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission promulgated under the Exchange Act; and (ii) if the Eligible Stockholder so elects, a Supporting Statement (as defined below).

C. Delivery of Nomination Notice. To be timely, an Eligible Stockholder’s Nomination Notice must be delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not less than 120 days prior to and not more than 150 days prior to the first anniversary of the release date of the Corporation’s proxy materials for the preceding year’s annual meeting of stockholders; provided, however, that if the date of the annual meeting is advanced more than 30 days prior to, or delayed by more than 60 days after, such anniversary date, the Nomination Notice to be timely must be so delivered not later than the close of business on the later of the 120th day prior to the date of such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made. In no event shall the public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting or of a new record date for an annual meeting commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a Nomination Notice as described above.
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D. [bookmark: page123]Maximum Number of Stockholder Nominees.

(1) The maximum aggregate number of Stockholder Nominees nominated by Eligible Stockholders that will be included in the Corporation’s proxy materials with respect to an annual meeting of stockholders shall not exceed the greater of (i) two or (ii) 20% of the number of directors in office as of the last day on which a Nomination Notice may be delivered pursuant to this Section 1.10, or if such amount is not a whole number, the closest whole number below 20%; provided, however, that this number shall be reduced by (1) any Stockholder Nominee whose name was submitted by an Eligible Stockholder for inclusion in the Corporation’s proxy materials pursuant to this Section 1.10 but was subsequently withdrawn or was subsequently nominated by the Board of Directors for election and (2) the number of incumbent directors who were Stockholder Nominees at any of the preceding two annual meetings (including any individual covered under clause (1) above) and who have been nominated for election at the upcoming annual meeting by the Board of Directors. In the event that one or more vacancies for any reason occurs on the Board of Directors after the deadline set forth in paragraph C of this Section 1.10 but before the date of the annual meeting and the Board of Directors resolves to reduce the size of the Board of Directors in connection therewith, the maximum number shall be calculated based on the number of directors in office as so reduced.

(2) Any Eligible Stockholder submitting more than one Stockholder Nominee for inclusion in the Corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to this Section 1.10 shall rank such Stockholder Nominees based on the order in which the Eligible Stockholder desires such Stockholder Nominees to be selected for inclusion in the Corporation’s proxy statement. In the event that the number of Stockholder Nominees submitted by Eligible Stockholders pursuant to this Section 1.10 exceeds the maximum number of nominees provided for pursuant to paragraph D(1) of this Section 1.10, the highest ranking Stockholder Nominee who meets the requirements of this Section 1.10 of each Eligible Stockholder will be selected for inclusion in the Corporation’s proxy statement until the maximum number is reached, going in order by the number (largest to smallest) of shares of stock of the Corporation each Eligible Stockholder disclosed as Owned (as defined below) in its respective Nomination Notice submitted to the Corporation pursuant to this Section 1.10. If the maximum number is not reached after the highest ranking Stockholder Nominee who meets the requirements of this Section 1.10 of each Eligible Stockholder has been selected, this process will continue with the next highest ranked nominee as many times as necessary, following the same order each time, until the maximum number is reached.

E. Ownership. For purposes of this Section 1.10, an Eligible Stockholder shall be deemed to “Own” only those outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation as to which the stockholder possesses both (i) the full voting and investment rights pertaining to the shares and (ii) the full economic interest in (including the opportunity for profit and risk of loss on) such
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[bookmark: page124]shares; provided, that the number of shares calculated in accordance with clauses (i) and (ii) shall not include any shares

(1) sold by such stockholder or any of its affiliates in any transaction that has not been settled or closed, including any short sale, (2) borrowed by such stockholder or any of its affiliates for any purpose, or purchased by such stockholder or any of its affiliates subject to an agreement to resell, or (3) subject to any option, warrant, forward contract, swap, contract of sale, or other derivative or similar agreement entered into by such stockholder or any of its affiliates, whether any such instrument or agreement is to be settled with shares or with cash based on the notional amount or value of shares of stock of the Corporation, in any such case which instrument or agreement has, or is intended to have, or if exercised would have, the purpose or effect of (x) reducing in any manner, to any extent or at any time in the future, such stockholder’s or its affiliates’ full right to vote or direct the voting of any such shares, and/or (y) hedging, offsetting or altering to any degree any gain or loss realized or realizable from maintaining the full economic ownership of such shares by such stockholder or affiliate. A stockholder shall “Own” shares held in the name of a nominee or other intermediary so long as the stockholder retains the right to instruct how the shares are voted with respect to the election of directors and possesses the full economic interest in the shares. A stockholder’s Ownership of shares shall be deemed to continue during any period in which (i) the stockholder has loaned such shares, provided that the stockholder has the power to recall such loaned shares on no more than five business days’ notice and includes with the Nomination Notice an agreement that it

(1) will promptly recall such loaned shares upon being notified by the Corporation that any of its Stockholder Nominees will be included in the Corporation’s proxy statement and (2) will continue to hold such recalled shares through the date of the annual meeting or (ii) the stockholder has delegated any voting power by means of a proxy, power of attorney or other instrument or arrangement that is revocable at any time by the stockholder. The terms “Owned,” “Owning” and other variations of the word “Own” shall have correlative meanings. Whether outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation are “Owned” for purposes of this Section 1.10 shall be determined by the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof). For purposes of this Section 1.10, the term “affiliate” or “affiliates” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto under the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission promulgated under the Exchange Act.

F. Eligible Stockholder.

(1) In order to make a nomination pursuant to this Section 1.10, an Eligible Stockholder must have Owned (as defined above) continuously for at least three years prior to and including the date of the Nomination Notice at least the number of shares of stock of the Corporation that shall constitute 3% or more of the voting power of the outstanding stock of the Corporation as of the most recent date for which such amount is given in any filing by the Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission prior to the submission of the Nomination Notice (the “Required Shares”) and continued to hold the Required Shares as of (i) the date on which the Nomination Notice is delivered to the Secretary in accordance with this Section 1.10, (ii) the record date for determining stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting and (iii) the date of the annual meeting. For this purpose, two or more funds or trusts that are (1) under common management and investment
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[bookmark: page125]control, (2) under common management and funded primarily by the same employer or (3) a “group of investment companies,” as such term is defined in Section 12(d)(1)(G)(ii) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (each, a “Qualifying Fund”), shall be treated as one stockholder or beneficial owner.

(2) No person may be a member of more than one group of persons constituting an Eligible Stockholder under this Section 1.10. If a group of stockholders aggregates Ownership of shares in order to meet the requirements under this Section 1.10, (i) all shares held by each stockholder constituting their contribution to the foregoing 3% threshold must have been held by that stockholder continuously for at least three years and through the date of the annual meeting, and evidence of such continuous Ownership shall be provided as specified in paragraph G of this Section 1.10, (ii) each provision in this Section 1.10 that requires the Eligible Stockholder to provide any written statements, representations, undertakings, agreements or other instruments or to meet any other conditions shall be deemed to require each stockholder (including each individual fund) that is a member of such group to provide such statements, representations, undertakings, agreements or other instruments and to meet such other conditions (except that the members of such group may aggregate their stockholdings in order to meet the 3% Ownership requirement of the “Required Shares” definition) and (iii) a breach of any obligation, agreement or representation under this Section 1.10 by any member of such group shall be deemed a breach by the Eligible Stockholder.

G. Information to be Provided by Eligible Stockholder. At the time of delivery of the Nomination Notice, an Eligible Stockholder making a nomination pursuant to this Section 1.10 must provide the following information in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation:

(1) one or more written statements from the Eligible Stockholder (and from each other record holder of the shares and intermediary through which the shares are or have been held during the requisite three-year holding period) specifying, as of a date within seven days prior to the date of the Nomination Notice, the number of shares of stock of the Corporation that the Eligible Stockholder Owns, and has continuously Owned for three years preceding such date, and the Eligible Stockholder’s agreement to provide, within five business days after the later of the record date for the annual meeting and the date on which the record date is first publicly disclosed by the Corporation, written statements from the Eligible Stockholder, record holder and intermediaries verifying the Eligible Stockholder’s continuous Ownership of the Required Shares through the record date; provided that statements meeting the requirements of Schedule 14N will be deemed to fulfill this requirement;
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(2) [bookmark: page126]the written consent of each Stockholder Nominee to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected, together with the information and representations that would be required to be set forth in a stockholder’s notice of a nomination of any person for election or re-election as a director of the Corporation pursuant to Section 1.08;

(3) a copy of the Schedule 14N that has been or is concurrently being filed by such Eligible Stockholder with the Securities and Exchange Commission as required by Rule 14a-18 under the Exchange Act, as such rule may be amended;

(4) the details of any relationship that existed within the past three years and that would have been required to have been described pursuant to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14N (or any successor item) if it existed on the date of submission of Schedule 14N;

(5) a representation and undertaking (i) that the Eligible Stockholder (1) did not acquire, and is not holding, securities of the Corporation for the purpose or with the effect of influencing or changing control of the Corporation; (2) has not nominated and will not nominate for election to the Board of Directors at the annual meeting any person other than the Stockholder Nominee(s) being nominated by it pursuant to this Section 1.10, (3) has not engaged and will not engage in a, and has not and will not be a “participant” in another person’s, “solicitation” within the meaning of Rule 14a-1(l) under the Exchange Act in support of the election of any individual as a director at the annual meeting other than its Stockholder Nominee(s) or a nominee of the Board of Directors, (4) has not distributed and will not distribute to any stockholder any form of proxy for the annual meeting other than the form distributed by the Corporation and (5) will Own the Required Shares through the date of the annual meeting of stockholders; and (ii) that the facts, statements and other information in all communications with the Corporation and its stockholders are and will be true and correct in all material respects and do not and will not omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;

(6) in the case of a nomination by a group of stockholders that together is an Eligible Stockholder, the designation by all group members of one group member that is authorized to receive communications, notices and inquiries from the Corporation and to act on behalf of all such members with respect to the nomination and all matters related thereto, including any withdrawal of the nomination;

(7) an undertaking that the Eligible Stockholder agrees to (i) assume all liability stemming from any legal or regulatory violation arising out of the Eligible Stockholder’s communications with the stockholders of the Corporation or out
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[bookmark: page127]of the information that the Eligible Stockholder provided to the Corporation, (ii) indemnify and hold harmless the Corporation and each of its directors, officers and employees individually against any liability, loss or damages in connection with any threatened or pending action, suit or proceeding, whether legal, administrative or investigative, against the Corporation or any of its directors, officers or employees arising out of any nomination, solicitation or other activity by the Eligible Stockholder in connection with its efforts to elect the Stockholder Nominee(s) pursuant to this Section 1.10 and (iii) comply with all other laws, rules and regulations applicable to any actions taken pursuant to this Section 1.10, including the nomination and any solicitation in connection with the annual meeting of stockholders; and

(8) in the case of a Qualifying Fund whose share Ownership is counted for purposes of qualifying as an Eligible Stockholder, documentation from the Qualifying Fund reasonably satisfactory to the Board of Directors that demonstrates that it meets the requirements of a Qualifying Fund set forth in paragraph F of this Section.

In addition, an Eligible Stockholder seeking to nominate a Stockholder Nominee shall promptly provide any other information reasonably requested by the Corporation.

H. Supporting Statement. The Eligible Stockholder may provide to the Secretary of the Corporation, at the time the information required by this Section 1.10 is provided, a written statement, in respect of each Stockholder Nominee nominated by such Eligible Stockholder pursuant to this Section 1.10, for inclusion in the Corporation’s proxy statement for the annual meeting of stockholders, not to exceed 500 words, in support of the applicable Stockholder Nominee(s)’ candidacy (the “Supporting Statement”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 1.10, the Corporation may omit from its proxy statement any information or Supporting Statement (or portion thereof) that it, in good faith, believes would violate any applicable law, rule, regulation or listing standard. Nothing in this Section 1.10 shall limit the Corporation’s ability to solicit against and include in its proxy statement its own statements relating to any Eligible Stockholder or Stockholder Nominee.

I. Representations and Agreement of the Stockholder Nominee. At the time of delivery of the Nomination Notice, a Stockholder Nominee must deliver to the Secretary of the Corporation a written representation and agreement that the Stockholder Nominee (i) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such Stockholder Nominee, if elected as a director of the Corporation, will act or vote on any issue or question, (ii) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity other than the Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection with service or action as a Stockholder Nominee or director that has not been disclosed on the questionnaire required to be submitted by such Stockholder Nominee pursuant to paragraph C of Section 1.08 and (iii) in such Stockholder Nominee’s individual capacity and on behalf of the Eligible Stockholder on whose behalf the
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[bookmark: page128]nomination is being made, would be in compliance, if elected or re-elected as a director, and will comply with all the Corporation’s corporate governance, code of conduct, conflict of interest, confidentiality and share ownership and trading policies and guidelines, and any other Corporation policies and guidelines applicable to directors, as well as any applicable law, rule or regulation or listing requirement. At the request of the Corporation, the Stockholder Nominee must promptly, but in any event within five business days of such request, submit the completed and signed questionnaire required to be submitted by the Corporation’s directors and officers pursuant to paragraph C of Section 1.08. The Corporation may require any Stockholder Nominee to furnish such other information as it may reasonably require to determine the eligibility of such Stockholder Nominee to serve as a director of the Corporation and to determine the independence of such Stockholder Nominee under the Exchange Act and the rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to the Corporation (the “Applicable Independence Standards”).

J. True, Correct and Complete Information. In the event that any information or communications provided by any Eligible Stockholder or Stockholder Nominee to the Corporation or its stockholders is not, when provided, or thereafter ceases to be, true, correct and complete in all material respects (including omitting a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading), such Eligible Stockholder or Stockholder Nominee, as the case may be, shall promptly notify the Secretary of the Corporation and provide the information that is required to make such information or communication true, correct, complete and not misleading; it being understood that providing any such notification shall not be deemed to cure any such defect or limit the Corporation’s right to omit a Stockholder Nominee from its proxy statement pursuant to clause (viii) of paragraph L of this Section 1.10. In addition, any person providing any information to the Corporation pursuant to this Section 1.10 shall further update and supplement such information, if necessary, so that all such information shall be true and correct as of the record date for the annual meeting and as of the date that is 15 days prior to the annual meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, by written notice received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than five days following the record date and not later than 10 days prior to the date of the annual meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, and thereafter by written notice so given and received within two business days of any change in such information (and, in any event, by the close of business on the day preceding the annual meeting date).

K. Limitation on Stockholder Nominees. Any Stockholder Nominee who is included in the Corporation’s proxy statement for a particular annual meeting of stockholders but either (i) withdraws from or becomes ineligible or unavailable for election at such annual meeting, or (ii) does not receive at least 15% of the votes cast “for” the Stockholder Nominee’s election, will be ineligible to be a Stockholder Nominee pursuant to this Section 1.10 for the next two annual meetings.

L. Exceptions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Corporation shall not be required to include, pursuant to this Section 1.10, any Stockholder Nominee in its proxy statement for any meeting of stockholders (i) if the Eligible Stockholder who has nominated such Stockholder Nominee has engaged in or is currently engaged in a, or has
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[bookmark: page129]been or is a “participant” in another person’s, “solicitation” within the meaning of Rule 14a-1(l) under the Exchange Act in support of the election of any individual as a director at the meeting other than its Stockholder Nominee(s) or a nominee of the Board of Directors, (ii) if the Corporation receives notice pursuant to Section 1.08 that any stockholder intends to nominate any nominee for election to the Board of Directors at such meeting, (iii) who is not independent under the Applicable Independence Standards, as determined by the Board of Directors or any committee thereof, (iv) whose nomination or election as a member of the Board of Directors would cause the Corporation to be in violation of these By-Laws, the Certificate of Incorporation, the Corporation’s Corporate Governance Principles, the rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to the Corporation, or any applicable law, rule or regulation, (v) who is or has been, within the past three years, an officer or director of a competitor, as defined in Section 8 of the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, (vi) who is a named subject of a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses) or has been convicted in such a criminal proceeding within the past 10 years, (vii) who is subject to any order of the type specified in Rule 506(d) of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (viii) if such Stockholder Nominee or the applicable Eligible Stockholder shall have provided information to the Corporation in respect of such nomination that was untrue in any material respect or omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statement made, in light of the circumstances under which it was made, not misleading, as determined by the Board of Directors, (ix) if such Stockholder Nominee or the applicable Eligible Stockholder otherwise contravenes any of the agreements or representations made by such Stockholder Nominee or Eligible Stockholder or fails to comply with its obligations pursuant to this Section 1.10, or (x) if the applicable Eligible Stockholder is not, or ceases to be, an Eligible Stockholder for any reason, including, but not limited to, not satisfying the eligibility requirements of this Section 1.10, including because it does not Own the Required Shares at the time of delivery of the Nomination Notice or through the date of the applicable annual meeting of stockholders.

M. Disqualifications. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, if (i) a Stockholder Nominee is included in the Corporation’s proxy statement for the annual meeting but subsequently is determined not to satisfy the eligibility requirements of this Section 1.10 or any other provision of the Corporation’s Bylaws, Certificate of Incorporation, Corporate Governance Principles or any other applicable law, rule or regulation at any time before the annual meeting, (ii) a Stockholder Nominee and/or the applicable Eligible Stockholder shall have breached any of its obligations, agreements or representations, or fails to comply with its or their obligations pursuant to this Section 1.10, (iii) a Stockholder Nominee dies, becomes disabled or otherwise becomes ineligible for inclusion in the Corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to this Section 1.10 or unavailable for election at the annual meeting or (iv) the applicable Eligible Stockholder is not, or ceases to be, an Eligible Stockholder for any reason, including, but not limited to, not satisfying the eligibility requirements of this Section 1.10, including because it does not Own the Required Shares at the time of delivery of the Nomination Notice or through the date of the applicable annual meeting of stockholders, in each case as determined by the Board of Directors, any duly authorized committee thereof or the Chairman of the Board of Directors or such other person as the Board of Directors has designated as the chairman of the annual meeting, then (1) the Corporation may omit or, to the extent feasible,
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[bookmark: page130]remove the information concerning such Stockholder Nominee and the related Supporting Statement from its proxy statement and/or otherwise communicate to its stockholders that such Stockholder Nominee will not be eligible for election at the annual meeting, (2) the Corporation shall not be required to include in its proxy statement any successor or replacement nominee proposed by the applicable Eligible Stockholder or any other Eligible Stockholder and (3) the Board of Directors or the person presiding at the annual meeting shall declare such nomination to be invalid and such nomination shall be disregarded notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the Corporation. In addition, if the Eligible Stockholder does not appear in person or by proxy at the annual meeting to present any nomination pursuant to this Section 1.10, such nomination shall be declared invalid and disregarded as provided in clause (3) above.

N. Filing Obligation. The Eligible Stockholder (including any person who Owns shares of stock of the Corporation that constitute part of the Eligible Stockholder’s Ownership for purposes of satisfying paragraph E of this Section 1.10) shall file with the Securities and Exchange Commission any solicitation materials with the Corporation’s stockholders relating to the meeting at which the Stockholder Nominee will be nominated, regardless of whether any such filing is required under Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act or whether any exemption from filing is available for such solicitation materials under Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.



ARTICLE II

Directors

SECTION 2.01. Management of Business. The business of the Corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors, in addition to the powers and authority expressly conferred upon it herein, by statute, by the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation or otherwise, is hereby empowered to exercise all such powers as may be exercised by the Corporation, except as expressly provided otherwise by the statutes of the State of Delaware, by the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation or by these By-laws.

Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Board of Directors, by resolution or resolutions, may create and issue, whether or not in connection with the issue and sale of any shares of stock or other securities of the Corporation, rights or options entitling the holders thereof to purchase from the Corporation any shares of its capital stock of any class or classes or any other securities of the Corporation, such rights or options to be evidenced by or in such instrument or instruments as shall be approved by the Board of Directors. The terms upon which, including the time or times, which may be limited or unlimited in duration, at or within which, and the price or prices at which, any such rights or options may be issued and any such shares or other securities may be purchased from the Corporation upon the exercise of any such right or option shall be such
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as shall be fixed and stated in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors providing for the creation and issue of such rights or options, and, in every case, set forth or incorporated by reference in the instrument or instruments evidencing such rights or options. In the absence of actual fraud in the transaction, the judgment of the directors as to the consideration for the issuance of such rights or options and the sufficiency thereof shall be conclusive. In case the shares of stock of the Corporation to be issued upon the exercise of such rights or options shall be shares having a par value, the price or prices so to be received therefor shall not be less than the par value thereof. In case the shares of stock to be issued shall be shares of stock without par value, the consideration therefor shall be determined in the manner provided in Section 153 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

SECTION 2.02. Qualifications and Number of Directors. Directors need not be stockholders. The number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board of Directors shall be such number as is from time to time determined by resolution of the Board of Directors; provided, that such number of directors shall be no less than eight (8) and no more than fifteen (15). In order to qualify for election or appointment, directors shall be younger than 74 years when elected or appointed, provided that the Board of Directors may, by specific resolution, waive the provisions of this sentence with respect to an individual director whose continued service is deemed uniquely important to the Corporation.

SECTION 2.03. Election and Term. The directors shall be elected at the annual meeting of the stockholders, and each director shall be elected to hold office until his successor shall be elected and qualified, or until his earlier resignation or removal.

SECTION 2.04. Resignations. Any director of the Corporation may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Corporation. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, if any, or if no time is specified therein, then upon receipt of such notice by the Corporation; and, unless otherwise provided therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

SECTION 2.05. Vacancies and Newly Created Directorships. Vacancies and newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled by a majority of the directors then in office, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, and the directors so chosen shall hold office until their successors shall be elected and qualified, or until their earlier resignation or removal. When one or more directors shall resign from the Board of Directors, effective at a future date, a majority of the directors then in office, including those who have so resigned, shall have power to fill such vacancy or vacancies, the vote thereon to take effect when such resignation or resignations shall become effective, and each director so chosen shall hold office as herein provided in the filling of other vacancies.

SECTION 2.06. Quorum of Directors. At all meetings of the Board of Directors, a majority of the entire Board of Directors, but not less than two directors, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board of Directors except as provided in Section 2.05 hereof.
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A majority of the directors present, whether or not a quorum is present, may adjourn any meeting of the directors to another time and place. Notice of any adjournment need not be given if such time and place are announced at the meeting.

SECTION 2.07. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at such time and place, within or without the State of Delaware, as shall from time to time be fixed by the Board of Directors and no notice thereof shall be necessary.

Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, members of the Board of Directors, or any committee thereof, may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or such committee by means of a conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 2.07, Section 2.08 and Section 2.11 shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

SECTION 2.08. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at any time by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, any Vice President, the Treasurer or the Secretary or by resolution of the Board of Directors. Special meetings shall be held at such place, within or without the State of Delaware, as shall be fixed by the person or persons calling the meeting and stated in the notice or waiver of notice of the meeting.

Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held upon notice to the directors or waiver thereof. Unless waived, notice of each special meeting of the directors, stating the time and place of the meeting, shall be given to each director by delivered letter, by transmitted facsimile, by electronic mail, by telegram or by personal communication either over the telephone or otherwise, in each such case not later than 24 hours prior to the meeting, or by mailed letter deposited in the United States mail with postage thereon prepaid not later than the seventh day prior to the meeting.

SECTION 2.09. Action Without a Meeting. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in a writing or writings (including an electronic transmission) and the writing or writings (including an electronic transmission) are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors or committee.

SECTION 2.10. Compensation. Directors shall receive such fixed sums and expenses of attendance for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee and/or such salary as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors; provided that nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.

SECTION 2.11. Committees. Whereas by resolution adopted by a majority of the whole Board of Directors, the Corporation has elected to be governed by paragraph (2) of Section 141(c) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Board of Directors may, by resolution or
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resolutions, designate one or more committees (and may discontinue any of same at any time) each to consist of one or more of the directors of the Corporation. The members of each committee shall be appointed by the Board of Directors and shall hold office during the pleasure of the Board of Directors. Subject to any limitations on the delegation of power and authority to such committee in the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation or under applicable law, a committee may be delegated and may exercise such powers of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation (and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it) as may be delegated to such committee by such a resolution of the Board of Directors. Subject to a resolution of the Board of Directors to the contrary, in the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members of the committee present at any meeting of the committee and not disqualified from voting, whether or not such present member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to act at such meeting of the committee in the place of such absent or disqualified member. Regular meetings of any such committee may be held at such time and place, within or without the State of Delaware, as shall from time to time be fixed by such committee and no notice thereof shall be necessary. Special meetings of any such committee may be called at any time by the chairman of such committee, the Chairman of the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer; provided, that if no chairman of the committee has yet been appointed, any member of any such committee may also call a special meeting. Special meetings shall be held at such place, within or without the State of Delaware, as shall be fixed by the person calling the meeting and stated in the notice or waiver of the meeting. A majority of the members of any such committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the act of a majority present at which there is a quorum shall be the act of such committee; provided, that for any committee composed of one member, such member shall constitute a quorum. Notice of each special meeting of a committee shall be given (or waived) in the same manner as notice of a directors’ meeting. Each committee shall keep written minutes of its meetings and either report such minutes to the Board of Directors at the next regular meeting of the Board of Directors or provide the Board of Directors with a copy of such minutes at the next regular meeting of the Board of Directors.




ARTICLE III

Officers

SECTION 3.01. Number. The Board of Directors may, in its discretion, elect from among its members a Chairman of the Board of Directors (who shall also be a director). The officers of the Corporation shall be chosen by the Board of Directors. The officers shall be a Chief Executive Officer, a President, a Secretary and a Treasurer, and such number of Vice Presidents (including Vice Presidents designated by the Board of Directors as Senior Vice Presidents and Executive Vice Presidents), Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers, and such other officers, if any, as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine. The Board of Directors may choose such other agents as it shall deem necessary. Any number of offices may be held by the same person.

SECTION 3.02. Terms of Office. Each officer shall hold his office until his successor is chosen
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and qualified or until his earlier resignation or removal. Any officer may resign at any time by written notice to the Corporation.

SECTION 3.03. Removal. Any officer may be removed from office at any time by the Board of Directors, with or without cause.

SECTION 3.04. Authority. The powers and duties of the officers of the Corporation shall be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors, or by one of the committees of the Board of Directors. The Secretary, or some other officer designated by resolution of the Board of Directors or by one of the committees of the Board of Directors, shall record all of the proceedings of the meetings of the stockholders and directors in a book to be kept for that purpose.

SECTION 3.05. Voting Securities Owned by the Corporation. Powers of attorney, proxies, waivers of notice of meeting, consents and other instruments relating to securities owned by the Corporation may be executed in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, or any Vice President and any such officer may, in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, take all such action as any such officer may deem advisable to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of security holders of any corporation in which the Corporation may own securities and at any such meeting shall possess and may exercise any and all rights and powers incident to the ownership of such securities and which, as the owner thereof, the Corporation might have exercised and possessed if present. The Board of Directors may, by resolution, from time to time confer like powers upon any other person or persons.

ARTICLE IV

Capital Stock

SECTION 4.01. Stock Certificates. Shares of stock in the Corporation may be represented by uncertificated shares, but every holder of stock in the Corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in the name of the Corporation by, any Vice President, and by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, of the Corporation, certifying the number of shares owned by him in the Corporation. Where such certificate is signed (1) by a transfer agent other than the Corporation or its employee, or (2) by a registrar other than the Corporation or its employee, the signatures of the officers of the Corporation may be facsimiles. In case any officer who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if such person were such officer at the date of issue.

SECTION 4.02. Transfers. Stock of the Corporation shall be transferable in the manner prescribed by the laws of the State of Delaware and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, through such procedures for the transfer of uncertificated shares as are authorized by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 4.03. Registered Holders. Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer of any
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security of the Corporation in registered form, the Corporation shall treat the registered owner as the person exclusively entitled to vote, to receive notifications and to otherwise exercise all the rights and powers of an owner, and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to, or interest in, any security, whether or not the Corporation shall have notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of the State of Delaware.

SECTION 4.04. New Certificates. The Corporation shall issue a new certificate of stock in the place of any certificate theretofore issued by it, alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, if the owner: (1) so requests before the Corporation as notice that the shares of stock represented by that certificate have been acquired by a bona fide purchaser; (2) files with the Corporation a bond sufficient (in the judgment of the directors) to indemnify the Corporation against any claim that may be made against it on account of the alleged loss or theft of that certificate or the issuance of a new certificate; and (3) satisfies any other requirements imposed by the directors that are reasonable under the circumstances. A new certificate may be issued without requiring any bond when, in the judgment of the directors, it is proper so to do.

ARTICLE V

Miscellaneous

SECTION 5.01. Offices. The registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware shall be at Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801. The Corporation may also have offices at other places within and/or without the State of Delaware.

SECTION 5.02. Seal. The corporate seal shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Corporation, the year of its incorporation and the words “Corporate Seal Delaware.”

SECTION 5.03. Checks. All checks or demands for money shall be signed by such person or persons as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine.

SECTION 5.04. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year shall begin the first day of February in each year and shall end on the thirty-first day of January of the following year.

SECTION 5.05. Waivers of Notice: Dispensing with Notice. Whenever any notice whatever is required to be given under the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, or of these By-laws, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to said notice, or a waiver thereof by electronic transmission sent by the person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent thereto. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the stockholders need be specified in any written waiver of notice.

Attendance of a person at a meeting of stockholders shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the stockholder attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting,
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at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

Whenever any notice whatever is required to be given under the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, or of these By-laws, to any person with whom communication is made unlawful by any law of the United States of America, or by any rule, regulation, proclamation or executive order issued under any such law, then the giving of such notice to such person shall not be required and there shall be no duty to apply to any governmental authority or agency for a license or permit to give such notice to such person; and any action or meeting which shall be taken or held without notice to any such person or without giving or without applying for a license or permit to give any such notice to any such person with whom communication is made unlawful as aforesaid, shall have the same force and effect as if such notice had been given as provided under the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, or under the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation or of these By-laws. In the event that the action taken by the Corporation is such as to require the filing of a certificate under any of the other sections of this title, the certificate shall state, if such is the fact and if notice is required, that notice was given to all persons entitled to receive notice except such persons with whom communication is unlawful.

SECTION 5.06. Loans to and Guarantees of Obligations of Employees and Officers. The Corporation may lend money to or guaranty any obligation of, or otherwise assist any officer or other employee of the Corporation or of a subsidiary, including any officer or employee who is a director of the corporation or a subsidiary, whenever, in the judgment of the Board of Directors, such loan, guaranty or assistance may reasonably be expected to benefit the Corporation. The loan, guaranty or other assistance may be with or without interest, and may be unsecured, or secured in such manner as the Board of Directors shall approve, including without limitation, a pledge of shares of stock of the Corporation. Nothing in this Section contained shall be deemed to deny, limit or restrict the powers of guaranty or warranty of the Corporation at common law or under any other statute.

SECTION 5.07. Amendment of By-laws. These By-laws may be altered, amended or repealed at any meeting of the Board of Directors.

SECTION 5.08. Section Headings and Statutory References. The headings of the Articles and Sections of these By-laws, and the references in brackets to relevant sections of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, have been inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not be deemed to be a part of these By-laws.

ARTICLE VI

SECTION 6.01. Indemnification of Directors and Officers. The Corporation shall, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, subject to the limitations set forth herein, indemnify and hold harmless any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened,
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pending or completed claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (including without limitation an action by or in the right of the Corporation) by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Corporation appointed by resolution of the Board of Directors, or is or was a director or officer of the Corporation appointed by resolutions of the Board of Directors serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee, agent or other similar function of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust or other enterprise at any time during which these By-Laws are in effect (whether or not such person continues to serve in such capacity at the time any indemnification hereto is sought or at the time any proceeding relating thereto exists or is brought) (each such person an “eligible person”), against all expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, liability, loss, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such eligible person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if such eligible person acted in good faith and in a manner such eligible person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such conduct was unlawful; provided, however, that in the event of any action, suit or proceeding initiated by and in the name of (or by and in the name of a nominee or agent for) a person who would otherwise be entitled to indemnification under this Section 6.01, such person shall be entitled to indemnification hereunder (and considered an eligible person) only in the event such action, suit or proceeding was initiated on the authorization of the Board of Directors. The termination of any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, that such person had reasonable cause to believe that their conduct was unlawful.


SECTION 6.02. Advancement of Expenses. Each eligible person under Section 6.01 shall, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, subject to the limitations set forth herein, have the right to be paid by the Corporation the expenses (including attorneys’ and other professionals’ fees and disbursements and court costs) actually and reasonably incurred in defending any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation described in Section 6.01 in advance of its final disposition (an “advancement of expenses”) upon (a) the receipt of an undertaking (an “undertaking”) by or on behalf of such eligible person to cooperate with the Corporation and its insurers in connection with the proceeding and any related matter and to repay all amounts so advanced if it is ultimately determined by final judicial decision from which there is no further right to appeal (a “final adjudication”) that such person is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation for such expenses pursuant to this Section 6.02 (it being understood that no collateral securing or other assurance of performance of such undertaking shall be required of such eligible person by the Corporation) and (b) in the case of an advancement of expenses for any eligible person other than a present or former director of the Corporation, such other terms and conditions as the Corporation, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 6.02 to the contrary, in the event of any action, suit or proceeding initiated by and in the name of (or by and in the name of a nominee or agent for) a person who would otherwise by entitled to advancement of expenses under this Section 6.02, such person shall only be entitled to any
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advancement of expenses in the event such action, suit or proceeding was initiated on the authorization of the Board of Directors.

SECTION 6.03. Non-Exclusivity; Survival of Indemnification. The right of indemnity and advancement of expenses provided in this Article shall not be exclusive and the Corporation may provide indemnification and advancement of expenses to any person, by agreement or otherwise, on such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may approve. Any agreement for indemnification and/or advancement of expenses of any director, officer, employee, agent or other person may provide rights to indemnification or advancement of expenses which are broader or otherwise different from those set forth herein.

No repeal or modification of this Article or of relevant provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware or any other applicable laws shall affect or diminish in any way the rights of any person to indemnification or advancement of expenses under the provisions hereof with respect to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation arising out of, or relating to, any actions, transactions or facts occurring prior to the final adoption of such repeal or modification.

SECTION 6.04. Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director or officer of the Corporation appointed by resolution of the Board of Directors, or is or was a director or officer of the Corporation appointed by resolutions of the Board of Directors serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee, agent or other similar function of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE VII

SECTION 7.01. Forum Selection. Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer, other employee or stockholder of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation’s stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws or as to which the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (4) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of this Section 7.01.
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DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

REGISTERED UNDER

SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Common stock is the only class of securities Tiffany & Co. has registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The following summary of our common stock is based on and qualified by reference to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), and our Restated By-laws, as amended (the “By-laws”). For a complete description of the terms and provisions of our equity securities, including our common stock, refer to the Certificate of Incorporation and the By-laws, both of which are filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. For a complete description of treatment of our common stock in the proposed Merger (as defined in this Annual Report on Form 10-K), refer to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 24, 2019, by and among Tiffany & Co., LVMH Moët Hennessy - Louis Vuitton SE, Breakfast Holdings Acquisition Corp. and Breakfast Acquisition Corp., filed with our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on November 25, 2019. Throughout this exhibit, references to “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Tiffany & Co.

Tiffany & Co. is authorized to issue 240,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value (“Common Stock”), and 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value. As of February 29, 2020, there were 121,158,123 shares of Common Stock outstanding, and no shares of preferred stock outstanding.

Our Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “TIF.” All outstanding shares of common stock are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

Voting Rights

The holders of our Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted for action by our stockholders. There is no provision for cumulative voting with regard to the election of directors.

Dividend and Liquidation Rights

Subject to the preferences applicable to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at any time, holders of our Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends when and as declared by our Board of Directors from funds legally available therefore and are entitled, in the event of a liquidation, to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liquidation, including full payment to all creditors.

Other Rights

The holders of our Common Stock have no preemptive rights and no rights to convert their Common Stock into any other securities, and our Common Stock is not subject to any redemption or sinking fund provisions.

Anti-Takeover Provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws and Delaware Law

Various provisions contained in our Certificate of Incorporation, our By-laws and Delaware law could delay, defer or prevent certain transactions involving an actual or potential change in control of Tiffany & Co. or its management and may limit the ability of Tiffany & Co. stockholders to remove current management or approve transactions that our stockholders may deem to be in their best interests.

Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws

Provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and our By-laws:
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· [bookmark: page140]authorize our Board of Directors to establish one or more series or classes of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which can be determined by the Board of Directors at the time of issuance;

· do not authorize cumulative voting;

· provide that only a majority of our Board of Directors may call a special meeting of the stockholders;

· allow our directors to fill any vacancies on our Board of Directors, including vacancies resulting from a Board of Directors resolution to increase the number of directors;

· generally require the vote of 80% of stockholders to approve any merger or consolidation, the sale of all or a substantial portion of our assets, the issuance of our stock or other securities or any reverse stock split or exchange of assets for our stock, in each case to or involving any holder of more than 10% of our stock, unless approved by our Board of Directors;

· limit eligibility of stockholders who can include director nominees in our proxy materials for an annual meeting of stockholders to those stockholders, or groups of up to twenty stockholders, who have maintained continuous qualifying ownership of 3% or more of our outstanding Common Stock for at least the previous three years prior to and including the date of notice of such nomination, and the number of such stockholder nominees to the greater of two or 20% of the total number of Board of Directors on the last day a notice of nomination may be submitted;

· provide an advance written notice procedure with respect to stockholder nominations of persons for election as directors or other business;

· provide that any election or other action by our stockholders must be effected at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and may not be effected by written consent without a meeting; and

· require that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our current or former directors, officers, other employees or stockholders to us or our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Certificate of Incorporation or the By-laws or as to which the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (4) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

Delaware Law

We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which, with specified exceptions, prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any “business combination” with any “interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the time that the stockholder became an interested stockholder unless:
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· [bookmark: page141]before that time, the Board of Directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

· upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the number of shares outstanding those shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers and by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

· at or after that time, the business combination is approved by the Board of Directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law defines a business combination to include the following:

· any merger or consolidation of the corporation with the interested stockholder;

· any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, transfer, pledge or other disposition of 10% or more of the assets or outstanding stock of the corporation involving the interested stockholder;

· subject to specified exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the interested stockholder;

· any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock of any class or series of the corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; or

· any receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits provided by or through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law defines an “interested stockholder” as any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by that entity or person. A “business combination” includes mergers, asset sales and other transactions resulting in financial benefit to a stockholder. The application of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may make it difficult and expensive for a third party to pursue a takeover attempt we do not approve, even if a change in control would be beneficial to the interests of our stockholders.

Transfer Agent

Computershare serves as our transfer agent.
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Tiffany & Co.


October 11, 2019

Ms. Daniella Vitale

Via E-mail Delivery

Dear Daniella,

We are pleased to extend you an offer to join Tiffany and Company, a New York corporation (“Tiffany” or the “Company”) and to confirm the terms of your employment in this letter. Tiffany is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tiffany & Co., a Delaware corporation (NYSE: TIF) (along with any successor to its business and/or assets by operation of law or otherwise, “Parent”). If you accept this offer, subject to its terms, you will be employed by Tiffany and you will be an executive officer of both Tiffany and Parent. For more information about our executive compensation program, please read Parent’s Proxy Statement dated April 17, 2019 (the “Proxy Statement”). All compensation and certain benefits discussed below, including equity compensation, severance and certain other benefits, is subject to withholding for local, state and federal taxes, including ordinary compensation income and employment taxes, which are your responsibility. Such payments shall be subject to all applicable tax withholdings and such other deductions pursuant to our benefit plans, if applicable.


	Title:
	Chief Brand Officer

	Level:
	Executive Vice President

	Duties:
	The Chief Brand Officer will be responsible for managing global strategic initiatives by

	
	overseeing and guiding the work performed by, and related to, the Global Marketing and

	
	Global Merchandising functions.

	Reporting:
	Alessandro Bogliolo, Chief Executive Officer

	Location:
	Your primary work location will be the Company’s headquarters in New York, New York,

	
	subject to business travel as reasonably required to perform your duties.

	Commencement Date:
	As soon as possible, but not later than December 1, 2019. If you fail to commence

	
	
	
	

	
	employment by this date, this offer shall be deemed withdrawn and of no force or

	
	effect. The term “Commencement Date” refers to the date you actually begin employment

	
	with Tiffany.

	
	1
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$900,000 per annum subject to applicable withholdings, payable in periodic installments in accordance with the Company’s customary payroll practices (the current payroll practice is to pay executive officer salaries on a bi-weekly basis). The Company may in its sole discretion increase (but not decrease) this rate but has no obligation to do so.



Annual Incentive Award:



You will be eligible to receive an annual incentive award under the Tiffany & Co. 2014

Employee Incentive Plan (such plan, or any successor plan, the “Incentive Plan”). Your

target annual cash incentive award will be 80% of your base salary, and the maximum

annual cash incentive will be 160% of your base salary.
For Fiscal 2019, you will be eligible for a pro-rata cash bonus for your actual period of

service during the Fiscal Year.



Annual incentive awards, including any award for Fiscal 2019, are subject to the terms and conditions of the Incentive Plan and any Cash Incentive Award Agreement entered into pursuant to the Incentive Plan, the current form of which is attached as Exhibit A. As set forth in that Agreement, (i) the amount actually paid in connection with an annual incentive award may be greater or less than the target, and may be $0 and (ii) an annual incentive award will be paid, if at all, on the basis of Fiscal Year performance within sixty (60) days after financial results have been determined and publicly announced for the relevant Fiscal Year (and, as such, are generally paid by the end of April of the year following such Fiscal Year), provided that you are employed by the Company through the end of such Fiscal Year.

The terms of the Incentive Plan and the Cash Incentive Award Agreement or any other terms and conditions adopted under the Incentive Plan will control with respect to the annual incentive awards described in this letter. The Incentive Plan and such terms and conditions are subject to change and may be modified at any time and from time to time.

As used in this letter, “Fiscal” and “Fiscal Year” refers to February 1 of the year in question through January 31 of the following year.


Long Term Incentive Award:



Under the current practice of the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”), of the Parent’s Board of Directors (the “Board”), which practice is subject to change without notice in the Committee’s sole discretion, long term equity incentive awards are granted to continuing members of senior management at the Committee’s regularly scheduled January meeting. Under that current practice, the total target value of long-term equity incentive awards is based on a percentage of



2

[bookmark: page144]base salary, to be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. The total target value of your long-term equity incentive awards for Fiscal 2020 has been established at 250% of your base salary.

The Committee’s current practice (which is subject to change without notice in the Committee’s sole discretion) with respect to any executive vice president position (as well as the chief executive officer position) is to award half of the total target value of long term equity incentive awards as stock options (valued by using the Black-Scholes pricing model) that vest 25% (on each of the succeeding four anniversaries of the grant date) for each year of continuing employment, and half as performance-based restricted stock units that vest following a three-year performance period (the amount of units, if any, that vest being contingent on the Parent’s performance relative to certain performance metrics established by the Committee).

Stock options, performance-based restricted stock units and other long term equity incentive awards (including the recommended special sign-on awards described below) are subject to the Incentive Plan, the applicable awards agreements under the Incentive Plan, and the terms and conditions adopted by the Committee thereunder, which shall be controlling. The Incentive Plan and such agreements, terms and conditions may be modified at any time and from time to time. Please see Exhibit B for a copy of the current Terms of Stock Option Award and Exhibit C for a copy of the current Terms of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant.

Special Sign-On Equity Awards:	At the Committee’s next regularly scheduled meeting following your Commencement Date, the Chief Executive Officer will recommend (provided you remain employed by the Company at such time) that the Committee approve, and grant, the following one-time sign-on awards to you (provided, however, that, if the Committee shall not take such action at such meeting, the Company will, in the alternative, pay you a special, one-time cash bonus award of $750,000, payable no later than the end of the month in which such meeting is held; for the avoidance of doubt, the payment of such cash bonus will fulfill in full all obligations of the Company with respect to the special sign-on equity awards described in this letter):


Special Sign-On Stock Option Award:





A stock option award to purchase shares of the Parent’s common stock (“Common Stock”). The per-share value of the shares of Common Stock subject to such award will be determined by the Black-Scholes pricing model, as approved by the Commitee: on this basis, the total grant date value of the shares of Common Stock

3

[bookmark: page145]underlying the recommended award will be equal to $375,000. The option exercise price will be the Grant Date Market Price (as defined below). The stock option will vest over three years in equal installments on the applicable anniversaries of the Commencement Date, and will be subject to the terms attached as Exhibit B, which will be controlling in all respects.

“Grant Date Market Price” means a per share value of the Common Stock determined by the Parent’s Corporate Secretary as the higher of (i) the simple arithmetic mean of the high and the low sale price of such stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the grant date or (ii) the closing price on such Exchange on the grant date.

Special Sign-On Restricted Stock	An award of restricted stock units (“Units”) that will convert on maturity on a one-to-one


Unit Grant:



basis into shares of Common Stock. The Units will have an aggregate value of $375,000 on the grant date, based on the Grant Date Market Price. The Units will vest over three years in equal installments on the applicable anniversaries of the Commencement Date and will be subject to the terms attached as Exhibit D, which will be controlling in all respects.



Severance Benefits:



Please see Exhibit E for a copy of the Executive Severance Plan currently applicable to executive officers of Parent that provides for severance benefits in the event of certain terminations of employment prior to a change in control.


Please see Exhibit F for a copy of the form of Retention Agreement currently applicable to executive officers of Parent that provides for severance benefits under certain circumstances following a change in control (as defined in the Retention Agreement).

A description of the benefits provided under the Executive Severance Plan and the Retention Agreement are summarized in the Proxy Statement. The terms of the Retention Agreement and Executive Severance Plan are controlling in all respects. The form of Retention Agreement and the terms of the Executive Severance Plan may be modified at any time and from time to time, and the Executive Severance Plan may also be terminated or replaced in the sole discretion of the Committee.


Share Ownership Policy:



As an executive officer of Parent, you will be subject to the Share Ownership Policy adopted by the Board, the current version of which is attached as Exhibit G. Such policy may be amended or modified at any time and from time to time by the Board.


4
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As a condition of receiving equity incentive awards and, if applicable, benefits under certain retirement plans, you will be required to sign and comply with certain non-competition, confidentiality, no-hire, non-solicit and non-disruption covenants in a form approved by the Committee. The form of the Covenants that is being proposed for approval by the Committee at its October meeting is attached as Exhibit H.



Conditions:



This is a conditional offer and is subject to your successful completion of the following background investigations, to the extent permitted by applicable law: employment and professional references, credit check, drug screen (for current use of illegal or unauthorized drugs), criminal conviction check, social security trace, education verification (if applicable), and driver’s license history (if applicable). This offer is also contingent on your satisfactory completion of a Conflict of Interest questionnaire (attached as Exhibit I) and your written representation that you are not contractually obligated to any other employer, or subject to any covenants against competition or similar covenants that would affect the full performance of your employment with Tiffany. In addition, by accepting this offer, you acknowledge and agree that you have provided all employment-related agreements to which you are party (and that are currently in effect or have any provisions that continue to apply to you, the Company or Parent following the termination of your employment) for the Company’s review.



Employment-at-will:



Your employment is "At Will." At Will employment means that you can quit at any time, with or without notice. At Will employment also means that Tiffany can end your employment at any time, with or without notice, for any reason permitted by applicable law or for no reason.



Clawback Policy:



As an executive officer of Parent, you will be subject to the Policy for Recovery of Incentive-based Compensation Erroneously Awarded to Executive Officers, in the form adopted by the Board. The current version attached as Exhibit J.



Indemnification Agreement:



Please see Exhibit K for a copy of the form of Indemnification Agreement most recently approved by the Board for execution by the executive officers of Parent.



Benefits:



We offer a broad range of benefits and amenities for you and your eligible dependents, including domestic partners. Our health benefits currently include medical, dental, vision care and prescription drug. Retirement benefits currently include a 401(k) plan with an employer match, a defined contribution retirement benefit and a defined contribution excess benefit (for earnings above statutory limits, if
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[bookmark: page147]applicable). You will also be eligible to participate in the Company's Executive Deferral Plan, which is a vehicle for providing tax-deferred savings. We also offer paid time off for health reasons (for your care and your family members) and we currently offer short -and long-term disability, including executive long-term disability. Survivor protection benefits currently include group term life insurance, accidental death & dismemberment insurance, business travel accident insurance and supplemental group term life insurance. Currently, health and dependent care spending accounts, long term care, adoption assistance, medical, family and bereavement leave, transportation assistance, education assistance, employee assistance program, health and fitness program reimbursement, milestone and service recognition programs, employee giving program and a generous employee discount are also offered.


You will be eligible to participate in all benefit programs, policies and plans to the extent available, and subject to the terms by which all such benefits are provided, to Tiffany's regular full-time employees, and this letter will not afford you additional rights. Further, the terms of any applicable plan document, if any, will be controlling with respect to any of the benefits described in this letter or otherwise made available, and all benefits described may be modified or discontinued without notice in the Company’s sole discretion.


Holidays:



The Company recognizes certain holidays throughout the year as Company Holidays. Currently, the following eight holidays are considered Company Holidays in the U.S.: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day.



Vacation Days:



You will be eligible for 25 workdays of vacation per Fiscal Year. Under our current program, you will accrue one-twelfth of your annual vacation at the end of each completed month of service. All vacation requests are subject to management approval as outlined in the vacation policy or by departmental procedures. Vacation will be accrued in accordance with the Company’s standard policies, as established and amended from time to time.


Personal Days:


You will be eligible for two personal days per fiscal year. In your first year of employment, you will be immediately entitled to one personal day.



Life Insurance:



The Company currently provides life insurance benefits to executive officers with the following key features:



- Executive officers own whole life policies on their own lives;
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[bookmark: page148]- The death benefit, which is subject to underwriting approval is approximately three times the sum of (i) annual base salary and (ii) the target short-term incentive award. while the Executive is employed with Tiffany;

- The Company pays the premium on such policies in an amount intended to accumulate target cash value at age 65 that will allow the policy to remain in force after age 65, without further premium payments, and with a death benefit at approximately two times the sum of (i) annual base salary and (ii) the target short-term incentive award at retirement;

- Premiums paid by the Company constitute taxable income to the executive officer; the Company does not pay additional amounts to offset the income tax attributable to the premiums so paid.

The life insurance policy is owned by the Executive; however premium payments described herein may be modified or discontinued without notice in the Company’s sole discretion, with the effect that the approximate benefits described above may be less than stated above.

Legal Review of Letter:


The Company will pay for the reasonable fees and expenses you incur to engage counsel to review and finalize this letter and any related documents. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent expenses incurred by you and described in this paragraph exceed in total $10,000, Tiffany and/or Parent shall not reimburse you for, or bear, such excess amounts, and you shall remain solely responsible for any amounts incurred in excess of $10,000.




Governing Law:





These terms and conditions shall be construed in accordance with the laws of New York without regard to conflicts of law principles.



Dispute Resolution:



As a condition of your employment, you will be required to agree to the Company’s Dispute Resolution Agreement, attached as Exhibit L, which will govern the resolution of any disputes regarding this letter.


Internal Revenue Code 409A:


You and the Company agree that this letter shall be interpreted to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder to the extent applicable (collectively “Code Section 409A”), and all provisions of this letter shall be construed in a manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes or penalties under Code Section 409A. In no event whatsoever will the Company be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalties that may be imposed on you under
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[bookmark: page149]Code Section 409A or any damages for failing to comply with Code Section 409A.

A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this letter providing for the payment of any amounts or benefits considered “nonqualified deferred compensation” under Code Section 409A upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination is also a “separation from service” within the meaning of Code Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this letter, references to a “termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms shall mean “separation from service.” If you are deemed on the date of termination to be a “specified employee” within the meaning of that term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), then with regard to any payment or the provision of any benefit that is considered nonqualified deferred compensation under Code Section 409A payable on account of a “separation from service,” such payment or benefit shall be made or provided at the date which is the earlier of (i) the expiration of the six (6)-month period measured from the date of such “separation from service,” and (ii) the date of your death (the “Delay Period”). Upon the expiration of the Delay Period, all payments and benefits delayed pursuant to this Section 13.7(b) (whether they would have otherwise been payable in a single sum or in installments in the absence of such delay) shall be paid or reimbursed on the first business day following the expiration of the Delay Period to you in a lump sum with interest during the Delay Period at the prime rate, and any remaining payments and benefits due under this letter shall be paid or provided in accordance with the normal payment dates specified for them herein.


With regard to any provision herein that provides for reimbursement of costs and expenses or in-kind benefits, except as permitted by Code Section 409A, (i) the right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, (ii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits, provided during any taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits, to be provided in any other taxable year, and (iii) such payments shall be made on or before the last day of your taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense occurred.

For purposes of Code Section 409A, your right to receive any installment payments pursuant to this letter shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate and distinct payments. Whenever a payment under this letter specifies a payment period with reference to a number of days (for instance, “payment shall be made within thirty (30) days following the date of termination”), the actual date of
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[bookmark: page150]payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of the Company.





Notices:






All notices, requests and other communications to any party under this letter agreement must be in writing and will be effective when given (i) by personal delivery or reliable overnight courier service to the address as set forth below (or at such other address for the party as shall have been previously specified in writing to the other party), or (ii) by email transmission to the email address set forth below (or at such other email address for the party as shall have been previously specified in writing to the other party) with confirmation of receipt:


If to you, to the most recent address on file with the Company.

If to the Company or Parent, to:

Tiffany & Co.
200 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY 10007

Attention: General Counsel


Miscellaneous Provisions:



This letter agreement (and all exhibits hereto) sets forth our entire offer, superseding all prior oral and written offers. This letter agreement may not be modified or amended except by an instrument in writing signed by you and an authorized officer of the Company and Parent. No waiver of this letter agreement will be effective unless in writing and signed by the waiving party. Neither this letter nor any right, remedy, obligation or liability arising hereunder or by reason hereof shall be assignable by either party hereto without the written consent of the other party and any attempt to assign without such consent will be void. In the event that any provision of this letter agreement, or the application of any such provision to any person or set of circumstances, shall be determined to be invalid, unlawful, void or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this letter agreement, and the application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is determined to be invalid, unlawful, void or unenforceable, shall not be impaired or otherwise affected and shall continue to be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. This letter agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. The delivery of this letter by facsimile or .pdf shall be sufficient to bind the parties hereto.
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[bookmark: page151]We look forward to welcoming you to Tiffany and Company. Please call me at 212-230-6686 if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

/s/ Gretchen Koback Pursel

Gretchen Koback Pursel

Senior Vice President - Chief Human Resources Officer
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[bookmark: page152]EXHIBIT 10.26

[Form of Special Bonus Agreement]

[Date]



[Name of Executive]

[Address]


Re:	Special Bonus Agreement

Dear [Name]:

As you know, Tiffany & Co. (“Parent”) has entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 24, 2019, with LVMH Moët Hennessy - Louis Vuitton SE and other parties. In light of the transaction contemplated by that agreement (the “LVMH Transaction”), Parent and Tiffany and Company (“Employer”) wish to take steps to retain key employees. To that end, you have been awarded a special bonus on the terms and conditions below.

1. Special Bonus. You will be paid a cash bonus in the amount of $[XX], less required taxes and deductions (the “Special Bonus”). The Special Bonus will be paid as soon as reasonably practicable following, and subject to, your execution of this Special Bonus Agreement (this “Agreement”).

2. Retention Date.

a. You agree that you will not voluntarily resign on or before January 31, 2021 (the “Retention Date”) (i) without Good Reason, or (ii) pursuant to a claim of Good Reason, where your claim of Good Reason is based solely upon the occurrence or anticipated occurrence of the LVMH Transaction (and not, for the avoidance of doubt, upon the occurrence of a separate event, such as a material reduction in your salary, that may relate to or arise from the LVMH Transaction).

b. In the event that (i) you fail to comply with the foregoing sub-section (a), or (ii) your employment is involuntarily terminated by Employer for Cause on or before the Retention Date, then you will repay the Special Bonus within ten days following your termination date (and such repayment will constitute Parent and Employer’s sole remedy for your breach of the foregoing sub-section (a)). As used in this Section 2, “Cause” and “Good Reason” have the definitions provided in the Retention Agreement, dated [date], among you, Employer and Parent (the “Retention Agreement”).

c. For the avoidance of doubt, any voluntary resignation on or before January 31, 2021, will not constitute “Cause” for purposes of the Retention Agreement.
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3. [bookmark: page153]Retention Agreement Amendment. Section 4(i) of the Retention Agreement is hereby amended to provide as

follows:


“(i)



your claim to that effect is communicated by you to Employer in writing within the following time period: (a) if the Change in Control occurs on or before November 24, 2020, and the event constituting Good Reason occurs prior to January 31, 2021, then by no later than the later of (i) February 12, 2021 and (ii) the date that is 90 days following such event; (b) under any other circumstances, then within the lesser of (i) 90 days of the event alleged by you to constitute Good Reason and (ii) that number of days remaining in the Term (provided, however, that if fewer than ten days remain in the Term, then your claim must be communicated within ten days of the alleged Good Reason event);”


For the avoidance of doubt, except to the extent expressly set forth above, nothing in this Agreement is intended to modify the Retention Agreement or the benefits provided thereunder.

4. Non-Compete Agreement. As a further condition of receiving the Special Bonus, you agree to sign and comply with the Non-Compete Agreement attached to this Agreement.

5. Consent to Offset. You agree that any repayment due to Parent or Employer under this Agreement may be deducted to the fullest extent permitted by law from any amounts due to you, including wages, accrued vacation pay, incentive compensation payments, bonuses and commissions, and you hereby expressly authorize such deduction(s).

6. No Guarantee of Continued Employment. Nothing in this Agreement guarantees employment to you for any

period of time.

7. Successors; Parent and Employer.

a. Assumption by Successor. Any successors of Parent and Employer (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business or assets of either, shall automatically assume and be required to perform this Agreement for your benefit in the same manner and to the same extent that the Parent or the Employer, as the case may be, would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place; provided, however, that no such assumption shall relieve either the Parent or the Employer of its obligations hereunder, and no failure to expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement shall relieve any successor of its obligations under this Agreement by operation of law.

b. Enforceability; Beneficiaries. This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by you (and your personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees) and the Parent and Employer and any Person(s) which succeeds to substantially all of the business or assets of the Parent or Employer,
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[bookmark: page154]whether by means of merger, consolidation, acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Parent or Employer or otherwise, including, without limitation, as a result of a Change in Control or by operation of law.

c. Joint and Several Liability. Parent shall be jointly and severally liable with Employer for all Employer’s obligations hereunder and Employer shall be jointly and severally liable with Parent for all Parent’s obligations hereunder.

8. Miscellaneous.

a. Code Section 409A. This Agreement is intended to comply with Internal Revenue Code (“Code”) Section 409A (“Section 409A”) or an exemption thereunder and shall be construed and administered in accordance with Section 409A. For purposes of Section 409A, each payment provided under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tiffany makes no representations that any payment provided under this instrument complies with Section 409A and in no event shall Tiffany be liable for all or any portion of any taxes, penalties, interest or other expenses that may be incurred by or on your behalf on account of non-compliance with Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if you are a Specified Employee (as defined in Section 409A), and the deferral of any payments otherwise payable hereunder as a result of termination of employment is necessary in order to prevent any accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A, then Tiffany will defer such payments until the date that is the first business day of the seventh month following the Termination Date (or the earliest date as is permitted under Section 409A).

b. Limitation. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, your entitlement to a payment hereunder shall be limited (reduced) to the extent necessary so that no payment to be made to you hereunder will be subject to the excise tax imposed by Code Section 4999, but only if, by reason of such limitation, your Net After Tax Benefit shall exceed your Net After Tax Benefit if such reduction were not made. “Net After Tax Benefit” means (i) the sum of all payments and benefits that you are entitled to receive hereunder under or under any other plan or agreement that would constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, less (ii) the amount of federal income tax payable with respect to the payments and benefits described in clause (i) above calculated at the maximum marginal income tax rate for each year in which such payments and benefits shall be paid you (based upon the rate in effect for such year as set forth in the Code at the time of the first payment of the foregoing), less (iii) the amount of excise tax imposed with respect to the payments and benefits described in clause (i) above by Section 4999 of the Code.

c. Notices. For the purposes of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
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[bookmark: page155]deemed to have been duly given when hand-delivered or when mailed by United States registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed, if to Parent or Employer, to the Boards of Directors, Tiffany & Co. and Tiffany and Company, 200 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10010, Attn. Legal Department, or, if to you, to you at the address set forth on the last page of this Agreement, or to such other address as either party may have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith, except that notice of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt.

d. Amendments, Waivers, Etc. No provision of this Agreement may be modified, waived or discharged unless such waiver, modification or discharge is agreed to in writing. No waiver by either party hereto at any time of any breach by the other party hereto of, or compliance with, any condition or provision of this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provision or conditions at the same or at any later or subsequent time. No agreements or representations, oral or otherwise, express or implied, with respect to the subject matter here have been made by either party which are not expressly set forth in this Agreement and this Agreement shall supersede all prior agreements, negotiations, correspondence, undertakings and communications of the parties, oral or written, with respect to the subject matter hereof.

e. Validity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.

f. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.

g. Governing Law. The validity, interpretation, construction, and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York applicable to contracts entered into and to be performed in this State.
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[bookmark: page156]If this letter sets forth our agreement on the subjects described above, kindly sign and return this letter by no later than [date], to [name], Tiffany & Co., 200 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10010.



Sincerely,

TIFFANY & CO. (“Parent”)

By: _________________________________

Name:

Title:


TIFFANY AND COMPANY (“Employer”)

By: _________________________________

Name:

Title:


ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:



_________________________________

[Name of Executive]

Notice Address:
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EXHIBIT 10.27

NON-COMPETITION AND CONFIDENTIALITY COVENANTS

THIS INSTRUMENT is made and given this ___ day of _____________ 20__ by _____________ (“Participant”) to and

for the benefit of Tiffany and Company, a New York corporation, and its Affiliates, with reference to the following facts and circumstances:

A. In connection with the LVMH Transaction, the Board has approved certain compensatory actions with respect to Participant on the condition that Participant executes and delivers this instrument, and is willing to make the promises set forth in this instrument and to execute and deliver this instrument, including: [as applicable] [(1) acceleration of certain of Participant’s outstanding performance stock units, restricted stock units and/or stock options as of [•], (2) a $• cash payment in [•] (the “Accelerated 2020 Payment”) in lieu of all or a portion of Equity Awards that would have been granted to Participant in the ordinary course in January 2020; and (3) a retention award payable prior to [•] [Applicable Date] (the “Special Bonus”) in accordance with the terms of the agreement with respect to such Special Bonus (the “Special Bonus Agreement”)].

B. Participant understands that Tiffany has the right under this instrument to obtain injunctive or other equitable relief to enforce the covenants contained herein, including without limitation the non-compete obligations described in Section 2(c)(i) of this instrument (if applicable to Participant).

C. Participant agrees that the benefits recited above, as applicable, in addition to Participant’s continued employment with Tiffany and any additional consideration provided for herein, constitute full and fair consideration for the covenants made in this instrument.

D. If the Merger Agreement is terminated without the closing of the LVMH Transaction, this instrument will be void ab initio and, except as provided in Section 4[(c)], will have no further force and effect and none of the parties will have any obligations hereunder.

NOW THEREFORE, Participant hereby agrees as follows:

1. Defined Terms. Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them below or in the attached Definitional Appendix:

“Board” means the Board of Directors of Tiffany and Company, a New York corporation.

“Confidential Information” means all confidential or proprietary information or trade secrets in any form or medium relating in any manner to Tiffany and/or its business, clients, vendors and suppliers, including but not limited to, contemplated new products and services, marketing and advertising campaigns, sales projections, creative campaigns and themes, financial information, budgets and projections, system designs, employees, management procedures and systems, employee training materials, equipment, production plans and techniques, product and materials specifications, product designs and design techniques, client information (including purchase history and client identifying information) and supplier and vendor information (including the identity of suppliers and vendors and information concerning the capacity of or products or pricing provided by specific suppliers and vendors); notwithstanding the foregoing, “Confidential Information” shall not include information that becomes generally publicly available
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[bookmark: page158]other than as a result of a disclosure by Participant or that becomes available to Participant on a non-confidential basis from a Person that to Participant’s knowledge, after due inquiry, is not bound by a duty of confidentiality. In addition, notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else contained herein to the contrary, this instrument shall not preclude Participant from disclosing Confidential Information to the extent permitted by Sections 3(e), (f) and (g).

“Covenant Term” means the period beginning with the date of this instrument and ending [upon the first anniversary of] [eighteen (18) months after] Participant’s Termination Date.

“Equity Awards” means any grant of options to purchase, restricted shares of, stock units that may be settled in, or stock appreciation rights that may be measured by appreciation in the value of, the Common Stock of Tiffany & Co., including any grants made under the terms of the 2005 Employee Incentive Plan, the 2014 Employee Incentive Plan or any plan adopted by Tiffany & Co. subsequent to the date of this instrument including grants made both before and after the date of this instrument.

“Jewelry” means jewelry (including but not limited to precious metal or silver jewelry or jewelry containing gemstones) or watches.

“Luxury Retail Trade” means the operation of one or more retail outlets (including websites, stores-within-stores, leased departments or concessions) that primarily sell luxury merchandise in or to any city in the world in which a TIFFANY & CO. store is located at the time in question.

“LVMH Transaction” means the merger by and among Registrant, LVMH Moët Hennessy - Louis Vuitton SE, a societas Europaea (European company), Breakfast Holdings Acquisition Corp, and Breakfast Acquisition Corp.

“Merger Agreement” means the merger agreement, dated November 24, 2019, between Tiffany, LVMH Moët Hennessy-Louis Vuitton SE, Breakfast Holdings Acquisition Corp. and Breakfast Acquisition Corp.

“Notice” shall have the meaning provided in Section 7(d) of this instrument.

“Other Competitive Trade” means (i) the operation of one or more retail outlets primarily selling one or more of the following: leather goods, sterling silver goods other than Jewelry, china, crystal, stationery or fragrance, in any city in the world in which a TIFFANY & CO. store is located at the time in question, or (ii) the production or development of such products for retail sale, regardless of where in the world such activities are conducted.

“Proposed Transaction” shall have the meaning provided in Section 5 of this instrument.

“Restricted Territory” means the entire world, but if Participant’s position does not involve global responsibilities or a court of competent jurisdiction deems such geographic scope to be overly broad, then it means any country, sovereignty or equivalent geographic region where Participant works or with which Participant has material contact: or with respect to which Participant has responsibility, supervision, and/or knowledge of the business, customers or other Confidential Information of Tiffany.
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[bookmark: page159]“Retail Jewelry Trade” means the operation of one or more retail outlets (including websites, stores-within-stores, leased departments or concessions) selling Jewelry in or to any city in the world in which a TIFFANY & CO. store is located at the time in question: provided that, for the purpose of this definition, a retail outlet will not be deemed engaged in the Retail Jewelry Trade if less than 25% of the items displayed for sale in such outlet are Jewelry, so that, by way of example, an apparel store that offers Jewelry as an incidental item would not be deemed engaged in the Retail Jewelry Trade hereunder.

“Subsidiary” means a subsidiary of Tiffany & Co.

“Tiffany” means Tiffany and Company, a New York corporation.

“Wholesale Jewelry Trade” means the sale of Jewelry or gemstones to the Retail Jewelry Trade, the development or design of Jewelry for sale to the Retail Jewelry Trade or the production of Jewelry for sale to the Retail Jewelry Trade regardless of where in the world such activities are conducted.

2. Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation and Other Covenants. To protect Tiffany’s legitimate protectable interests in, among other things, the Confidential Information and Tiffany’s business relationships and goodwill:

(a) Participant agrees that, during the Covenant Term, Participant will not directly or indirectly (whether as a director, officer, consultant, principal, owner, member, partner, advisor, financier, employee, agent or otherwise) in the Restricted Territory:

i. Employ, engage, attempt to employ or engage, or assist anyone in employing or engaging any person employed or engaged by Tiffany or any Subsidiary within the then-preceding twelve (12) months, and with whom Participant had material contact during his/her employment: or solicit, induce, recruit or encourage any such person then employed or engaged by Tiffany or any Subsidiary of Tiffany to terminate his or her employment or engagement with Tiffany or such Subsidiary: or

ii. Do anything to divert or attempt to divert from Tiffany or any Subsidiary any business of any kind, including, without limitation, to solicit or interfere with any customers, clients, vendors, business partners or suppliers of Tiffany or any Subsidiary, in each case with whom Participant had contact during the twelve (12)-month period prior to the end of his/her employment or with respect to whom Participant possesses any Confidential Information.

(b) Participant acknowledges and agrees to follow the Tiffany & Co. Business Conduct Policy - Worldwide and, if applicable, the Tiffany & Co. Code of Business and Ethical Conduct for Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and All Other Officers of the Company, including without limitation any provisions concerning the provision of other services to other entities or persons while employed by Tiffany.

(c) Participant further agrees that:

i. Subject to the provisions of Section 2(c)(ii), Participant shall not, for the duration of the Covenant Term, directly or indirectly (whether as a director, officer, consultant,
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[bookmark: page160]principal, owner, member, partner, advisor, financier, employee, agent or otherwise) within the Restricted Territory organize, establish, own, operate, manage, control, engage in, participate in, invest in, permit his/her name to be used by, act as an advisor or consultant to, render services for (alone or in association with any person, company, entity or firm, or any division, segment, or part thereof) or otherwise assist, any person or entity that engages in (or owns, invests in, operates, manages or controls any venture or enterprise that engages or proposes to engage in):

A. The Wholesale Jewelry Trade,

B. The Retail Jewelry Trade,

C. Other Competitive Trade, if Participant has or had responsibility for activities or operations similar to the Other Competitive Trade while employed by Tiffany, or

D. The Luxury Retail Trade, if (1) Participant’s responsibilities in connection with such Luxury Retail Trade include functions, divisions or departments that are substantially similar to, or included within, Participant’s areas of responsibility at Tiffany, and (2) 50% or more of Participant’s responsibilities in connection with such Luxury Retail Trade involve Jewelry or are in service of a business developing, designing, producing, or selling Jewelry.

ii. Participant will provide a copy of this instrument to any subsequent or prospective employer, person or entity to which Participant intends to provide services that may conflict with any of Participant’s obligations hereunder. If Participant resigns from Tiffany, Participant will advise Tiffany in writing of the identity of Participant’s new employer, if any.

(d) The requirements of this Section 2 may be waived in whole or in part if deemed by the Board to be in the best interests of Tiffany or any of its Affiliates: provided, however, that if Participant is, on or within six months prior to Participant’s Termination Date, a Senior Officer, then the provisions of this Section 2 may only be waived by the Committee prior to the closing of the LVMH Transaction (and thereafter by the Board). For the avoidance of doubt, any such waiver shall be in writing, and a waiver of any specific provision of this instrument shall not be deemed to be or to result in a waiver of any other provision.

(e) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, the requirements of this Section 2 shall not prohibit an otherwise passive investment by Participant not exceeding five percent of the outstanding securities of a publicly traded company.

3. Confidentiality. Participant acknowledges that Participant has had, and will continue to have, access to Confidential Information, and Participant agrees as follows:

(a) During Participant’s employment with Tiffany, Participant will use Confidential Information only in the performance of his/her duties for Tiffany and the Subsidiaries, and shall protect Confidential Information from disclosure in accordance with the Tiffany & Co. Business Conduct Policy - Worldwide and, if applicable, the Tiffany & Co. Code of Business and Ethical Conduct for Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and All Other Officers of the Company.
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(b) [bookmark: page161]Upon termination of Participant’s employment with Tiffany, Participant will return all materials containing or relating to Confidential Information, together with all other property of Tiffany or the Subsidiaries or any of their respective customers. Participant shall not retain any copies or reproductions of correspondence, memoranda, reports, notebooks, drawings, photographs, or other documents relating in any way to the affairs of Parent, Tiffany, the Subsidiaries or their respective customers, vendors or suppliers.

(c) Participant (i) will not use Confidential Information at any time for his/her personal benefit, for the benefit of any other person, company, entity or firm, or in any manner adverse to the interests of Parent, Tiffany or any Subsidiary, and (ii) will not disclose Confidential Information except to authorized Tiffany and Subsidiary personnel, unless Tiffany expressly consents in advance in writing or unless the Confidential Information becomes clearly of public knowledge or enters the public domain other than through an unauthorized disclosure by Participant or through a disclosure not by Participant which Participant knew or reasonably should have known was an unauthorized disclosure.

(d) Any electronic accounts that Participant opens, handles or becomes involved with on Tiffany’s or any Subsidiary’s behalf constitute Tiffany property. Participant will provide all access codes, passcodes, and administrator rights to Tiffany at any time during or after his/her employment or on demand.

(e) Notwithstanding this Section 3 or any other provision of this instrument, nothing prohibits Participant or Participant’s counsel from communicating or filing a charge with, providing information to, participating in an investigation or proceeding conducted by, or receiving an award for information from, any federal, state or local governmental agency or commission or any self-regulatory organization, in each case without notice to Parent, Tiffany or any Subsidiary.

(f) Further, nothing prohibits Participant, if a former or current U.S. employee, from disclosing to employees and others (including the media) information about wages, benefits and other terms and conditions of employment: employee names, addresses, telephone numbers, and non-Tiffany email addresses: and employee lists, when exercising statutory rights to organize or to act for individual or mutual benefit under the National Labor Relations Act or other laws, or to exercise their rights under other applicable law.

(g) Participant acknowledges that Section 7 of the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 and Title 18, Section 1833 (as amended) of the U.S. Code, provides that Participant shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that is made: (i) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney and solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law: (ii) in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or proceeding if such filing is made under seal: or (iii) to Participant’s attorneys to use such trade secret in connection with a lawsuit for retaliation by Parent, Tiffany or any Subsidiary for reporting a suspected violation of law, provided that Participant files any document containing such trade secret under seal and does not disclose such trade secret, except pursuant to court order.
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4. [bookmark: page162]Forfeiture and Enforcement.

(a) Participant agrees that the restrictions set forth in this instrument are reasonable and necessary to protect the goodwill and other legitimate business interests of Tiffany and the Subsidiaries. In the event of breach or threatened breach by Participant of the provisions set forth in this instrument, Participant acknowledges that Tiffany and the Subsidiaries will be irreparably harmed and that monetary damages shall be an insufficient remedy to Tiffany. Therefore, Participant consents to the enforcement of this instrument by means of temporary or permanent injunction and other appropriate equitable relief in any competent court, without Tiffany or any Subsidiary being required to post a bond or other security.

(b) [If (i) Participant resigns without Good Reason or is terminated by Tiffany for Cause prior to the closing of the LVMH Transaction or (ii) the Merger Agreement is terminated without the closing of the LVMH Transaction, Participant shall immediately pay to Tiffany an amount equal to the Accelerated 2020 Payment (irrespective of any breach of the obligations set out in this instrument). Tiffany shall be entitled to repayment of the gross amount of the Accelerated 2020 Payment made to Participant, subject to any obligation Tiffany may have to return to Participant amounts previously withheld for taxes or other required withholdings.]

(c) The duration of Participant’s obligations under this instrument shall be extended by the length of any period during which Participation is in breach of any such obligations.

(d) The remedies set out in this Section 4 are in addition to any other legal or equitable remedy available to Tiffany based on this instrument, applicable law or otherwise, all of which are hereby reserved. If any provision set forth in this instrument is deemed invalid, illegal or unenforceable based upon duration, geographic scope or otherwise, Participant agrees that such provision shall nonetheless remain valid and fully effective, but will be considered modified to make it enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. In the event that one or more of the provisions contained in this instrument shall for any reason be held unenforceable in any respect under applicable law, then (i) it shall be enforced to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law, and (ii) such unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this instrument, but this instrument shall then be construed as if such unenforceable portion(s) had never been contained herein.

5. Procedure to Obtain Determination. Should Participant wish to obtain a determination that any proposed employment, disclosure, activity, arrangement or association (each a “Proposed Transaction”) is not prohibited hereunder, Participant shall direct a written request to the Board. Such request shall fully describe the Proposed Transaction. Within 30 days after receipt of such request, the Board may (a) issue such a determination in writing, (b) issue its refusal of such request in writing, or (c) issue a written request for more written information concerning the Proposed Transaction. In the event that alternative (c) is elected (which election may be made on behalf of the Board by the Legal Department of Tiffany without action by the Board), any action on Participant’s request will be deferred for ten (10) days following receipt by said Legal Department of the written information requested. Failure of the Board to act within any of the time periods specified in this Section 5 shall be deemed a determination that the Proposed Transaction is not prohibited hereunder. A determination made or deemed made under this Section 5 shall be limited in effect to the Proposed Transaction described in the submitted materials and
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[bookmark: page163]shall not be binding or constitute a waiver with respect to any other Proposed Transaction, whether proposed by such Participant or any other Person. In the event that Participant wishes to seek a determination that employment with a management consulting firm, an accounting firm, a law firm or some other provider of consulting services to a wide variety of clients will not be prohibited hereunder should such firm, at some unspecified time, provide services to a Person in the Retail Jewelry Trade, the Wholesale Jewelry Trade, Other Competitive Trade or the Luxury Retail Trade, Participant may seek a determination hereunder: in submitting such a Proposed Transaction, Participant should specify the extent that Participant will be involved in or can be excluded from involvement in the provision of such services. In making any determination under this Section 5, the Board shall not be deemed to be acting as a fiduciary with respect to Participant or any beneficiary of Participant and shall be under no obligation to issue a determination that any Proposed Transaction is not prohibited hereunder. If the LVMH Transaction has not closed and Participant is a Senior Officer at the time any determination under this Section 5 is requested, such a request shall be directed to the Committee, and actions and determinations described in this Section 5 shall be conducted by such Committee.

6. Arbitration and Equitable Relief. Participant and Tiffany agree that any and all disputes arising out or relating to the interpretation or application of this instrument, including any dispute concerning whether any conduct is in violation of Section 2 or 3, shall be subject to arbitration under the then existing Employment Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Arbitration proceedings shall be conducted by one arbitrator mutually selected by Participant and Tiffany or, if the parties are unable to agree, the default selection procedure of such Rules. Unless the parties agree otherwise, the location of the arbitration proceedings will be no more than 45 miles from the last principal place of Participant’s employment with Tiffany: however, if Participant’s last principal place of employment was outside the U.S., then the location will be New York, New York (or such other location as may be required by applicable law). Without limit to the arbitrator’s general authority, the arbitrator shall have the right to order reasonable discovery and decide dispositive motions. The final decision of the arbitrator shall be binding and enforceable without further legal proceedings in court or otherwise, provided that either party to such arbitration may enter judgment upon the award in any court having jurisdiction. The final decision arising from the arbitration shall be accompanied by a written opinion and decision which shall state the essential findings of fact and conclusions of law. The cost of the arbitrator and the arbitration shall be borne by Tiffany, but each party to the arbitration shall bear its own attorney’s fees. Notwithstanding any provision in this Section 6, the requirement to arbitrate disputes shall not apply to any action to enforce this instrument by means of temporary or permanent injunction or other appropriate equitable relief, in which case the parties expressly consent to such a dispute being brought in a court of law with competent jurisdiction.

7. Miscellaneous Provisions.

(a) Tiffany may assign its rights to enforce this instrument to Parent or to any Subsidiary. Participant understands and agrees that the promises in this instrument are for the benefit of Parent, Tiffany and the Subsidiaries.

(b) Any determination made by the Board or Committee, as applicable, under Section 5 above shall bind Tiffany

and its Affiliates.









7

SC1:5107984.6

(c) [bookmark: page164]The laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to its conflicts of law principles, govern all matters arising out of or relating to this instrument and all of the prohibitions and remedies it contemplates, including, without limitation, its validity, interpretation, construction, performance and enforcement.

(d) Each Person giving or making any notice, request, demand or other communication (each, a “Notice”) pursuant to this instrument shall give the Notice in writing and use one of the following methods of delivery (each of which for purposes of this instrument is a writing): personal delivery: registered or certified mail, in each case postage prepaid and return receipt requested: or nationally recognized overnight courier, with all fees prepaid.

(e) Each Person giving a Notice shall address the Notice to the recipient at the address given on the signature page of this instrument or to a changed address designated in a Notice.

(f) A Notice is effective only if the person giving the Notice has complied with subsections (d) and (e) above and if the recipient has received the Notice. A Notice is deemed to have been received upon receipt as indicated by the date on the signed receipt: provided, however, that if the recipient rejects or otherwise refuses to accept the Notice, or if the Notice cannot be delivered because of a change in address for which no Notice was given, then upon such rejection, refusal or inability to deliver, such Notice will be deemed to have been received. If any Notice is received after 5:00 p.m. on a business day where the recipient is located, or on a day that is not a business day where the recipient is located, then the Notice shall be deemed received at 9:00 a.m. on the next business day where the recipient is located.

(g) This instrument shall not be amended except by a subsequent written instrument that has been executed by Participant and on behalf of Tiffany by a duly authorized officer of Tiffany. Participant’s obligations under this instrument may not be waived, except pursuant to a writing executed on behalf of Tiffany or as otherwise provided in Sections 2(d) or 5 above. Tiffany’s failure to enforce any provision of this instrument shall not be construed as a waiver of that provision, nor prevent Tiffany thereafter from enforcing that provision or any other provision of this instrument.

(h) All prior and contemporaneous negotiations, agreements between the parties or instruments executed by Participant concerning post-employment restrictive covenants applicable to Participant are expressly merged into and superseded by this instrument: provided, however, that in the event Participant is subject to restrictive covenants set forth in an individual employment or similar agreement, all terms and conditions of such covenants shall remain in force and effect (including without limitation provisions concerning the duration of such covenants) and, to the extent there is a conflict between the preexisting covenants and the covenants set forth herein, the covenants set forth herein shall supersede and govern, but only with respect to application and enforcement of the provisions set forth in Section 4 above.

(i) Any reference in this instrument to the singular includes the plural where appropriate, and any reference in this instrument to the masculine gender includes the feminine and neuter genders where appropriate. The descriptive headings of the sections of this instrument are for convenience only and do not constitute part of this instrument.
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(j) [bookmark: page165]This instrument is intended to comply with Code Section 409A or an exemption thereunder and shall be construed and administered in accordance with Code Section 409A. Payments under this instrument may only be made upon an event and in a manner that complies with Code Section 409A or an applicable exemption. Any payments under this instrument that may be excluded from Code Section 409A either (if applicable) as separation pay due to an involuntary separation from service or as a short-term deferral shall be excluded from Code Section 409A to the maximum extent possible. For purposes of Code Section 409A, each payment provided under this instrument shall be treated as a separate payment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tiffany makes no representations that any payment provided under this instrument complies with Code Section 409A and in no event shall Tiffany be liable for all or any portion of any taxes, penalties, interest or other expenses that may be incurred by or on behalf of a Participant on account of non-compliance with Code Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if, on the Termination Date, Participant is a Specified Employee, and the deferral of any payments otherwise payable hereunder as a result of termination of employment is necessary in order to prevent any accelerated or additional tax under Code Section 409A, then Tiffany will defer such payments until the date that is the first business day of the seventh month following the Termination Date (or the earliest date as is permitted under Code Section 409A).

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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[bookmark: page166]IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this instrument has been executed on the date first written above.

Participant


________________________________

Name:

Notice Address:

________________________________

________________________________

________________________________

Accepted and agreed as to Sections 6 and 7 only

Tiffany and Company


By: _____________________________

Name:

Title:

Notice Address:

The Board of Directors

Tiffany and Company

Care of:

Legal Department

200 Fifth Avenue

New York, NY 10010
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[bookmark: page167]Appendix I -- Definitions

“Affiliate” shall mean any Person that controls, is controlled by or is under common control with, any other Person, directly or indirectly.

“Cause” shall mean a termination of employment which is the result of:

(i) Participant’s conviction or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a felony or any other crime involving financial impropriety or moral turpitude which would tend to subject Parent or any Subsidiary to public criticism or to materially interfere with Participant’s continued employment;

(ii) Participant’s willful and material violation of (A) Parent’s Business Conduct Policy - Worldwide or (B) if applicable, Parent’s Code of Business and Ethical Conduct for Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and All Other Officers of the Company, in each case as such policy may be amended from time to time;

(iii) Participant’s willful failure, or willful refusal, to substantially perform or attempt to substantially perform his or her duties or all such proper and achievable directives issued by Participant’s manager or the Parent Board (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness, or any such refusal made in good faith because Participant believes such directives to be illegal, unethical or immoral), provided Participant receives written notice demanding substantial performance and fails to comply within ten (10) business days of such demand;

(iv) Participant’s gross negligence in the performance of Participant’s duties and responsibilities that is materially injurious to Parent or any Subsidiary;

(v) Participant’s willful breach of any material obligation that Participant has to Parent or any Subsidiary under any written agreement with Parent or such Subsidiary;

(vi) Participant’s fraud, dishonesty, or theft with regard to Parent or any Subsidiary; and

(vii) Participant’s failure to reasonably cooperate in any investigation of alleged misconduct by Participant, or by any other employee of Parent or any Subsidiary.

For purposes of the foregoing, no act or failure to act on Participant’s part shall be deemed “willful” unless done, or omitted to be done, by Participant in bad faith toward, or without reasonable belief that his or her action or omission was in the best interests of, Parent or any Subsidiary.

“Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following:

(i) Any Person or group (as defined in Rule 13d-5 under the Exchange Act) of Persons (excluding (i) Parent or any of its Affiliates, (ii) a trustee or any fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of Parent or any of its Affiliates, (iii) an underwriter temporarily holding securities pursuant to an offering of such securities, (iv) a corporation owned, directly or indirectly by stockholders of Parent in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Parent, or (v) any surviving or resulting entity or ultimate
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[bookmark: page168]parent entity resulting from a reorganization, merger, consolidation or other corporate transaction referred to in clause (iii) below that does not constitute a Change in Control under clause (iii) below) is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of Parent representing thirty-five percent (35%) or more of the combined voting power of Parent’s then outstanding securities entitled to vote in the election of directors of Parent;

(ii) If the individuals who, as of March 16, 2016, constitute the Parent Board (such individuals, the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the Parent Board, provided that any person becoming a director subsequent to such date whose election, or nomination for election by the Parent’s shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such person were a member of the Incumbent Board;

(iii) The consummation of a reorganization, merger, consolidation or other corporate transaction involving Parent, in each case with respect to which the stockholders of Parent immediately prior to the consummation of such transaction would not, immediately after the consummation of such transaction, own more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the surviving or resulting Person or ultimate parent entity resulting from such transaction, as the case may be; or

(iv) Assets representing fifty percent (50%) or more of the consolidated assets of Parent and its subsidiaries are sold, liquidated or distributed in a transaction (or series of transactions within a twelve (12) month period), other than such a sale or disposition immediately after which such assets will be owned directly or indirectly by the stockholders of Parent in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of the common stock of Parent immediately prior to such sale or disposition.

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor provisions thereto. “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Parent Board and/or the Stock Option Subcommittee thereof. “Common Stock” shall mean the common stock of Parent.

“Employer” shall mean Tiffany or the Subsidiary that employs Participant from time to time, and any successor to its business and/or assets by operation of law or otherwise.

“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any successor act or provisions thereto.

“Good Reason” means any one or more of the following actions taken without Participant’s consent:

(i) a material adverse change in Participant’s duties, authority, responsibilities or reporting responsibility;
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(ii) [bookmark: page169]a failure of any successor to Employer or Parent (whether direct or indirect and whether by merger, acquisition, consolidation, asset sale or otherwise) to assume in writing any obligations arising out of any agreement between Employer or Parent and Participant;

(iii) any other action or inaction that constitutes a material breach by Employer or Parent of any agreement between Participant and Employer. For the avoidance of doubt, any payout of a short-term incentive or annual bonus for a given fiscal year which is less than the target shall not constitute Good Reason, provided that such lower payout is based upon the failure to meet pre-determined performance goals or a good faith determination by Employer, the Parent Board or the Committee of Parent Board that Parent’s financial performance or Participant’s personal performance did not warrant a greater payout;

(iv) Parent’s failure to comply with the terms of any equity award granted to or required by contract to be granted to Participant; or

(v) the relocation of Employer’s office where Participant was based immediately prior to a Change in Control to a location more than fifty (50) miles away, or should Employer require Participant to be based more than fifty (50) miles away from such office (except for required travel on Employer’s business to an extent substantially consistent with Participant’s customary business travel obligations in the ordinary course of business prior to a Change in Control).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Participant must give written notice to the Corporate Secretary of Parent of the occurrence of an event or condition that constitutes Good Reason no later than ninety (90) days following the occurrence of such event or condition, and Employer shall have thirty (30) days from the date on which such written notice is received to cure such event or condition. If Employer is able to cure such event or condition within such 30-day period (or any longer period agreed upon in writing by Participant and Employer), such event or condition shall not constitute Good Reason hereunder. If Employer fails to cure such event or condition, Participant’s termination for Good Reason shall be effective immediately following the end of such 30-day cure period (or any such longer period agreed upon in writing by Participant and Employer).

“Incumbent Board” shall have the meaning provided in sub-section (ii) of the definition entitled “Change in Control.”

“Parent” shall mean Tiffany & Co.

“Parent Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of Parent.

“Person” shall mean any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, business trust, limited liability company, unincorporated association or other entity, and shall include any successor (by merger or otherwise) of such entity.

“Senior Officer” means an officer of Parent appointed by the Parent Board and having one or more of the following titles:

Senior Vice President, Executive Vice President, or Chief Executive Officer.
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[bookmark: page170]“Share” means a share of Common Stock.

“Specified Employee” means a “specified employee” as defined in Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i).

“Termination Date” shall mean the first day on which Participant’s employment with Employer terminates for any reason: provided that a termination of employment shall not be deemed to occur by reason of the transfer of employment between Employers: and further provided that such employment shall not be considered terminated while Participant is on a leave of absence approved by Employer or required by applicable law. If, as a result of a sale or other transaction, Employer ceases to be an Affiliate of Parent, the occurrence of such transaction shall be treated as the Termination Date, and Participant’s employment will be deemed to have been involuntarily terminated without cause.

“Tiffany & Co.” shall mean Tiffany & Co., a Delaware corporation.
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[bookmark: page171][image: ]

[bookmark: page172]

[bookmark: page173]Exhibit 23.1


CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM


We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-220150) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-221586, 333-197462, 333-174528, 333-163369, 333-151257, 333-132947, 333-43978, 333-85199, 333-85201,

033-54847, 333-111258, 333-67723 and 333-67725) of Tiffany & Co. of our report dated March 20, 2020 relating to the financial statements, financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.


/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
March 20, 2020

[bookmark: page174]Exhibit 31.1

Tiffany & Co.

Report on Form 10-K

CERTIFICATION

I, Alessandro Bogliolo, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Tiffany & Co.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.



Date: March 20, 2020

/s/ Alessandro Bogliolo
[image: ]

Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)

[bookmark: page175]Exhibit 31.2

Tiffany & Co.

Report on Form 10-K

CERTIFICATION

I, Mark J. Erceg, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Tiffany & Co.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.



Date: March 20, 2020

/s/ Mark J. Erceg
[image: ]

Executive Vice President

Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)

[bookmark: page176]Exhibit 32.1

Tiffany & Co.

Report on Form 10-K

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Tiffany & Co. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended January 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Alessandro Bogliolo, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 20, 2020

/s/ Alessandro Bogliolo
[image: ]

Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)

[bookmark: page177]Exhibit 32.2

Tiffany & Co.

Report on Form 10-K

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Tiffany & Co. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended January 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mark J. Erceg, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 20, 2020

/s/ Mark J. Erceg
[image: ]

Executive Vice President

Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)
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COMPANY INTERNATIONAL DIAMONDS, INC. HOLDINGS, INC. COMPANY HOLDINGS INC.
Luxembourg
New York Tiffany (NY) 60.046311% Delaware. Dilaware Delaware New York New lersey
Tiffany Int'l (DE) 39.953689%
— —
TR ANTATEANTIC cerr R TRM INVESTMENTS
Ll amvme Lic
New Jersey New Jersey
LCT 9% -T. RISK 1%
TIFFANY (NJ) LLC o
I 1) TIFFANY & CO. JAPAN DIAMONDS
S INC. L [—  HOLDINGS LLC
Delaware Delaware
TCORD HOLDING
COMPANY LLC
TIFFANY & CO.
Delaware LAURELTON
FAIWANHOLDING LS DIAMONDS BELGIUM
TIFFANY Delaware Al
DISTRIBUTION Belgium
Ll companyiio DPFH CO. LTD.
T TIFFANY THAILAND British Virgin Islands
HOLDINGS ILLC
TIFFANY AND [
COMPANY U.S. SALES, Delaware L
uc
LAURELTON LAURELTON
HOLDINGS II LLC : il (MAURITIUS) LIMITED | | (CAMBODIA) CO., LTD.
LAURELTON BERh ek lands ) Mauritius Cambodia
| SOURCING, LLC Delaware Vietnam
Delaware
LAURELTON JEWELRY, S.RL. NHC, LLC BWHC, LLC LAURELTON-REIGN
DIAMONDS (PTY) LTD.
Dominican Republic Delaware Delaware
—_— TIFFCO 51% TIFFCO 75% e
Tiffany (NY) 99.90% LAURELTON (DE) 49% LAURELTON (DE) 25%
TCORD (DE) 0.10%
LAURELTON DIAMONDS LAURELTON DIAMONDS
SOUTH AFRICA (BOTSWANA) (PROPRIETARY)
TIFFANY-BRASIL LTDA. TIF SWISS HOLDINGS (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED LIMITED
GMBH
— Brazil Botswana
Tiffany It (DE) 99.83% Switzerland-Canton South Africa BWHC 80%
Tiffany (NY) 0.17% Ticino
TIF WATCH HOLDINGS Compsty, Sticy Oymieril)
LAURELTON GEMS 2
(HaILAND) LT, W (1) Laurelton Gems (Thailand) Ltd. 2,322,604 Shares: Tiffany & Co. International
. AT 23,698 Shares: Tiffany Thailand Holdings | LLC
St il 23,698 Shares: Tiffany Thailand Holdings Il LLC
(2) Tiffany & Co. Jewelers (Thailand) Company Limited 987,002 Shares: Tiffany & Co. International
— 6,499 Shares: Titfany Thailand Holdings 1 LLC
TIFFANY & CO. JEWELERS TIFFANY SWITZERLAND 6,499 Shares: Tiffany Thailand Holdings Il LLC
(THAILAND) COMPANY WATCH COMPANY SAGL
L umieo®? (3) Tiffany & Co. Belgium SPRL 40,099 Shares: Tiffany & Co. (UK) Holdings Limited
SwitzerlandCanton 1 Share: Tiffany & Co. International
Thailand dihe
(4) Tiffany & Co. (GB) 15,893,999 Shares: Tiffany & Co. (UK) Holdings
Limited 1 Share: Tiffany & Co. Holding Il LLC
TIFFANY & CO. SWISS (5) Laurelton Diamonds Belgium BVBA 96,526,581 Shares: Laurelton Diamonds Inc.
'WATCHES SAGL 1 Share: Laurelton Diamonds Holdings LLC
Switzerland-Canton
Ticino
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